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Compass Minerals
9900 West 109th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66210
(913) 344-9200



CUMULATIVE TOTAL STOCK RETURN
Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2003, 
with dividends reinvested. 

Compass Minerals uses a market capitalization 

index because the company does not believe 

it has a reasonable line-of-business peer group.

 Compass Minerals 
 Russell 2000 Index
  Former Peer Group Index: companies with market 

capitalization from $750 million to $1.5 billion
  New Peer Group Index: companies with market 

capitalization from $1 billion to $3 billion

Balanced, Strong and Growing

         2007–2008
From continuing operations; dollars in millions, except share amounts 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 % change

OPERATING RESULTS
Sales  $ 553.5 $ 639.9 $ 742.3 $ 660.7 $ 857.3 $1,167.7 36%
Gross profi t  139.3 179.8 199.3 173.1 212.0 356.2 68%
Operating earnings 91.2 118.8 142.9 119.4 144.3 274.2 90%
Net earnings from continuing operations  30.9 47.8 26.8 55.0 80.0 159.5 99%
Net earnings from continuing operations — 
 excluding special items (1)  28.2 40.9 52.0 55.0 68.7 163.5 138%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations  1.12 1.50 0.84 1.69 2.43 4.81 98%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations — 
 excluding special items (1)  0.83 1.28 1.62 1.69 2.09 4.93 136%
EBITDA (1)  126.1 148.5 144.2 164.0 174.7 310.0 77%
Adjusted EBITDA (1)  132.2 162.2 182.9 159.9 184.3 315.6 71%

OTHER SELECTED ITEMS
Cash fl ow from operations $   69.1 $   99.7 $  87.9 $   95.6 $ 118.5 $   254.1 114%
Capital expenditures 20.6 26.9 31.8 36.4 48.0 67.8 41%
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization (2)  42.1 41.3 43.6 40.5 40.0 41.4 4%
Cash dividends per share 2.85 0.94 1.10 1.22 1.28 1.34 5%
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands) 33,984 31,816 32,050 32,593 32,932 33,166 1%

(1) For a reconciliation to GAAP measures of performance, please see page 59. 

(2) Excludes amortization of fi nancing costs and includes expenses related to discontinued operations of $3.6 million in 2005, $3.8 million in 2004, and $3.5 million in 2003.

MORE BALANCED, LESS SEASONAL
Over its five years as a public company, 
persistent execution of Compass Minerals’ 
profitable growth and operating strategies 
has increased the balance between the 
company’s two primary operating segments 
while reducing seasonality.

 *Excluding Corporate and Other segment

Salt and Specialty Fertilizer Percentages of Operating Earnings*

Winter and Non-Winter Percentages of Total Operating Earnings 

 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08

   $100.00 $177.88 $188.61 $253.70 $341.97 $499.64

  $100.00  $118.33 $123.72 $146.44 $144.15 $ 95.44

 $100.00 $118.05 $126.73 $148.00 $145.15 $ 80.04

 $100.00  $116.02  $124.08  $146.03  $150.42  $ 81.19
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38% Specialty Fertilizer

85% Winter (1Q + 4Q)

2003 2008

15% Non-Winter (2Q + 3Q)

73% Winter (1Q + 4Q)

27% Non-Winter (2Q + 3Q)
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OUR VISION

On December 11, 2008, 
members of the Compass 
Minerals leadership team 
celebrated the company’s five 
years as a public company by 
ringing the NYSE closing bell. 
Pictured from left to right: 
Keith Clark, David Goadby, 
Jerry Bucan, Dennis Bergeson, 
Noreen Culhane (NYSE 
Representative), Jerry Smith, 
Angelo Brisimitzakis, Ronald 
Bryan, Victoria Heider, Robert 
Marsh, Peggy Landon, James 
Wolf, Rodney Underdown, 
Jack Leunig.

 FIVE YEARS AS A PUBLIC COMPANY

A PROFITABLY GROWING MINERALS COMPANY 
LEADING OUR ATTRACTIVE MARKETS AND ENHANCING LIVES.

COMPASS MINERALS AT FIVE YEARS:



Dear Fellow Shareholders:

In December 2008, Compass Minerals celebrated fi ve years 

as a public company with a ceremony at the New York 

Stock Exchange. During those fi ve years, the company 

has delivered outstanding results, as revenues more than 

doubled from $553.5 million in 2003 to $1.17 billion 

in 2008, operating earnings tripled from $91.2 million 

to $274.2 million, and cash from operations increased nearly four times from 

$69.1 million to $254.1 million. That fi nancial performance drove substantial gains 

in shareholder value. Our stock, which opened at $13 a share in 2003, ended 

2008 at more than $58 a share, signifi cantly outperforming all of the major 

market indexes, and we have paid a cumulative $8.73 per share in dividends 

over that same period.

BALANCE The persistent execution of our profi table growth and operating strategy 

has made Compass Minerals a more balanced company, with a growing proportion 

of our revenues and operating earnings provided by our specialty fertilizer segment 

and coming during the spring and summer — non-winter — quarters. The result 

is a company offering a compelling combination of strength and profi table growth, 

particularly in the current unprecedented economic environment. Our businesses 

offer largely non-discretionary products and give us impressive stability in a variety 

of economic conditions, while our advantaged assets and attractive markets 

provide lower-risk opportunities for ongoing growth and expansion. 
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2008 Results

Compass Minerals again achieved 

record sales, earnings and cash fl ow 

in 2008. Revenues increased 36 percent 

to $1.17 billion. Net earnings doubled 

to $159.5 million, or $4.81 per diluted 

share, from $80.0 million, or $2.43 per 

diluted share, in 2007. Cash fl ow from 

operations more than doubled to 

$254.1 million, refl ecting the strength 

of our operations and demonstrating 

our ability to generate cash to support 

our long-term initiatives to drive 

profi table growth. 

Both of our segments contributed 

to our strong results. Our salt segment 

continued to show robust volume, pricing 

and earnings growth in both winter and 

non-winter applications. Salt sales rose 

30 percent on gains in both volume 

and average selling prices, and operating 

earnings were up 38 percent, refl ecting 

strength in highway deicing and in 

consumer and industrial products, 

aided by severe winter weather. 

In our specialty fertilizer segment, 

strong long-term market fundamentals 

supported unprecedented price gains 

and margin expansion. Despite 

a volume decline for the full year, 

an 85 percent increase in average selling 

prices drove sales up 71 percent and 

operating earnings up 231 percent. 

Our results in 2008 refl ect the successful 

application of the six elements of our 

strategy for creating and sustaining 

profi table growth. Those elements 

are listed on the following page and 

are discussed in the narrative section 

of this annual report. 

Refl ecting the company’s strong 

fi nancial performance and confi dence 

in our future, as well as our commitment 

to return cash to shareholders, we 

declared a 6 percent increase in the 

company’s dividend in the fi rst quarter 

of 2009. It was the sixth consecutive 

annual increase since Compass Minerals 

became a public company in 2003. 

Five Years as a Public Company

Persistent application of our strategy 

has made Compass Minerals a very 

different company than it was when 

we went public in 2003. Those changes 

are most apparent in the results of our 

two business segments.

Over those fi ve years, salt segment 

revenues increased 85 percent, from 

$500 million in 2003 to $923 million 

in 2008, with volume up 26 percent 

and average selling prices up 47 percent. 

Operating earnings increased 84 percent 

to $192 million, a compound annual 

growth rate of approximately 13 percent.

While our results have refl ected 

a wide range of winter weather 

conditions, the non-discretionary 

nature of our products, the effi ciency 

of our operations, and our inherent 

distribution advantages have all 

contributed to our ability to grow 

the profi tability of this business 

and to capture a substantial share 

of overall market growth.

Our specialty fertilizer segment has 

a very different business model than 

our salt segment but shares many of 

its benefi cial characteristics, including 

advantaged assets and effi cient 

operations. Refl ecting our steady focus 

on the growth potential of our specialty 

potash fertilizer, total SOP sales have 

more than quadrupled from $54 million 

in 2003 to $233 million in 2008. Over 

the same period, operating earnings 

increased from $8 million to $118 million.

Cash Flow from Operations
(dollars in millions)

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

Diluted Earnings per Share 
from Continuing Operations
(excluding special items)*

 *See page 59 for a reconciliation to GAAP measures of performance.

Sales
(dollars in millions)
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Although much of the growth in 

revenues and earnings was the product 

of the substantial market-driven potash 

price gains during 2008, it also refl ects 

the impact of our long-term strategy 

to expand the market for SOP. We have 

targeted greater grower use of SOP by 

demonstrating the economic benefi ts 

it delivers by increasing the yield and 

quality of high-value crops. 

The steady growth in our two operating 

segments over the past fi ve years, 

together with signifi cant improvements 

in our capital structure, has resulted in a 

strengthened credit profi le for Compass 

Minerals. Since 2003, our corporate credit 

rating has been raised three notches, 

our interest expense has declined 

23 percent from 2003 IPO levels, and 

our leverage ratio has improved from 

4.6 times adjusted EBITDA in 2003 

to 1.6 times at year-end 2008.

Looking Forward

In its fi ve years as a publicly traded 

company, Compass Minerals has 

exhibited an improving balance of 

strength and growth that should 

continue to serve our stakeholders 

well through a wide range of economic 

conditions. The combination of our 

strong fi nancial structure and signifi cant 

cash fl ow gives us the fl exibility to remain 

focused on our long-term profi table 

growth strategies even during these 

challenging economic times. At the same 

time, the essential roles our products play 

in many of their applications give us the 

confi dence to pursue those strategies.

Our salt business has plans to continue 

to capture additional organic growth 

through the expansion of our advantaged 

mine in Goderich, Ontario. Our specialty 

fertilizer business has continued to push 

forward on expanding our lower-cost 

solar evaporation pond capacity on the 

Great Salt Lake in Utah, and we expect 

to make signifi cant progress on our SOP 

yield enhancement project in 2009. We 

will also be investing in innovative new 

products and more effi cient processes 

to ensure we are capturing the profi table 

growth opportunities that are available 

today while positioning ourselves for 

further leadership tomorrow.

We believe our proven ability to execute 

our strategies despite widely varying 

market conditions, our recession-resistant 

businesses, our natural competitive 

advantages, our strong earnings and cash 

fl ow capacity, and our increasing fi nancial 

fl exibility will allow us to continue to 

grow and prosper in 2009 and beyond. 

What makes this all work, of course, 

is the skill and commitment of all our 

valued employees. I join with our entire 

leadership team in thanking them for 

their contributions. With their support, 

we are confi dent that Compass Minerals 

will continue to deliver the steady 

profi table growth that creates value 

for our employees, our communities, 

and our shareholders.

Angelo Brisimitzakis

President and CEO

February 27, 2009

OUR STRATEGY 
FOR SUSTAINABLE, 
PROFITABLE GROWTH

Leverage our advantaged assets

Proactive pricing built upon 
commercial excellence

Profitably grow new products, 
applications and markets

Operational excellence everywhere

Improve financial structure

Strategic, synergistic acquisitions
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BALANCE



Our specialty fertilizer segment helps farmers grow more — 

and more nutritious — fruits and vegetables. We produce and 

distribute sulfate of potash (SOP), a specialty potassium fertilizer that 

is used with high-value crops. Our solar-produced SOP is chemical-free

and organic-approved — unique characteristics that, together with SOP’s 

low chloride content and presence of necessary sulfur, make 

it ideal not only for agricultural crops such as fruits, vegetables, 

tea, and tree-nut crops, but for high-use turf grasses as well.

Our salt segment is best known for deicing products. We also serve a 

broad range of applications that touch lives every day  — improving water 

quality, seasoning our foods, maintaining the proper chemical balance in 

swimming pools, providing nutrients for farm livestock, and serving as an 

ingredient in numerous consumer products such as detergents, bleach, and plastics. 

Our highway deicing business includes rock salt for roadway deicing, as well 

as magnesium chloride for premium deicing and dust control, and salt sold to 

the chemical industry. Our consumer and industrial business produces 

salt and other minerals for profi tably growing consumer, agricultural, 

commercial, and industrial applications. Compass Minerals is the 

largest salt producer in North America and the United Kingdom.

BALANCED BUSINESSES BALANCED GROWTH BALANCED OPERATIONS

COMPASS MINERALS IS BUILT AROUND TWO OPERATING SEGMENTS, SALT AND SPECIALTY FERTILIZER:

 2008 ANNUAL REPORT  5



 OUR MARKET REACH

Complementary Differences

Our salt and specialty fertilizer 

segments serve a diverse mix of 

applications, markets, end users, 

and seasonal demand patterns with 

products that enhance our lives in 

many ways. While our salt segment 

remains the largest portion of our 

business, the rapid growth of our 

specialty fertilizer segment has created 

greater balance between the operating 

earnings generated by each segment. 

We have also experienced reduced 

seasonality as growth of the specialty 

fertilizer segment and of consumer 

and industrial applications within our 

salt segment has signifi cantly increased 

summer-season revenues and earnings.

Common Strengths

Despite their differences, our salt and 

specialty fertilizer segments share an 

important set of common strengths.

 “Must-have” Products

A large proportion of our products 

serve to enhance public safety, increase 

crop yields, or fi ll basic consumer and 

industrial needs for which there are 

few, if any, substitutes. As a result, our 

products are often non-discretionary 

purchases, making them less sensitive 

to economic cycles.

For example, rock salt is vital to keeping 

roads safe during winter, although 

weather conditions cause total demand 

for highway deicing salt to vary from 

year to year. Similarly, our consumer 

and industrial products serve largely 

non-cyclical needs in the agriculture, 

water care, consumer and professional 

deicing markets, and the food industry.

Specialty potash fertilizer demand refl ects 

the factors — primarily population 

growth, and improving diets and 

standards of living — that are driving 

demand for all forms of potassium 

crop nutrients.

 BALANCED BUSINESSES

Salt Segment: 
Highway Deicing
Sold in the Great Lakes area of the 
United States and Canada; Mississippi 
and Ohio River Valleys of the United States; 
and throughout the United Kingdom.

Salt Segment: 
Consumer and Industrial
Sold throughout Canada and 
the United States. 

Specialty Fertilizer Segment
Sales are concentrated in the Western and 
Southeastern portions of the United States; 
export sales accounted for 37 percent of our 
SOP sales in 2008.

Sales Volume (in thousands of tons) Average Sales Price (in dollars per ton)
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 OUR LOCATIONS

Advantaged Assets

Both of our operating segments 

rest upon a strong foundation of 

advantaged assets, which support 

relatively low production costs and 

cost-effective opportunities to expand 

capacity to meet growing market needs.

The thickness of the salt deposits we 

mine gives us a signifi cant competitive 

advantage over other salt mining 

operations, and the locations of our salt 

mines provide additional competitive 

advantages. Our Goderich and Cote 

Blanche mines have easy access to 

lower-cost water transport on the 

Great Lakes and inland waterways. 

We leverage that advantage with 

a water-served network of approximately 

75 distribution depots strategically 

located in the Great Lakes snow belt 

region and on the Mississippi and 

Ohio rivers. This dense network 

provides a meaningful benefi t because 

using lower-cost water transport to get 

our products close to our customers 

minimizes higher truck delivery costs. 

Our mine at Winsford, Cheshire, 

the largest rock salt mine in the U.K., 

gives us access to deicing markets 

across the country and offers ideal 

storage conditions for our DeepStore 

records management business.

Our assets at the Great Salt Lake — the 

principle source of naturally occurring 

sulfate of potash in North America — 

give us similar advantages. We are the 

only producer strategically located 

to extract sulfate of potash from the 

most highly concentrated deposits in 

the northwest arm of the Great Salt 

Lake. Our location also offers superior 

freight logistics to key North American 

growing regions.

✪  Headquarters

■  Packaging Plants

  ■■   Primary Highway 
Deicing Markets 

•• Mines

••  Mechanical 
Evaporation Plants

••  Solar Evaporation Facilities

•• Records Management

United 
Kingdom

The 100-foot-thick salt seam in our Goderich 
mine is a competitive advantage, enabling us 
to mine three times more salt for each foot of 
advance than other salt mining operations.

Principal sulfate of potash 
specialty fertilizer source 
in North America

Largest rock salt 
mine in the world

Waterway 
distribution system

Only in-mine storage 
facility in U.K.

2008 Gross Sales by Application (in dollars) 

2008 Gross Sales by Destination (in dollars)

46% Highway Deicing

33% Consumer & Industrial 

20% Specialty Fertilizer 

1%   Records Management 

67% United States

21% Canada 

5%   United Kingdom 

7%   Rest of World 
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SALT SEGMENT

 BALANCED GROWTH

Compass Minerals has delivered 

a compelling balance of near-term 

performance and long-term profi table 

growth through persistent execution 

of growth and operating strategies that 

build upon our leadership positions 

in attractive markets. In particular, 

we have invested in long-term growth 

through timely expansion of our 

advantaged production assets.

Growth Upon a Solid 

Foundation of Salt

Compass Minerals is the leading 

producer of highway deicing salt 

in North America, a market with 

estimated long-term volume growth 

of approximately 300,000 tons to 

600,000 tons per year and long-term 

annual price improvement of 3 percent 

to 4 percent.

Capacity constraints among producers 

serving the North American highway 

market have resulted in shortages 

of highway deicing salt in our core 

Great Lakes region during severe 

winter seasons. Severe weather in the 

2007–2008 deicing season intensifi ed 

supply issues in 2008–2009 through the 

combination of depleted inventories and 

increased orders from communities that 

ran short of salt in the previous season. 

To address this underserved need, and 

to position ourselves to serve long-term 

growth trends, we have announced 

plans to expand and upgrade our mine 

in Goderich, Ontario, to a total annual 

capacity of nine million tons in 2012.

Phase one of the expansion has been 

completed, giving us about 750,000 tons 

of additional capacity for the 2009–2010 

season. The phase two upgrade and 

expansion will make an additional one 

million tons available annually in 2010 

and another 750,000 tons available 

annually in 2012.

More Yield, More SOP

We are the leading North American 

producer of SOP specialty fertilizer, 

used to boost the quality and yield 

of high-value specialty crops. The yield 

increase produced by SOP makes its 

application economically compelling, 

and we’re responding to the long-term 

need for SOP with a phased expansion at 

our facility on the Great Salt Lake in Utah.

Salt Segment (dollars in millions)

Goderich Mine Capacity (in thousands of tons)
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Demand-Driven Expansion
Since 1960, anticipating growing 
demand with prudent investment 
in the expansion of our Goderich 
mine capacity has enabled us to 
capture a disproportionate share 
of the organic growth in the 
North American rock salt market.
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SPECIALTY FERTILIZER SEGMENT

The fi rst phase of our expansion, 

currently underway, will improve 

productivity within our existing 

footprint and add 100,000 tons of 

lower-cost pond-based SOP to our 

annual production capacity in 2011. 

The second phase, now being planned, 

could increase our existing evaporation 

pond acreage by as much as 160 percent. 

Assuming successful completion 

of the permitting process for this 

pond expansion, which includes 

an environmental impact study, 

we could begin harvesting additional 

sulfate of potash from these proposed 

ponds within fi ve years.

We are supporting our capacity 

expansion with a marketing strategy 

that targets greater penetration 

of crops that currently use it, as well 

as expansion of SOP use to select crops 

that would benefi t from its application, 

including sugarcane, sweet potatoes, 

blueberries, strawberries, and other fruits. 

Other Growth Opportunities

We are investing in opportunities 

to expand sales within our consumer 

and industrial business by developing 

profi table new products, applications, 

and markets. Initiatives include expanded 

lines of Nature’s Own water care and 

Safe Step consumer and professional 

deicing products; Pristiva, a new line 

of high-purity salt-based products 

specifi cally designed to meet the unique 

challenges of salt water pools; and a 

broadened array of premium-quality 

specialty food salts.

We’re also executing growth strategies 

for DeepStore, our United Kingdom-

based records management business. 

DeepStore turns the vacant space in 

Salt Union’s rock salt mine in Cheshire 

into a productive asset, and is a 

growth business that helps to reduce 

the seasonality of our U.K. highway 

deicing business.

Targeting High-Value Crops
Specialty crops account for about 
4 percent of total harvested 
acreage in the United States, 
but represent nearly 40 percent 
of the value of total cropland 
production. The application of 
SOP is economically compelling 
because of the financial power 
of increased specialty crop yields.

Specialty Fertilizer Segment (dollars in millions)

Total Harvested Acreage Total Harvested Value
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Sales Operating Earnings

96.3% Other Crops

3.7% Specialty Crops*

63.0% Other Crops

37.0% Specialty Crops*

 * Fruit, vegetables, tree nuts, fl oriculture, and nursery 

Source: Agricultural & Applied Economics Association
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OUR PROCESSES

Underground Salt Mining produces 
rock salt using both drill and blast and 
continuous mining techniques in deep 
deposits. We operate some of the lowest-
cost rock salt mines in our markets and 
have extensive, consistent reserves with 
decades of remaining production. Compass 
Minerals is the largest rock salt producer in 
North America and the U.K.

Annual Salt Capacity (in tons)

Goderich, Ontario 7,250,000*

Cote Blanche, Louisiana 3,200,000

Winsford, Cheshire 2,000,000

 *The company has announced plans to increase capacity.

Solar Evaporation is the oldest and most 
energy-efficient method of mineral production. 
Compass Minerals draws naturally occurring 
brine out of the Great Salt Lake into shallow 
ponds and allows solar evaporation to produce 
salt, sulfate of potash and magnesium chloride. 
Compass Minerals is the largest SOP producer 
in North America.

Annual Capacity (in tons)

SOP 450,000*

Magnesium Chloride 500,000

Salt 1,500,000

 BALANCED OPERATIONS

Mechanical Evaporation, which 
utilizes high-efficiency vacuum processes, 
yields high-purity, fine- and coarse-grained 
salt products used in commercial, agricultural, 
and industrial applications. Compass Minerals 
is a leading producer of mechanically 
evaporated salt in North America.

Annual Salt Capacity (in tons)

Lyons, Kansas  450,000 

Unity, Saskatchewan 175,000 

Goderich, Ontario 175,000 

Amherst, Nova Scotia 120,000

At Compass Minerals, our strategic 

focus on “operational excellence 

everywhere” drives process 

improvements and investments 

that increase productivity and enhance 

safety throughout the company. 

It also underlies our commitment 

to responsible stewardship of the 

environment and to energy effi ciency. 

The result of our focus on operational 

excellence is balanced operations that 

support Compass Minerals’ combination 

of strength and growth.

Operational Excellence

In 2008, we continued to leverage our 

investment in our Enterprise Resource 

Planning (ERP) system to achieve 

company-wide improvements in supply 

chain management and production 

planning. Going forward, we are in 

the process of applying lean techniques 

throughout our operations, including 

detailed process mapping and the 

application of key performance metrics 

that support enhanced management 

decision making. 

At our Great Salt Lake Minerals plant 

in Utah, we are investing in new 

equipment that will help us meet 

growing long-term demand for SOP 

by improving operating effi ciency 

and increasing SOP yield from the 

minerals we harvest from our solar 

evaporation ponds.

Getting to Zero

We continue our emphasis on employee 

safety through our injury prevention 

program, “Getting to Zero,” which 

targets zero accidents and injuries. 

With 60-foot ceilings and vast spaces, 

our salt mines are inherently less 

hazardous than other kinds of 

underground mining. We build 

on that advantage by focusing on 

maintaining a safe work environment 

and ensuring safe work practices and 

procedures in all of our facilities. 

The program has produced some 

impressive results at facilities large 

and small. For example, in 2008, 

employees at our Chicago packaging 

plant achieved 10 years without a single 

lost-time accident.
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OUR PRODUCTS 

Rock Salt (NaCl) comes 
from underground mines 
and is used primarily for 
deicing. Most of the rock 
salt we produce is used 
by government authorities 
and contractors for ice 
removal on public roads. 
It is also sold to chemical 
manufacturers and 
packaged for sale through 
retail outlets for use in 
residential deicing.

Evaporated Salt 
(NaCl) is used in a 
multitude of consumer 
retail, agricultural, and 
industrial applications, 
including water 
conditioning, livestock 
feed, food processing, 
and table salt.

Sulfate of Potash 
(SOP) (K2SO4) is a 
specialty fertilizer that 
improves the yield and 
quality of high-value and 
chloride-sensitive crops 
such as wine grapes, tree 
nuts and citrus fruits. 
It also improves the 
durability of turf grass 
used in public areas and 
golf courses and is a key 
ingredient in a variety of 
consumer lawn products.

Magnesium Chloride 
(MgCl2) is produced in 
liquid and flake forms for 
use in premium deicing 
products and dust and 
erosion control. Magnesium 
chloride’s advantages in 
ice melting applica tions 
include its effective ness 
at very low temperatures 
and its safety for use on 
metal and concrete.

Potassium Chloride 
(KCI) is used as an 
ingredient to make deicing 
products friendlier to 
concrete and vegetation, 
in water conditioning 
products as a substitute 
for sodium, and as an 
additional source of 
potassium in fertilizers. 
Compass Minerals sources 
potassium chloride 
under long-term 
supply agreements.

Sustainability

Compass Minerals’ processes are 

environmentally sound. Our operations 

at Great Salt Lake Minerals, for example, 

rely primarily on solar energy to produce 

more than two million tons per year 

of salt, sulfate of potash fertilizer, 

and magnesium chloride. Most of the 

electricity at the facility is produced 

on-site by environmentally friendly 

cogeneration technology, and our 

vehicles use bio-diesel blend fuel. 

Great Salt Lake Minerals fertilizers 

are chemical-free, all natural, and 

organic-approved.

At our DeepStore records management 

business, our in-mine storage facilities 

are naturally energy effi cient and 

secure. Ensuring consistent temperature 

and humidity conditions in a surface 

building is expensive and consumes 

large amounts of energy. In contrast, 

the void space left behind by mining 

operations in the Winsford mine is 

completely dry, free of pests, shielded 

from ultraviolet rays, and enjoys virtually 

constant temperature and humidity. 

DeepStore’s in-mine storage facilities are 
naturally energy efficient and secure, taking 
advantage of the mine’s virtually constant 
temperature and humidity. 

Compass Minerals produces and distributes minerals used in a broad range of applications. 
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OUR SUBSIDIARIES

North American Salt Company sells salt and other minerals to customers throughout the 
United States. The company’s products include mined rock salt for highway and consumer 
deicing, and high-grade branded and private-label mineral products for consumer and industrial 
uses. North American Salt operates production and packaging facilities in Louisiana, Kansas, 
Utah, Wisconsin, and Illinois.

Sifto, one of Canada’s favorite brands, is well-known for its high-quality food salt, water care 
minerals, agricultural minerals, and many other consumer and industrial salt and mineral 
products. Sifto’s Goderich mine in Ontario is the world’s largest rock salt mine, making it 
a leading producer of salt for highway and consumer deicing. Sifto also operates evaporated 
salt production facilities in Ontario, Nova Scotia, and Saskatchewan.

Great Salt Lake Minerals Corporation is North America’s leading producer of sulfate of potash 
(SOP), a vital specialty fertilizer for fruits, vegetables, tree nuts, and other high-value crops. 
From its solar evaporation facility at the Great Salt Lake in Utah, it produces organic-approved 
nutrients for growers in North America, South America, and regions of the Pacific Rim.

Salt Union is the United Kingdom’s largest supplier of rock salt and specialty products used for 
highway deicing, providing deicing salt to local authorities and private contractors across Britain. 
Its mine in Winsford, Cheshire, is the U.K.’s largest rock salt mine and oldest working mine.

DeepStore provides records management services to businesses throughout the United Kingdom. 
Its primary storage facility is located 500 feet below ground in the company’s 165-year-old rock 
salt mine in Winsford, Cheshire, and offers the only secure facility of its kind in the U.K. It also 
operates two above-ground locations that offer same-day premium retrieval service to London.

Pristiva is an innovative company solely focused on the growing North American salt water 
pool market. Pristiva products, available only through pool professionals, are the only products 
specifically designed to comprehensively meet the unique needs of salt water pools.

Compass Minerals is the parent company of six companies in the United States, Canada, and the United Kingdom.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING  
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

this annual report on Form 10-K (the “report”) contains forward-
looking statements. these statements relate to future events or 
our future financial performance, and involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual 
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be 
materially different from any future results, levels of activity, 
performance or achievements, expressed or implied, by these 
forward-looking statements. these risks and other factors include, 
among other things, those listed under item 1a, “risk Factors” 
and elsewhere in this report. in some cases, you can identify 
forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “might,” 
“will,” “should,” “could,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “anticipates,” 
“believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue” or the 
negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. these 
statements are only predictions. actual events or results may differ 
materially. in evaluating these statements, you should specifically 
consider various factors, including the risks outlined under item 1a, 
“risk Factors.” these factors may cause our actual results to differ 
materially from any forward-looking statement.

although we believe that the expectations reflected in the 
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee 
future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. We 
undertake no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements 
after the date of this report. Factors that could cause actual results, 
levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially 
from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking state-
ments include, but are not limited to, the following:

n general business and economic conditions;

n  governmental policies affecting the highway maintenance 
programs or agricultural industry in localities where we or our 
customers operate;

n weather conditions;

n the impact of competitive products;

n pressure on prices realized by us for our products;

n  constraints on supplies of raw materials used in manufacturing 
certain of our products or the lack of availability of transporta-
tion services;

n  our ability to attract and retain skilled personnel or a disruption 
in our workforce;

n  capacity constraints limiting the production of certain 
products;

n  difficulties or delays in the development, production, testing 
and marketing of products;

n  difficulties or delays in receiving required governmental and 
regulatory approvals;

n  market acceptance issues, including the failure of products to 
generate anticipated sales levels;

n  the effects of and changes in trade, monetary, environmental 
and fiscal policies, laws and regulations;

n foreign exchange rates and fluctuations in those rates;

n  the costs and effects of legal proceedings, including environ-
mental and administrative proceedings involving us; 

n  customer expectations about future potash market prices and 
availability and agricultural economics;

n  volatility in credit and capital markets, including the risk of 
customer and counterparty defaults and declining credit avail-
ability; and

n  other risk factors included in this Form 10-K and reported from 
time to time in our filings with the sec. see “Where You can 
Find more information.”

 2
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MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA AND FORECASTS 

this report includes market share and industry data and forecasts 
that we obtained from internal company surveys, market research, 
consultant surveys, publicly available information and industry 
publications and surveys. industry surveys, publications, consultant 
surveys and forecasts generally state that the information contained 
therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but 
there can be no assurance as to the accuracy and completeness 
of such information. We have not independently verified any of the 
data from third-party sources nor have we ascertained the under-
lying economic assumptions relied upon therein. similarly, internal 
company surveys, industry forecasts and market research, which 
we believe to be reliable based upon management’s knowledge of 
the industry, have not been verified by any independent sources. 
except where otherwise noted, references to north america include 
only the continental United states and canada, and statements  
as to our position relative to our competitors or as to market share 
refer to the most recent available data. statements concerning  
(a) north american consumer and industrial salt are generally based 
on historical sales volumes, (b) north american highway deicing  
salt are generally based on historical production capacity, (c) sulfate 
of potash are generally based on historical sales volumes and  
(d) United Kingdom highway deicing salt sales are generally based 
on historical sales volumes. except where otherwise noted, all  
references to tons refer to “short tons.” one short ton equals  
2,000 pounds. except where otherwise noted, all amounts are  
in U.s. dollars.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports and other information 
with the securities and exchange commission (“sec”). our sec 
filings are available to the public over the internet at the sec’s 
website at http://www.sec.gov. please note that the sec’s website 
is included in this report as an active textual reference only. the 
information contained on the sec’s website is not incorporated by 
reference into this report and should not be considered a part of 
this report. You may also read and copy any document we file with 
the sec at the sec’s public reference facility at 100 F street, n.e., 
Washington, D.c. You may also obtain copies of the documents 
at prescribed rates by writing to the public reference section of 
the sec at 100 F street, n.e., Washington, D.c. 20549. For further 
information on the operation of the public reference facility call the 
sec at 1-800-sec-0330.

You may request a copy of any of our filings, at no cost, by 
writing or telephoning:

investor relations
compass minerals 

9900 West 109th street, suite 600
overland park, Kansas 66210

For general inquiries concerning the company please call  
(913) 344-9200.

alternatively, copies of these documents are also available 
free of charge on our website, www.compassminerals.com. the 
information on our website is not part of this report and is not 
incorporated by reference into this report.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references in 
this annual report to the “Company,” “Compass,” “Compass 
Minerals,” “CMP,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Compass Minerals 
International, Inc. (“CMI,” the parent holding company) and its 
consolidated subsidiaries collectively. 
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Based in the Kansas city metropolitan area, compass minerals 
is a leading producer of minerals, including salt, sulfate of potash 
specialty fertilizer and magnesium chloride. We currently operate 
10 production and packaging facilities, including the largest rock salt 
mine in the world in Goderich, ontario and the largest salt mine in 
the United Kingdom in Winsford, cheshire. the salt products are 
used for highway deicing, dust control, consumer deicing, water 
conditioning, consumer and industrial food preparation, agricultural 
and industrial applications. compass minerals is north america’s 
leading producer of sulfate of potash (“sop”), which is used in 
the production of specialty fertilizers for high-value crops and turf. 
in the U.K., we operate a records management business utilizing 
excavated areas of our Winsford salt mine with two other loca-
tions in london, england. our north american salt mines and sop 
production facility are near either water or rail transport systems, 
which reduces our shipping and handling costs.

prior to the initial public offering (“ipo”) of our common stock 
in December 2003, compass minerals was privately owned by 
apollo management V, l.p. (“apollo”), mosaic Global Holdings inc. 
(“mosaic”), co-investors and management. on December 17, 2003, 
we completed an ipo of 16,675,000 shares of cmp common 
stock, par value $0.01 per share. the shares sold in the ipo were 
shares previously owned by stockholders, primarily apollo and 
mosaic, so the company did not receive any of the ipo proceeds. 

in July 2004, and again in november 2004, we completed 
secondary offerings of 8,327,244 and 4,021,473 shares of common 
stock, respectively, which were again sold by apollo, mosaic and 
certain members of management, so compass minerals did not 
receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares. Following these 
offerings, apollo and mosaic did not have any remaining ownership 
in compass minerals.

prior to December 2007, all of our operating subsidiaries were 
owned by compass minerals Group, inc. (“cmG”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of cmi. in December 2007, cmG was merged into cmi.

SALT SEGMENT

salt is indispensable and enormously versatile with more than 
14,000 uses. in addition, there is an absence of cost-effective 
alternatives. as a result, our cash flows have not been materially 
impacted by economic cycles. We are among the lowest-cost salt 
producers in our markets because our salt deposits are high-grade 
quality and among the most extensive in the world, and because we 
use effective mining techniques and efficient production processes. 

through our salt segment we mine, produce, process and dis-
tribute sodium chloride and magnesium chloride in north america 
and the United Kingdom, including rock, evaporated and solar salt 
and liquid and flake magnesium chloride. We also purchase potas-
sium chloride and calcium chloride to sell as finished products. our 
products are marketed primarily in the United states, canada and 
the United Kingdom. salt is used in a wide variety of applications, 
including as a deicer for both highway and consumer use (rock salt 
and specialty deicers which include pure or blended magnesium 
chloride, potassium chloride and calcium chloride salts with sodium 

chloride), an ingredient in the production of chemicals for paper 
bleaching, for water treatment and a variety of other industrial 
uses, as a flavor enhancer and preservative in food, a nutrient and 
trace mineral delivery vehicle in animal feeds, an essential com-
ponent in both industrial and residential water softeners and as an 
additive to aid in the disinfection of spas and swimming pools. the 
demand for salt has historically remained relatively stable during 
periods of rising prices and during economic cycles due to its rela-
tively low cost and high value with a diverse number of end uses.

However, demand for deicing products is affected by changes 
in winter weather conditions. on average, over the last three years, 
approximately 70% of our deicing product sales (or 37% of con-
solidated sales) occurred during the months of november through 
march when winter weather was most severe.

Salt Industry Overview
the salt industry is characterized by modest growth and steady 
price increases across various grades. salt is one of the most 
common and widely consumed minerals in the world due to its 
low relative cost and its utility in a variety of applications, including 
highway deicing, food processing, water conditioning, industrial 
chemical processing, and nutritional supplements for animal stock. 
We estimate that the consumption of rock salt in north america is 
28 million tons per year (21 million tons per year in the markets we 
serve), while the consumer and industrial market totals 10 million 
tons per year. in the United Kingdom, we estimate that the size of 
the highway deicing market is 2 million tons per year. according to 
the latest available data from the U.s. Geological survey (“UsGs”), 
during the thirty-year period ending 2006, the production of salt 
used in highway deicing and for consumer and industrial products 
in the United states has increased at an historical average of 
approximately 1% per year.

salt prices vary according to purity from the lowest grade (rock 
salt) to the highest grade salt (food grade salt) at over $400 per 
ton. the price difference between rock and food grade salt reflects, 
among other things, the more extensive refining and packaging 
processes for a purer-grade salt. according to the latest UsGs 
data, during the thirty-year period ending 2007, prices for salt used 
in highway deicing and consumer and industrial products in the 
United states have increased at an historical average of approxi-
mately 3% - 4% per year. Due to salt’s relatively low production 
cost, transportation and handling costs tend to be a significant 
component of the total delivered cost making logistics manage-
ment and customer service key competitive factors in the industry. 
the high relative cost associated with transportation tends to favor 
the supply of salt by manufacturers located in close proximity to 
their customers. 

Processing Methods
our current production capacity, including salt and other minerals 
purchased under long-term contracts, is approximately 15.4 million 
tons of salt per year. mining, other production activities and 
packaging are currently conducted at 10 of our facilities. Finished 
product is purchased from a supplier under contracts at three facili-
ties. the three processing methods we use to produce salt are 
summarized below.
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Underground Rock Salt Mining — We use a drill and blast mining 
technique at our north american underground rock salt mines. 
mining machinery moves salt from the salt face to conveyor belts 
which transport the salt to the mill center where it is crushed and 
screened. salt is then hoisted to the surface where it is loaded onto 
shipping vessels, railcars or trucks. at our Winsford, U.K. facility, we 
also use a continuous mining process. the primary power sources 
for each of our rock salt mines are electricity and diesel fuel. rock 
salt is primarily sold as our highway deicing product line and for 
numerous applications in our consumer and industrial product lines. 
Underground rock salt mining represents approximately 84% of our 
current annual salt production capacity. see item 1a, “risk Factors 
— our operations are dependent on our rights and ability to mine 
our property and having received the required permits and approvals 
from governmental authorities.”

Mechanical Evaporation — the mechanical evaporation method 
involves obtaining salt brine from underground salt deposits 
through a series of brine wells and subjecting that salt-saturated 
brine to vacuum pressure and heat generated by an energy source 
to precipitate and crystallize salt. the resulting product has both a 
high purity and uniform physical shape. evaporated salt is primar-
ily sold through our consumer and industrial salt product lines. 
mechanical evaporation represents approximately 6% of our  
current annual salt production capacity.

Solar Evaporation — the solar evaporation method is used in 
areas of the world where high-salinity brine is available and where 
weather conditions provide for a high natural evaporation rate. the 
brine is pumped into a series of large open ponds where sun and 
wind evaporate the water and crystallize the salt, which is then 
mechanically harvested and processed through washing, drying 
and screening. solar salt is sold through both our consumer and 
industrial salt product lines and in our highway deicing applications. 
solar evaporation represents approximately 10% of our current 
annual salt production capacity.

We also produce magnesium chloride through the solar evapo-
ration process. We precipitate sodium chloride and potassium-rich 
salts from the brine, leaving a concentrated magnesium chloride. 
this resulting concentrated brine becomes the raw material used 
to produce several magnesium chloride products which are sold 
through both our consumer and industrial and highway deicing 
product lines.

Operations and Facilities
United States — our central and midwestern United states 
consumer and industrial customer base is served primarily by our 
mechanical evaporation plant in lyons, Kansas. additionally, we 
serve areas around the Great lakes with evaporated salt purchased 
from a supplier’s facility in michigan. the cote Blanche, louisiana 
rock salt mine serves chemical customers and agricultural custom-
ers in the southern and midwestern United states, and highway 
deicing customers through a series of depots located along the 
mississippi and ohio rivers (and their major tributaries). our solar 
evaporation facility located in ogden, Utah is the largest solar salt 
production site in the United states. this facility principally serves 
the midwestern and Western United states’ consumer and 
industrial markets, provides salt for chemical applications and 
highway deicing, and provides magnesium chloride which is used 

in deicing, dust control and soil stabilization applications. the 
production capacity for salt at our ogden facility is currently only 
limited by demand. We also own and operate two salt packaging 
facilities in illinois and Wisconsin, which serve consumer deicing 
and water conditioning customers in the central, midwestern and 
parts of the northeastern United states.

Canada — We produce finished products at four different locations 
in canada. From the Goderich, ontario rock salt mine, we serve the 
highway deicing markets and the consumer and industrial markets 
in canada and the Great lakes region of the United states, princi-
pally through a series of depots located around the Great lakes. 
mechanically evaporated salt used for consumer and industrial 
product lines is produced at three facilities strategically located 
throughout canada: amherst, nova scotia in eastern canada; 
Goderich, ontario in central canada; and Unity, saskatchewan in 
Western canada. We also purchase salt and other products, includ-
ing potassium chloride (“Kcl”), from a potash producer’s facilities 
located in saskatchewan, which serve both the consumer and 
industrial and the highway deicing markets.

United Kingdom — our United Kingdom highway deicing  
customer base is served by the Winsford rock salt mine in 
northwest england. 

the following table shows the current annual production 
capacity and type of salt produced at each of our owned or  
leased production locations:

Location
Annual Production 

Capacity (tons) Product Type

North America
 Goderich, Ontario Mine(a) 7,250,000 Rock salt
 Cote Blanche, Louisiana Mine 3,200,000 Rock salt
 Ogden, Utah:
  Salt Plant 1,500,000 Solar salt
  Magnesium Chloride Plant 500,000 Magnesium chloride
 Lyons, Kansas Plant 450,000 Evaporated salt
 Unity, Saskatchewan Plant 175,000 Evaporated salt
 Goderich, Ontario Plant 175,000 Evaporated salt
 Amherst, Nova Scotia Plant 120,000 Evaporated salt
United Kingdom 
 Winsford, Cheshire Mine 2,000,000 Rock salt

(a)  We essentially completed the first phase of our Goderich mine expansion project 
in 2008, increasing our capacity to approximately 7,250,000 tons. the second 
phase of our Goderich mine expansion project is expected to increase our capac-
ity to approximately 9,000,000 tons by adding 1,000,000 tons in 2010 with the 
remaining 750,000 tons available in 2012. 

salt production, including magnesium chloride, at these facili-
ties totaled an aggregate of 13.4 million tons, 10.7 million tons and 
11.4 million tons for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 
2006, respectively. Variations in production volumes are typically 
entirely attributable to variations in the winter season weather 
ending in march of each year, which impacts the demand during 
the winter for highway and consumer deicing products. in 2008, 
we essentially completed the first phase of an expansion project 
at our Goderich rock salt mine which increased our annual capac-
ity by 750,000 tons, beginning in 2009. the second phase of this 
expansion project, scheduled to partially come on-line during 2010 
with full availability in 2012, is expected to add 1.75 million tons of 
additional capacity, increasing that mine’s annual capacity to 9.0 
million tons.
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salt is found throughout the world and, where it is com-
mercially produced, it is typically deposited in extremely large 
quantities. our mines at Goderich, cote Blanche and Winsford, as 
well as at our other operating facilities, have access to vast mineral 
deposits. in most of our production locations, we estimate the 
recoverable salt to reach nearly 100 years of reserves at current 
production rates and capacities. our rights to extract those miner-
als may currently be contractually limited by either geographic 
boundaries or time. We believe that we will be able to continue to 
extend these agreements, as we have in the past, at commercially 
reasonable terms, without incurring substantial costs or incurring 
material modifications to the existing lease terms and conditions, 
thereby allowing us to extract the additional salt necessary to fully 
develop our existing mineral rights.

our underground mines in canada (Goderich, ontario), the 
United states (cote Blanche, louisiana) and the United Kingdom 
(Winsford, cheshire) make up 84% of our salt producing capacity 
(see item 1a. “risk Factors — our operations are dependent on 
our rights and ability to mine our property and having received the 
required permits and approvals from governmental authorities.”). 
each of these mines is operated with modern mining equipment 
and utilize subsurface improvements such as vertical shaft lift sys-
tems, milling and crushing facilities, maintenance and repair shops 
and extensive conveyor systems. We believe our properties and our 
operating equipment are maintained in good working condition.

the mine site at the Goderich mine is owned. We also main-
tain a mineral lease at Goderich with the provincial government 
which grants us the right to mine salt. this lease expires in 2022 
with the option to renew until 2043. the cote Blanche mine is  
operated under land and mineral leases with a third-party landowner 
who grants us the right to mine salt. the leases expire in 2060.  
the mine site and salt reserves at the Winsford mine are owned.

our mines at Goderich, cote Blanche and Winsford have been 
in operation for approximately 49, 43 and 163 years, respectively.  
at current average rates of production, we estimate that our 
remaining years of production for the recoverable minerals we 
presently own or lease to be 144, 92 and 27 years, respectively. 
our mineral interests are amortized on an individual basis over 
estimated useful lives not to exceed 99 years using primarily the 
units-of-production method. our estimates are based on, among 
other things, the results of reserve studies completed by a third-
party geological engineering firm. the reserve estimates are primar-
ily a function of the area and volume covered by the mining rights 
and estimates of extraction rates utilized by us with the reasonable 
expectation of reliably operating the mines on a long-term basis. 
established criteria for proven and probable reserves are primar-
ily applicable to mining deposits of discontinuous metal, where 
both presence of ore and its variable grade need to be precisely 
identified. However, the massive continuous nature of evaporative 
deposits, such as salt, requires proportionately less data for the 
same degree of confidence in mineral reserves, both in terms of 
quantity and quality. reserve studies performed by a third-party 
engineering firm suggest that our salt reserves most closely 
resemble probable reserves and we have therefore classified our 
reserves as probable reserves. 

We package salt products at two additional facilities. the table 
below shows the packaging capacity at each of these facilities:

Location
Annual Packaging 

Capacity (tons)

Kenosha, Wisconsin 150,000
Chicago, Illinois 150,000

We also have long-term contracts to purchase finished salt 
and potassium chloride from a supplier at three north american 
locations. one of these locations has a minimum purchasing com-
mitment for evaporated salt.

Products and Sales — We sell our salt products as highway  
deicing salt (including liquid magnesium chloride and calcium 
chloride) and consumer and industrial salt (including flake magnesium 
chloride, calcium chloride and Kcl). Highway deicing, including salt 
sold to chemical customers, constituted approximately 46% of 
our gross sales in 2008. principal customers are states, provinces, 
counties, municipalities and road maintenance contractors that 
purchase bulk salt for ice control on public roadways. Highway  
deicing salt is sold primarily through an annual tendered bid contract 
process as well as through some longer-term contracts, with price, 
product quality and delivery being the primary competitive market 
factors (see item 1a. “risk Factors — environmental laws and 
regulation may subject us to significant liability and require us to 
incur additional costs in the future. additionally, our business is 
subject to numerous laws and regulations with which we must 
comply in order to obtain contracts with governmental entities). 
some sales also occur through a negotiated sales contract with 
third party customers, particularly in the U.K. in north america, 
the locations of the salt sources and distribution outlets also play 
a significant role in determining a supplier. We have an extensive 
network of approximately 75 depots for storage and distribution of 
highway deicing salt in north america. the majority of these depots 
are located on the Great lakes and the mississippi, and ohio river 
systems (and their major tributaries) where our Goderich, ontario 
and cote Blanche, louisiana mines are located to serve those 
markets. salt and liquid magnesium chloride from our ogden, Utah 
facility are also used for highway deicing in the Western and upper 
midwest regions of the U.s.

We produce highway deicing salt in the United Kingdom at our 
mining facility at Winsford, cheshire, the largest rock salt mine in 
the United Kingdom. We believe our superior production capability 
and favorable logistics enhance our ability to meet peak winter 
demands. Because of our strong position, we are recognized as a 
key strategic provider by the United Kingdom’s Highway agency. as 
such, we help the Highway agency develop standards for deicing 
products and services that are provided to them through their deic-
ing application contractors. in the United Kingdom approximately 
75% of our highway deicing business is on multi-year contracts.

Winter weather variability is the most significant factor affect-
ing salt sales for deicing applications because mild winters reduce 
the need for salt used in ice and snow control. on average, over 
the last three years, approximately 70% of our deicing product 
sales (or 37% of consolidated sales) occurred during the months of 
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november through march when winter weather was most severe. 
lower than expected sales during this period could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations. the vast majority of 
our north american deicing sales are made in canada and the 
midwestern United states where inclement weather during the 
winter months causes dangerous road conditions. in keeping with 
industry practice, we stockpile quantities of salt to meet estimated 
requirements for the next winter season. see item 1a, “risk 
Factors — the seasonal demand for our products and the variations 
in our cash flows from quarter to quarter as a result of weather 
conditions may have an adverse effect on our results of operations 
and the price of our common stock” and item 7, “management’s 
Discussion and analysis of Financial condition and results of 
operations — seasonality.”

our principal chemical customers are producers of intermedi-
ate chemical products used in the production of vinyls and other 
chemicals and pulp and paper as well as water treatment and  
a variety of other industrial uses. our customers do not have a  
captive source of brine. Distribution into the chemical market is  
made primarily through multi-year supply agreements, which are 
negotiated privately. price, service, product quality and security  
of supply are the major competitive market factors.

sales of our consumer and industrial products accounted 
for approximately 33% of our 2008 gross sales. We are the third 
largest producer of consumer and industrial salt products in north 
america. this product line includes commercial and consumer 
applications, such as table salt, water conditioning, consumer ice 
control, food processing, pool salt, agricultural applications, as well 
as a variety of industrial applications. We believe that we are among 
the largest private-label producers of water conditioning and table 
salt products in north america. our sifto® brand is well recognized 
in the canadian market. 

the consumer and industrial salt market is driven by strong 
customer relationships. sales in the consumer and industrial 
product line occur through retail channels, such as building supply, 
hardware, grocery stores, mass merchants and feed suppliers. 
Distribution in the consumer and industrial product line is chan-
neled through a direct sales force located in various parts of our 
service territories who sell products to distributors, dealers and  
end users. We also maintain a network of brokers who sell table 
salt, consumer deicing products and water conditioning products. 
these brokers service wholesalers, grocery chains and retailers,  
as well as the food-service industry. 

the table below shows our shipments of salt products:

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

(thousands of tons) Tons  % Tons  %  Tons %

Highway Deicing 12,237 81 10,373 81 8,185 78
Consumer and Industrial 2,852 19  2,412  19 2,313 22

Total 15,089 100  12,785  100 10,498 100

Competition — We face strong competition in each of the markets 
in which we operate. in north america, other large, nationally 
recognized companies compete against our salt products. in addi-
tion, there are also several smaller regional producers of salt. there 
are several importers of salt into north america but these mostly 
impact the east coast and West coast of the United states where 

we have minimal positions. in the United Kingdom, there are two 
other companies that produce highway deicing salt, one in northern 
england and the other in northern ireland. there are no significant 
imports of highway deicing salt into the United Kingdom (see item 
1a, “risk Factors — competition in our markets could limit our 
ability to attract and retain customers, force us to continuously make 
capital investments and put pressure on the prices we can charge 
for our products. additionally, with regard to our specialty fertilizer 
product, economic conditions in the agricultural markets, and supply 
and demand imbalances for competing potash products can also 
impact the price of our products”).

SPECIALTY FERTILIZER SEGMENT

Fertilizers in general serve a significant role in efficient crop produc-
tion around the world. potassium is a vital nutrient in fertilizer 
which assists in regulating plants’ growth and improving durability. 
potassium is used in the two major forms of potash fertilizer, sulfate 
of potash (“sop”) and muriate of potash (“mop”). sop is primarily 
used as a specialty fertilizer, providing essential potassium to 
increase the yield and quality of crops which tend to be, though are 
not necessarily, high-value or chloride-sensitive, such as vegetables, 
fruits, tea, potatoes, nuts, tobacco and turf grass. We are the leading 
sop producer and marketer in north america and we market sop 
products internationally also. We offer several grades of sop which 
are designed to better serve the special needs of our customers. 
our sop plant is the largest in north america and one of only three 
natural solar sop plants in the world. in 2008, the specialty fertilizer 
segment accounted for approximately 20% of our gross sales.

Potash Industry Overview 
the annual worldwide consumption of all potash fertilizers is 
approximately 65 million tons. mop, or potassium chloride, is the 
most common source of potassium and accounts for approximately 
89% of all potash consumed in fertilizer production. sop repre-
sents approximately 10% of potash consumption. the remainder 
is supplied in the forms of potassium magnesium sulfate, nitrate 
of potassium and, to a lesser extent, potassium thiosulfate and 
monopotassium phosphate. all of these products contain varying 
concentrations of potassium expressed as potassium oxide (K2o) 
and different combinations of co-nutrients.

mop is the least expensive form of potash fertilizer based on 
the concentration of K2o and consequently, it is the most widely 
used potassium source for most crops. World-wide consumption of 
standard potash has increased in response to growing populations 
and reduced arable land per capita requiring improved crop yield 
efficiencies. additionally, throughout much of 2008, relatively high 
energy prices improved the economics of ethanol and bio-diesel 
production which utilize agricultural products as feedstock. the 
increased demand and limited supply of potash at current capac-
ity levels, has led to improved overall potash market prices, most 
significantly in 2008. 

sop (containing approximately 50% K2o) is utilized by grow-
ers for many high-value crops, especially where there are needs 
for fertilizers with low chloride content. the use of sop has been 
scientifically proven to improve the yield or quality of certain crops. 
examples of crops where sop is utilized to increase yield or quality 
include tobacco, tea, potatoes, citrus fruits, grapes, almonds, 
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some vegetables and on turfgrass, including turf for golf courses. 
the increased demand and resulting significant price increases 
for mop has favorably impacted market conditions for specialty 
potash fertilizers which are sold at a premium to mop (see item 
1a, “risk Factors — competition in our markets could limit our 
ability to attract and retain customers, force us to continuously 
make capital investments and put pressure on the prices we can 
charge for our products. additionally, with regard to our specialty 
fertilizer product, economic conditions in the agricultural markets, 
and supply and demand imbalances for competing potash products 
can also impact the price of our products”). approximately 63% 
of our annual sop sales volumes in 2008 were made to domestic 
customers, which include retail fertilizer dealers and distributors of 
professional turf care products. these dealers and distributors com-
bine or blend sop with other fertilizers and minerals to produce 
fertilizer blends tailored to individual requirements.

Operations and Facilities
all of our sop production is located at the Great salt lake west 
of ogden, Utah. it is the largest sop production facility in north 
america. the evaporation facility utilizes solar energy and operates 
over 40,000 acres of evaporation ponds to produce salt, sop and 
magnesium chloride from the brine of the Great salt lake. the 
property utilized in our operation is both owned and leased under 
annually renewing leases. this facility currently has the capacity 
to produce approximately 450,000 tons of sop, approximately 
500,000 tons of magnesium chloride, and over 1.5 million tons of 
salt annually. these recoverable minerals exist in vast quantities in 
the Great salt lake. We believe the recoverable minerals exceed 
100 years of reserves at current production rates and capacities 
and are so vast that quantities will not be significantly impacted by 
our production. our rights to extract these minerals are contractu-
ally limited although we believe we will be able to extend our lease 
agreements, as we have in the past, at commercially reasonable 
terms, without incurring substantial costs or incurring material 
modifications to the existing lease terms and conditions, thereby 
allowing us to continue extracting minerals.

the potassium-bearing salts are mechanically harvested out  
of the solar evaporation ponds and refined to high purity sop in 
our production facility that has been in operation since 1967. We 
believe that our property and operating equipment are maintained 
in good working condition.

We also use Kcl as a raw material feedstock to supplement 
the company’s solar harvest. We currently have a long-term 
contract with a supplier for the purchase of Kcl that is subject to 
annual price changes based on prior year changes in the market 
price of Kcl. the market price for Kcl has increased significantly 
in recent years, causing continued price increases under our supply 
contract. However, due to the time lag for the contract price 
adjustment, our contract pricing has been favorable to market since 
2005. although we cannot predict future changes in market prices 
for Kcl, our 2008 per ton costs are higher than 2007 and we expect 
our 2009 per ton cost to increase modestly from the 2008 cost (see 
item 1a. “risk Factors — our production process consumes large 
amounts of natural gas, steam and electricity. additionally, Kcl is a 
raw material feedstock used to supplement our sop solar harvest, 
produce some of our deicing products and sell for water conditioning 
applications. a significant interruption in the supply or an increase in 

the price of any of these products or services could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations”). 

in late 2007, we began the initial phase of a multi-phased 
plan to strengthen our solar pond-based sop production through 
upgrades to our processing plant and expansion of our solar 
evaporation ponds (see item 1a. “risk Factors — our operations 
are dependent on our rights and ability to mine our property and 
having received the required permits and approvals from govern-
mental authorities”). the initial phase includes modification and 
yield improvements to our existing solar evaporation ponds and 
increases in the processing capacity of our plant. these improve-
ments are expected to increase our solar pond-based sop produc-
tion capacity progressively through 2011, achieving approximately 
100,000 additional tons annually. in addition to this initial yield 
improvement phase, we are planning to add new solar evaporation 
ponds to our existing pond acreage to produce more sop feed-
stock in order to further reduce our need to purchase higher cost 
potassium chloride. During 2008, we secured leases on approxi-
mately 62,000 additional acres on and around the Great salt lake 
(and adjacent to our existing solar ponds) which we believe to be 
suitable for mineral extraction. We are currently seeking the permits 
required to develop 70,000 acres, which includes 8,000 underde-
veloped acres previously leased, into solar evaporation ponds. to 
this end, we are currently participating in an environmental study 
and performing other activities required of us in order to obtain 
the permits which would allow us to expand our solar evaporation 
ponds. the final scope of the second phase will be determined 
following our detailed engineering analysis and the army corps of 
engineers’ comprehensive permitting process. We do not expect to 
begin construction on the additional solar ponds before 2010. there 
can be no assurance that these permits will be received on all or 
any portion of these leased lands, nor if received, that the lands will 
be developed to produce marketable product. see item 1a. “risk 
Factors — our operations are dependent on our rights and ability 
to mine our property and having received the required permits and 
approvals from governmental authorities.”

Products and Sales — our domestic sales of sop are concen-
trated in the western and southeastern portions of the United 
states where the crops and soil conditions favor the use of sop 
as a source of potassium nutrients. We generally export sop 
through major trading companies. international sop sales volumes 
in 2008 were 37% of our annual sop sales (see note 13 to our 
consolidated Financial statements). We have an experienced global 
sales group focusing on the specialty aspects and benefits of sop 
as a source of potassium nutrients.

the table below shows our domestic and export shipments  
of sop:

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

(thousands of tons) Tons  % Tons  %  Tons %

U.S. 248 63 301 71 270 72
Export(a) 143 37 122 29 107 28

Total 391 100 423 100 377 100

(a)  export sales include product sold to foreign customers at U.s. ports.
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Competition — approximately 40% of the world sop capacity 
is located in europe, 6% in the United states and the remaining 
54% in various other countries. the world consumption of sop 
totals about 7.0 million tons. our major competition for sop sales 
in north america includes imports from Germany, chile, canada 
and Belgium. in addition, there is also some functional competition 
between sop, muriate of potash and potassium nitrate. For exports 
into asia, the pacific rim countries and latin america, we compete 
on a global level with various other producers (see item 1a, “risk 
Factors — competition in our markets could limit our ability to 
attract and retain customers, force us to continuously make capital 
investments and put pressure on the prices we can charge for our 
products. additionally, with regard to our specialty fertilizer product, 
economic conditions in the agricultural markets, and supply and 
demand imbalances for competing potash products can also 
impact the price of our products”).

OTHER

on november 1, 2006, we acquired 100% of Deepstore, a records 
management business in the U.K. that utilizes certain excavated 
portions of our salt mine in Winsford, cheshire for secure docu-
ment storage. in January 2007, we acquired interactive records 
management limited, a records management business with 
two locations in london, england. at present, neither of these 
operations, individually or combined, has a significant share of the 
document storage market, nor are they material in comparison to 
our salt and specialty fertilizer segments.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, copyright and 
trade secret protection, employee and third-party non-disclosure 
agreements, license arrangements and domain name registrations to 
protect our intellectual property. We sell many of our products under 
a number of registered trademarks that we believe are widely recog-
nized in the industry. the following items are some of our registered 
trademarks pursuant to applicable intellectual property laws and are 
the property of our subsidiaries: “sifto®,” “american stockman®,” 
“safe step®,” “Winter storm®,” “FreezGard®,” “thawrox®,” “sure 
soft®,” “prosoft®,” “nature’s own®” and “K-life®.” no single patent, 
trademark or trade name is material to our business as a whole.

any issued patents that cover our proprietary technology and 
any of our other intellectual property rights may not provide us 
with substantial protection or be commercially beneficial to us. 
the issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its validity or its 
enforceability. competitors may also be able to design around our 
patents. if we are unable to protect our patented technologies, our 
competitors could commercialize our technologies.

With respect to proprietary know-how, we rely on trade 
secret protection and confidentiality agreements. monitoring the 
unauthorized use of our technology is difficult and the steps we 
have taken may not prevent unauthorized use of our technology. 
the disclosure or misappropriation of our intellectual property 
could harm our ability to protect our rights and our competitive 
position. see item 1a. “risk Factors — protection of proprietary 
technology — our intellectual property may be misappropriated  
or subject to claims of infringement.”

EMPLOYEES

as of December 31, 2008, we had 1,743 employees, of which 863 
are employed in the United states, 727 in canada and 153 in the 
United Kingdom. approximately 30% of our U.s. workforce and 
approximately 70% of our global workforce is represented by labor 
unions. of our nine material collective bargaining agreements, four 
will expire in 2009, three will expire in 2010 and two will expire in 
2011. additionally, approximately 9% of our workforce is employed 
in europe where trade union membership is common. We consider 
our labor relations to be good. see item 1a. “risk Factors — if we 
are unsuccessful in negotiating new collective bargaining agree-
ments we may experience significant increases in the cost of labor 
or a disruption in our operations.”

PROPERTIES

the table below sets forth our principal properties: 

 Land and Related Mineral 
 Surface Rights Reserves

  Owned/ Expiration Owned/ Expiration 
Location Use Leased of Lease Leased of Lease

Cote Blanche,  Rock salt  Leased  2060  Leased  2060 
Louisiana  production facility 

Lyons,  Evaporated salt  Owned  N/A  Owned  N/A 
Kansas  production facility

Ogden,  SOP, solar salt and  Owned  N/A  Leased  (1) 
Utah magnesium chloride 
 production facility

Amherst,  Evaporated salt  Owned  N/A  Leased  2023(2)  
Nova Scotia, production facility  
Canada

Goderich,  Rock salt  Owned  N/A  Leased  2022(2)  
Ontario, production facility  
Canada 

Goderich,  Evaporated salt  Owned  N/A  Owned  N/A  
Ontario,  production facility 
Canada

Unity,  Evaporated salt  Owned  N/A  Leased  2009/2016(3)  
Saskatchewan,  production facility 
Canada

Winsford,  Rock salt  Owned  N/A  Owned  N/A  
Cheshire,  production facility; 
U.K. records management

London,  Records  Leased  2025  N/A  N/A  
England management

Overland Park,  Corporate  Leased  2015  N/A  N/A  
Kansas  headquarters

(1) the ogden lease automatically renews on an annual basis. 
(2) subject to our right of renewal through 2043.
(3)  consists of two leases expiring in 2009 and 2016 subject to our right of renewal  

through 2030 and 2037, respectively.

With respect to each facility at which we extract salt, brine 
or sop, we obtain any required or necessary permits prior to the 
commencement of mining. permits or licenses are obtained as 
needed in the normal course of business based on our mine plans 
and state, provincial and local regulatory provisions regarding mine 
permitting and licensing. Based on our historical permitting experi-
ence, we expect to be able to continue to obtain necessary mining 
permits to support historical rates of production.



compass minerals international, inc. 2008 Form 10-K

  10

our mineral leases have varying terms. some will expire after a set term of years, while others continue indefinitely. many of 
these leases provide for a royalty payment to the lessor based on a specific amount per ton of mineral extracted or as a percent-
age of revenue. We believe we will be able to continue to extend our material mineral lease agreements, as we have in the past, at 
commercially reasonable terms, without incurring substantial costs or incurring material modifications to the existing lease terms and 
conditions. in addition, we own a number of properties and are party to non-mining leases that permit us to perform activities that are 
ancillary to our mining operations, such as surface use leases for storage at depots and warehouse leases. We also lease two ware-
houses in london, england to facilitate our records management business. Both of these leases expire in 2025. We believe that all of 
our leases were entered into at market terms.

the following map shows the locations of our principal operating facilities:

WINSFORD, CHESHIRE

LONDON

UNITY, SASK.

OGDEN, UT

LYONS, KS

AMHERST, NS

COTE BLANCHE, LA

NORTH AMERICA UNITED KINGDOM

GODERICH, ON

KENOSHA, WI

CHICAGO, IL

We produce and distribute crop and animal nutrients, salt and 
deicing products. these activities subject us to an evolving set of 
international, federal, state, provincial and local environmental, health 
and safety (“eHs”) laws that regulate, or propose to regulate: (i) 
product content; (ii) use of products by both us and our customers; 
(iii) conduct of mining and production operations, including safety 
procedures followed by employees; (iv) management and handling of 
raw materials; (v) air and water quality impacts from our facilities; (vi) 
disposal, storage and management of hazardous and solid wastes; 
(vii) remediation of contamination at our facilities and third-party 
sites; and (viii) post-mining land reclamation. For new regulatory 
programs, it is difficult for us to ascertain future compliance obliga-
tions or estimate future costs until implementation of the regulations 
has been finalized and definitive regulatory interpretations have been 
adopted. We respond to regulatory requirements by making neces-
sary modifications to our facilities and/or operating procedures.

We have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to 
expend, substantial financial and managerial resources to comply 
with eHs standards. We estimate that our 2009 eHs capital 
expenditures will total approximately $7.5 million. We expect that 
our estimated expenditures in 2009 for reclamation activities will 
be approximately $0.4 million. it is possible that greater than antici-
pated eHs capital expenditures or reclamation expenditures will be 
required in 2009 or in the future.

We maintain accounting accruals for certain contingent 
environmental liabilities and believe these accruals comply with 
generally accepted accounting principles. We record accruals for 
environmental investigatory and non-capital remediation costs 
when we believe it’s probable that we will be responsible, in whole 
or in part, for environmental remediation activities and the expendi-
tures for such activities are reasonably estimable. Based on current 
information, it is the opinion of management that our contingent 
liabilities arising from eHs matters, taking into account established 
accruals, will not have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition or results of operations. as of December 31, 
2008, we had recorded environmental accruals of $1.8 million.

Product Requirements and Impacts
international, federal, state and provincial standards (i) require 
registration of many of our products before such products can be 
sold; (ii) impose labeling requirements on those products; and (iii) 
require producers to manufacture the products to formulations set 
forth on the labels. environmental, natural resource and public 
health agencies at all regulatory levels continue to evaluate alleged 
health and environmental impacts that might arise from the 
handling and use of products such as those we manufacture. the 
U.s. environmental protection agency, or the “epa,” the state of 
california and the Fertilizer institute have each completed indepen-
dent assessments of potential risks posed by crop nutrient 

ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH AND SAFETY MATTERS
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materials. these assessments concluded that, based on the 
available data, crop nutrient materials generally do not pose harm 
to human health. it is unclear whether any further evaluations may 
result in additional standards or regulatory requirements for the 
producing industries, including us, or for our customers. it is the 
opinion of management that the potential impact of these stan-
dards on the market for our products or on the expenditures that 
may be necessary to meet new requirements will not have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or 
results of operations.

in December 2001, the canadian government released a 
priority substances list assessment report for road salt. this 
report found that road salts are entering the environment under 
conditions that may have a harmful effect or constitute a danger to 
the environment. Based on this report, the minister of environment 
proposed designating road salt as a “toxic” substance pursuant 
to the canadian environmental protection act. canada’s federal 
cabinet, which has ultimate responsibility, did not take final action 
with respect to this proposal and is not subject to any deadline to 
do so. in lieu of any toxicity designation or regulatory action, in april 
2004, environment canada published a code of practice to serve 
as voluntary guidelines for road salt users. the code of practice 
requires large road salt users to develop salt management plans. 
Further, in its 2006 — 2007 annual report, the environmental 
commissioner of ontario recommended, along with other items, 
the development of a comprehensive, mandatory, province-wide 
road salts management strategy. We do not believe that this will 
have a material direct effect on us, but the new salt management 
plans could lead to changes in the application or amount of road 
salt used in canada.

Given the importance of road salt for traffic safety and the 
current lack of any practical substitute, we deem it unlikely that 
any guidelines or regulations would result in a complete ban on the 
use of road salt. as noted in the December 2001 report, the use of 
road salt and other deicing agents “is an important component of 
strategies to keep roadways open and safe during the winter and 
minimize traffic crashes, injuries and mortality under icy and snowy 
conditions.” since the dissemination of the December 2001 report, 
we have endeavored to work more closely with the canadian gov-
ernment as well as provinces and municipalities to better manage 
the use, storage and release of our road salts. We believe it has 
become less likely that road salts will be designated as a toxic sub-
stance. We cannot predict whether any proposal to designate road 
salt as a toxic substance would be finalized or the promulgation of 
any other future regulation. standardized guidelines for the use and 
storage of road salt or any alternate deicing products may cause us 
to suffer reduced sales and incur substantial costs and expenses 
that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. in addition, although we are not 
aware of any similar governmental proposals for such designation 
of road salt in either the United states or the United Kingdom, we 
cannot guarantee that such proposals will not arise.

Operating Requirements and Impacts
We hold numerous environmental, mining and other permits 
or approvals authorizing operations at each of our facilities. our 
operations are subject to permits for extraction of salt and brine, 
discharges of process materials to air and surface water, and 
injection of brine and wastewater to subsurface wells. some of our 
proposed activities may require waste storage permits. a deci-
sion by a government agency to deny or delay issuing a new or 
renewed permit or approval, or to revoke or substantially modify an 
existing permit or approval, could have a material adverse effect on 
our ability to continue operations at the affected facility. in addi-
tion, changes to environmental and mining regulations or permit 
requirements could have a material adverse effect on our ability to 
continue operations at the affected facility. expansion of our opera-
tions also is predicated upon securing the necessary environmental 
or other permits or approvals. 

Remedial Activities
Remediation at Our Facilities — many of our formerly owned 
and current facilities have been in operation for a number of years. 
operations have historically involved the use and handling of 
regulated chemical substances, salt and by-products or process tail-
ings by us and predecessor operators which have resulted in soil, 
surface water and groundwater contamination.

at many of these facilities, spills or other releases of regulated 
substances have occurred previously and potentially could occur 
in the future, possibly requiring us to undertake or fund cleanup 
efforts under the U.s. comprehensive environmental response, 
compensation, and liability act, or “cercla,” or state and 
provincial or United Kingdom laws governing cleanup or disposal 
of hazardous substances. in some instances, we have agreed, 
pursuant to consent orders or agreements with the appropriate 
governmental agencies, to undertake investigations, which cur-
rently are in progress, to determine whether remedial action may 
be required to address such contamination. at other locations, we 
have entered into consent orders or agreements with appropriate 
governmental agencies to perform required remedial activities 
that will address identified site conditions. at still other locations, 
we have undertaken voluntary remediation, and have removed 
formerly used underground storage tanks. expenditures for these 
known conditions currently are not expected, individually or in the 
aggregate, to be material. However, material expenditures could 
be required in the future to remediate the contamination at these 
or at other current or former sites. in addition, in connection with 
the recapitalization through which compass became a stand-alone 
entity, mosaic, a former owner, agreed to indemnify us against 
liabilities for certain known and unknown conditions at existing and 
former sites.

the Wisconsin Department of agriculture, trade and 
consumer protection (“Datcp”) has information indicating that 
agricultural chemicals are present in the groundwater in the vicinity 
of the Kenosha, Wisconsin plant. Datcp directed us to conduct an 
investigation into the possible presence of agricultural chemicals in 
soil and groundwater at the Kenosha plant. We have completed the 
investigation of the soils and groundwater at the Kenosha site and 
remitted the findings to Datcp. Datcp has reviewed those findings 
and deferred our liability exemption request to the Wisconsin 
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Department of natural resource (“Dnr”). We expect the Dnr 
to make a determination in 2009. if required, we would conduct 
all phases of any investigation and any required remediation work 
under the Wisconsin agricultural chemical cleanup program, which 
would provide for reimbursement of some of the costs. none of 
the identified contaminants have been used in association with 
compass minerals site operations. We would expect to seek par-
ticipation by, or cost reimbursement from, other parties responsible 
for the presence of any agricultural chemicals found in soils at this 
site if we do not receive the liability exemption and are required to 
conduct further investigation or remedial actions.

Remediation at Third-Party Facilities — along with impacting 
the sites at which we have operated, various third parties have 
alleged that our past operations have resulted in contamination to 
neighboring off-site areas or third-party facilities including third-
party disposal facilities for regulated substances generated by our 
operating activities. cercla imposes liability, without regard to 
fault or to the legality of a party’s conduct, on certain categories of 
persons who are considered to have contributed to the release of 
“hazardous substances” into the environment. Under cercla, or 
its various state analogues, one party may potentially be required 
to bear more than its proportional share of cleanup costs at a site 
where it has liability if payments cannot be obtained from other 
responsible parties.

We have entered into “de minimis” settlement agreements 
with the epa with respect to several cercla sites, pursuant to 
which we have made one-time cash payments and received statu-
tory protection from future claims arising from those sites. in some 
cases, however, such settlements have included “reopeners,” which 
could result in additional liability at such sites in the event of newly 
discovered contamination or other circumstances.

at other sites for which we have received notice of potential 
cercla liability, we have provided information to the epa that 
we believe demonstrates that we are not liable, and the epa has 
not asserted claims against us with respect to such sites. in some 
instances, we have agreed, pursuant to orders from or agreements 
with appropriate governmental agencies or agreements with private 
parties, to undertake or fund investigations, some of which cur-
rently are in progress, to determine whether remedial action, under 
cercla or otherwise, may be required to address contamination. 
at other locations, we have entered into consent orders or agree-
ments with appropriate governmental agencies to perform required 
remedial activities that will address identified site conditions. 

at present, we are not aware of any additional sites for which 
we expect to receive a notice from the epa or any other party of 
potential cercla liability that would have a material affect on our 
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, 
based on past operations, there is a potential that we may receive 
notices in the future for sites of which we are currently unaware or 
that our liability at currently known sites may increase. expenditures 
for our known environmental liabilities and site conditions currently 
are not expected, individually or in the aggregate, to be material or 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations, or cash flows.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risks and all of the 
information set forth in this annual report on Form 10-K. The risks 
described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional 
risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently 
deem to be immaterial may also materially and adversely affect our 
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business

Mining operations are subject to a variety of risks and hazards 
which may not be covered by insurance.
the process of mining involves risks and hazards, including envi-
ronmental hazards, industrial accidents, labor disputes, unusual or 
unexpected geological conditions or acts of nature. additionally, our 
rock salt mines are located near bodies of water and other indus-
trial operations. these risks and hazards could lead to uncontrolled 
water intrusion or flooding or other events or circumstances which 
could result in the complete loss of a mine or could otherwise 
result in damage or impairment to, or destruction of, mineral prop-
erties and production facilities, environmental damage, delays in 
mining and business interruption, and could result in personal injury 
or death. although we evaluate our risks and carry insurance poli-
cies to mitigate the risk of loss where economically feasible, not all 
of these risks are reasonably insurable and our insurance coverage 
may contain limits, deductibles, exclusions and endorsements. We 
cannot assure you that our coverage will be sufficient to meet our 
needs in the event of loss. such a loss may have a material adverse 
effect on the company.

Our operations are dependent on our rights and ability to mine 
our property and having received the required permits and 
approvals from third parties and governmental authorities.
We hold numerous governmental, environmental, mining and 
other permits, water rights and approvals authorizing operations 
at each of our facilities. a decision by a third party or a govern-
mental agency to deny or delay issuing a new or renewed permit 
or approval, or to revoke or substantially modify an existing permit 
or approval, could have a material adverse effect on our ability 
to continue operations at the affected facility. expansion of our 
existing operations is also predicated upon securing the necessary 
environmental or other permits, water rights or approvals which we 
may not receive in a timely manner or at all. Furthermore, many of 
our facilities are located on land leased from governmental authori-
ties. expansion of these operations may require securing additional 
leases, which we may not obtain in a timely manner, or at all. our 
leases generally require us to continue mining in order to retain the 
lease, the loss of which could adversely affect our ability to mine 
the associated reserves. 

We are currently participating in an environmental study and 
performing other activities required of us in order to obtain leases 
and permits which would allow us to expand our solar evaporation 
ponds at the Great salt lake. the process of granting leases has 
been challenged by certain organizations. if we are unable to obtain 
all or a portion of the required leases and permits, the previously 
capitalized costs associated with the project would be evaluated for 
impairment. as of December 31, 2008, capital expenditures related 
to this project are $1.4 million. 
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our salt mines located in cote Blanche, louisiana and 
Goderich, ontario, canada constitute approximately 70% of our 
total salt production capacity. these underground salt mines supply 
substantially all of the salt product necessary to support almost all 
of our north american highway deicing product line and significant 
portions of our consumer and industrial salt products. although 
sales of our deicing products and profitability of the salt segment 
can vary from year to year due to weather variations in our markets, 
over the last three years, sales of highway deicing products 
have averaged approximately 40% of our consolidated sales. an 
extended production interruption or catastrophic event at either of 
these facilities could result in an inability to have product available 
for sale or to fulfill our highway deicing sales contracts and could 
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.

in addition, we are aware of an aboriginal land claim filed by 
the chippewas of nawash and the chippewas of saugeen (the 
“chippewas”) in the ontario superior court against the attorney 
General of canada and Her majesty the Queen in right of ontario. 
the chippewas claim that a large part of the land under lake 
Huron was never conveyed by treaty and therefore belongs to 
the chippewas. the land claimed includes land under which our 
Goderich mine operates and has mining rights granted to it by the 
government of ontario. We are not a party to this court action.

similar claims are pending with respect to other parts of the 
Great lakes by other aboriginal claimants. We have been informed 
by the ministry of the attorney General of ontario that “canada 
takes the position that the common law does not recognize aborigi-
nal title to the Great lakes and its connecting waterways.” We do 
not believe that this action will result in a material adverse financial 
effect on the company.

Mining is a capital-intensive business, and the inability to  
fund necessary capital expenditures in order to develop or 
expand our operations could have an adverse effect on our 
growth and profitability.
We intend to make significant capital expenditures over the next 
several years to expand our rock salt production capacity at our 
Goderich mine and our sop production at our Great salt lake 
facility. capital expenditures required for these projects may 
increase due to factors beyond our control. although we currently 
finance most of our capital expenditures through cash provided 
by operations, we may depend on the availability of credit to fund 
future capital expenditures. We could have difficulty finding or 
obtaining the financing required to fund our capital expenditures, 
which could limit our expansion ability or increase our debt service 
requirements which could have a material adverse effect on our 
cash flows and profitability.

in addition, our credit agreement contains covenants including 
restrictions of the amount of capital expenditures in any one year. 
We may pursue other financing arrangements, including leasing 
transactions as a method of financing our capital needs. if we are 
unable to obtain suitable lease financing, our expansion plans may 
not be able to be completed. a failure to complete our expansion 
plans could negatively impact our growth and profitability.

The seasonal demand for our products and the variations  
in our operations from quarter to quarter due to weather  
conditions may have an adverse effect on our results of  
operations and the price of our common stock.
our deicing product line is seasonal, with operating results varying 
from quarter to quarter as a result of weather conditions and 
other factors. on average, over the last three years, approximately 
70% of our deicing product sales (or 37% of consolidated sales) 
occurred during the months of november through march when 
winter weather was most severe. Winter weather events are not 
predictable outside of a relatively short time-frame, yet we must 
stand ready to deliver deicing products under our highway deicing 
contracts. as a result, we need to stockpile sufficient highway 
deicing salt in the last three fiscal quarters to meet estimated 
demand for the winter season.

Winter weather events can be influenced by weather cycles 
and other natural events. any prolonged change in weather pat-
terns in our relevant geographic markets could impact demand for 
our deicing products. Weather conditions that impact our highway 
deicing product line include temperature, levels of wintry precipita-
tion, number of snowfall events and the potential for, and duration 
and timing of snowfall or icy conditions in our relevant geographic 
markets. lower than expected sales during the winter season 
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations 
and the price of our common stock.

our sop operating results are dependent in part upon condi-
tions in the agriculture markets. the agricultural products business 
can be affected by a number of factors, the most important of 
which, for U.s. markets, are weather patterns, field conditions 
(particularly during periods of traditionally high crop nutrients applica-
tion) and quantities of crop nutrients imported to and exported 
from north america. additionally, our ability to produce sop at our 
solar evaporation ponds is dependent upon sufficient lake water 
levels and arid summer weather conditions. extended periods 
of precipitation or a prolonged lack of sunshine would hinder the 
evaporation rate and hence our production levels, which may result 
in lower sales volumes. additionally, our ability to harvest minerals 
through our evaporation ponds could be negatively impacted by any 
prolonged change in weather patterns leading to reduced mountain 
snowfall that could result in less fresh water run-off and lower lake 
levels, or by increased rainfall during the summer months at our 
solar evaporation ponds at the Great salt lake.

Customer expectations about future potash market prices and 
availability and agricultural economics can have a significant 
effect on the demand for our specialty fertilizer product which 
can affect our sales volumes and prices.
When customers anticipate increased sop selling prices or 
improving agricultural economics, they tend to accumulate 
inventories prior to the anticipated price increases which may result 
in a delay in the realization of price increases for our products. in 
addition, customers may delay their purchases when they antici-
pate future sop selling prices may remain constant or decline, or 
when they anticipate declining agricultural economics, which may 
adversely affect our sales volumes and selling prices. customer 
expectations about availability of sop can have similar effects on 
sales volumes and prices.
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Our production process consumes large amounts of natural 
gas, steam and electricity. Additionally, KCl is a raw material 
feedstock used to supplement our SOP solar harvest, produce 
some of our deicing products and sell for water conditioning 
applications. A significant interruption in the supply or an 
increase in the price of any of these products or services could 
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or 
results of operations.
energy costs, primarily natural gas and electricity, represented 
approximately 11% of our total production costs in 2008. natural 
gas is a primary fuel source used in the evaporated salt production 
process. our profitability is impacted by the price and availability 
of natural gas we purchase from third parties. We have a policy of 
hedging natural gas prices through the use of futures contracts. 
We have not entered into any long-term contracts for the purchase 
of natural gas. our contractual arrangements for the supply 
of natural gas do not specify quantities and are automatically 
renewed annually unless either party elects not to do so. We do 
not have arrangements in place with back-up suppliers. a signifi-
cant increase in the price of energy that is not recovered through 
an increase in the price of our products or covered through our 
hedging arrangements, or an extended interruption in the supply of 
natural gas, steam or electricity to our production facilities, could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows.

We use Kcl as a raw material feedstock in our sop production 
process to supplement our solar harvest, as an additive to some 
of our consumer deicing products and to sell for water condition-
ing applications. We purchase substantially all of our Kcl under 
long-term contracts where the pricing is typically determined by 
reference to a formula and has been favorable to market in recent 
years. large positive or negative fluctuations can occur to the price 
we pay for product without a corresponding change in sales price 
for our customers. consequently, this could change the profit-
ability of these products which could materially affect our results 
of operations and cash flows. if an adverse event were to occur 
preventing our supplier from delivering Kcl, we cannot assure you 
that we could find a replacement vendor to fill our Kcl requirements 
economically. consequently this could reduce the amount of sop, 
blended deicing and water conditioning products available which 
could adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows.

Increasing costs or a lack of availability of transportation 
services could have an adverse effect on our ability to deliver 
products at competitive prices.
Because of salt’s relatively low production cost, transportation and 
handling costs tend to be a significant component of the total deliv-
ered cost of sales. the high relative cost of transportation tends 
to favor manufacturers located close to the customer. We contract 
bulk shipping vessels, barges, trucking and rail services to move 
salt from our production facilities to the distribution outlets and 
customers. in many instances, we have committed to deliver salt, 
under penalty of non-performance, up to nine months or more prior 
to having produced the salt for delivery to our customers. a reduc-
tion in the dependability or availability of transportation services or 
a significant increase in transportation service rates could impair 
our ability to deliver salt economically to our markets and impair our 
ability to expand our markets.

Competition in our markets could limit our ability to attract 
and retain customers, force us to continuously make capital 
investments, alter supply levels and put pressure on the prices 
we can charge for our products. Additionally, with regard  
to our specialty fertilizer product, economic conditions in 
the agriculture markets, and supply and demand imbalances 
for competing potash products can also impact the price  
of our products.
We encounter competition in all areas of our business. competition 
in our product lines is based on a number of considerations, 
including product performance, transportation costs in salt 
distribution, brand reputation, price, quality of client service and 
support. additionally, customers for our products are attempting to 
reduce the number of vendors from which they purchase in order 
to increase their efficiency. our customers increasingly demand a 
broad product range and we must continue to develop our exper-
tise in order to manufacture and market these products success-
fully. to remain competitive, we will need to invest continuously in 
manufacturing, marketing, customer service and support and our 
distribution networks. We may have to adjust the prices of some 
of our products to stay competitive. We may not have sufficient 
resources to continue to make such investments or maintain our 
competitive position. some of our competitors have greater finan-
cial and other resources than we do.

muriate of potash (“mop”) is the least expensive form of pot-
ash fertilizer based on the concentration of K2o and consequently, 
it is the most widely used potassium source for most crops. sop 
is utilized by growers for many high-value crops, especially crops 
for which low-chloride content fertilizers improve quality and yield. 
economic conditions for agricultural products can affect the type 
and amount of crops grown as well as the type of fertilizer product 
used. potash is a commodity and consequently, its market is 
highly competitive and affected by global supply and demand. an 
over-supply of either type of potash product in the domestic or 
world-wide markets could unfavorably impact the sales prices we 
can charge for our specialty potash fertilizer, as a large price dispar-
ity between the potash products could cause growers to choose a 
less-expensive alternative. 

Our business is dependent upon highly skilled personnel, and 
the loss of key personnel may have a material adverse effect 
on our development and results of operations.
the success of our business is dependent on our ability to attract 
and retain highly skilled managers and other personnel. We cannot 
assure you that we will be able to attract and retain the personnel 
necessary for the development of our business. the loss of 
the services of key personnel or the failure to attract additional 
personnel as required could have a material adverse effect on the 
development of our business and results of operations and could 
lead to higher labor costs or the use of less-qualified personnel. 
We do not currently maintain “key person” life insurance on any  
of our key employees.
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If we are unsuccessful in negotiating new collective bargaining 
agreements, we may experience significant increases in the 
cost of labor or a disruption in our operations.
labor costs, including benefits, represent approximately 27% 
of our total production costs in 2008. as of December 31, 2008, 
we had 1,743 employees, of which 863 are employed in the 
United states, 727 in canada and 153 in the United Kingdom. 
approximately 30% of our U.s. workforce and 70% of our global 
workforce is represented by labor unions. of our nine material  
collective bargaining agreements, four will expire in 2009, three 
will expire in 2010 and two will expire in 2011. additionally, 
approximately 9% of our workforce is employed in europe where 
trade union membership is common. although we believe that 
our relations with our employees are good, as a result of general 
economic, financial, competitive, legislative, political and other 
factors beyond our control, we cannot assure you that we will be 
successful in negotiating new collective bargaining agreements, 
that such negotiations will not result in significant increases in 
the cost of labor or that a breakdown in such negotiations will not 
result in the disruption of our operations.

Environmental laws and regulation may subject us to signifi-
cant liability and require us to incur additional costs in the 
future. Additionally, our business is subject to numerous 
laws and regulations with which we must comply in order to 
obtain contracts with governmental entities.
We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety 
laws and regulations in the United states, canada and europe, 
including laws and regulations relating to land reclamation and 
remediation of hazardous substance releases, and discharges to 
soil, air and water. environmental laws and regulations with which 
we currently comply may become more stringent and require 
material expenditures for continued compliance. environmental 
remediation laws such as cercla, imposes liability, without 
regard to fault or to the legality of a party’s conduct, on certain 
categories of persons (known as “potentially responsible parties” 
(“prps”)) who are considered to have contributed to the release 
of “hazardous substances” into the environment. although we 
are not currently incurring material liabilities pursuant to cercla, 
in the future we may incur material liabilities under cercla and 
other environmental cleanup laws, with regard to our current or 
former facilities, adjacent or nearby third-party facilities, or off-site 
disposal locations. Under cercla, or its various state analogues, 
one party may, under some circumstances, be required to bear 
more than its proportional share of cleanup costs at a site where it 
has liability if payments cannot be obtained from other responsible 
parties. liability under these laws involves inherent uncertainties. 
Violations of environmental, health and safety laws are subject to 
civil, and in some cases, criminal sanctions.

We have received notices from governmental agencies  
that we may be a prp at certain sites under cercla or other  
environmental cleanup laws. in some cases, we have entered into 
“de minimis” settlement agreements with the United states with 
respect to certain cercla sites, pursuant to which we have made 
one-time cash payments and received statutory protection from 
future claims arising from those sites. at other sites for which we 
have received notice of potential cercla liability, we have pro-
vided information to the epa that we believe demonstrates that we 

are not liable and the epa has not asserted claims against us with 
respect to such sites. in some instances, we have agreed, pursuant 
to consent orders or agreements with the appropriate governmental 
agencies, to undertake investigations which currently are in prog-
ress, to determine whether remedial action may be required  
to address such contamination. at other locations, we have entered 
into consent orders or agreements with appropriate governmental 
agencies to perform remedial activities that will address identified 
site conditions. 

at present, we are not aware of any additional sites for which 
we expect to receive a notice from the epa of potential cercla 
liability that would have a material effect on our financial condi-
tion or results of operations. However, based on past operations, 
there is a potential that we may receive such notices in the future 
for sites of which we are currently unaware. We currently do not 
expect our known environmental liabilities and site conditions, 
individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse impact 
on our financial position. However, material expenditures could  
be required in the future to remediate the contamination at these 
or at other current or former sites.

We have also developed alternative mine uses. For example, 
we sold an excavated portion of our salt mine in the United 
Kingdom to a subsidiary of Veolia environnement (“Veolia”), a 
business with operations in the waste management industry. that 
business is permitted by the jurisdictional environmental agency to 
dispose of certain stable types of hazardous waste in the area of 
the salt mine owned by them. We believe that the mine is stable 
and provides a secure disposal location separate from our mining 
and records management operations. However, we recognize that 
any temporary or permanent storage of hazardous waste may 
involve risks to the environment. although we believe that we have 
taken these risks into account during our planning process, and 
Veolia is required by U.K. statute to maintain adequate security for 
any potential closure obligation, it is possible that material expendi-
tures could be required in the future to further reduce this risk or to 
remediate any future contamination.

continued government and public emphasis on environmental 
issues, including the impact of any prolonged change in weather 
patterns, can be expected to result in increased future investments 
for environmental controls at ongoing operations, which will be 
charged against income from future operations. present and future 
environmental laws and regulations applicable to our operations 
may require substantial capital expenditures and may have a mate-
rial adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results 
of operations. For more information, see item 1, “Business — 
environmental, Health and safety matters.”

our highway deicing customers principally consist of munici-
palities, counties, states, provinces and other governmental entities 
in north america and the U.K. this product line represented 
approximately 46% of our annual sales in 2008. We are required to 
comply with numerous laws and regulations administered by fed-
eral, state, local and foreign governments relating to, but not lim-
ited to, the production, transporting and storing of our products as 
well as the commercial activities conducted by our employees and 
our agents. Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations 
could preclude us from conducting business with governmental 
agencies and lead to penalties, injunctions, civil remedies or fines.
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The Canadian government’s past proposal to designate road 
salt as a toxic substance could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, including reduced sales and the incurrence of 
substantial costs and expenditures.
in December 2001, the canadian government released a priority 
substances list assessment report for road salt. this report found 
that road salts are entering the environment under conditions that 
may have a harmful effect or constitute a danger to the environment. 
Based on this report, the minister of environment proposed desig-
nating road salt as a “toxic” substance pursuant to the canadian 
environmental protection act. canada’s federal cabinet, which has 
ultimate responsibility, did not take final action with respect to this 
proposal and is not subject to any deadline to do so. in lieu of any 
toxicity designation or regulatory action, in april 2004, environment 
canada published a code of practice to serve as voluntary guidelines 
for road salt users. the code of practice requires large road salt 
users to develop salt management plans. Further, in its 2006 – 2007 
annual report, the environmental commissioner of ontario recom-
mended, along with other items, the development of a comprehen-
sive, mandatory, province-wide road salts management strategy. 
although we do not believe that this will have a material direct effect 
on us, any new salt management plans could lead to changes in the 
application or amount of road salt used in canada. 

as noted in the December 2001 report, the use of road salt and 
other deicing agents “is an important component of strategies to 
keep roadways open and safe during the winter and minimize traffic 
crashes, injuries and mortality under icy and snowy conditions.” 
since the dissemination of the December 2001 report, we have 
endeavored to work more closely with the canadian government 
as well as provinces and municipalities to better manage the use, 
storage and release of our road salts. as a result, we believe it has 
become less likely that road salts will be designated as a toxic sub-
stance. We can neither predict whether any proposal to designate 
road salt as a toxic substance will be finalized, nor the promulgation 
of any other future regulation. standardized guidelines for the use 
and storage of road salt or any alternate deicing products may cause 
us to suffer reduced sales and incur substantial costs and expenses 
that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. in addition, while we are not 
aware of any similar governmental proposals for such designation 
of road salt in either the United states or the United Kingdom, we 
cannot guarantee that such proposals will not arise. 

Protection of proprietary technology — Our intellectual  
property may be misappropriated or subject to claims  
of infringement.
We protect our intellectual property rights primarily through a combi-
nation of patent, trademark, and trade secret protection. We have 
obtained patents on some of our products and processes, and from 
time to time we file new patent applications. our patents, which 
vary in duration, may not preclude others from selling competitive 
products or using similar production processes. We cannot assure 
you that pending applications for protection of our intellectual prop-
erty rights will be approved. many of our important brand names are 
registered as trademarks in the United states and foreign countries. 
these registrations can be renewed if the trademark remains in 
use. these trademark registrations may not prevent our competi-
tors from using similar brand names. We also rely on trade secret 

protection to guard confidential unpatented technology and when 
appropriate, we require that employees and third party consultants 
or advisors enter into confidentiality agreements. these agree-
ments may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets, 
know-how or other proprietary information in the event of any 
unauthorized use, misappropriation or disclosure. it is possible that 
our competitors could independently develop the same or similar 
technology or otherwise obtain access to our unpatented tech-
nology. if we are unable to maintain the proprietary nature of our 
technologies, we may lose the competitive advantage provided by 
our intellectual property. as a result, our results of operations may 
be adversely affected. additionally, third parties may claim that our 
products infringe their patents or other proprietary rights and seek 
corresponding damages or injunctive relief. 

Economic and other risks associated with international sales 
and operations could adversely affect our business, including 
economic loss and a negative impact on earnings.
since we manufacture and sell our products primarily in the United 
states, canada and the United Kingdom, our business is subject 
to risks associated with doing business internationally. our sales 
outside the United states, as a percentage of our total sales, were 
28% for the year ended December 31, 2008. accordingly, our future 
results could be adversely affected by a variety of factors, including:

n changes in foreign currency exchange rates; 

n exchange controls; 

n  tariffs, other trade protection measures and import or export 
licensing requirements;

n potentially negative consequences from changes in tax laws; 

n differing labor regulations; 

n  requirements relating to withholding taxes on remittances and 
other payments by subsidiaries;

n  restrictions on our ability to own or operate subsidiaries, make 
investments or acquire new businesses in these jurisdictions;

n  restrictions on our ability to repatriate dividends from our 
subsidiaries; and

n unexpected changes in regulatory requirements. 

Fluctuations in the value of the U.s. dollar relative to the canadian 
dollar or British pound sterling may adversely affect our results of 
operations. Because our consolidated financial results are reported 
in U.s. dollars, if we generate sales or earnings in other curren-
cies, the translation of those results into U.s. dollars can result in 
a significant increase or decrease in the amount of those sales or 
earnings. in addition, our debt service requirements are primarily in 
U.s. dollars even though a significant percentage of our cash flow 
is generated in canadian dollars and pounds sterling. significant 
changes in the value of canadian dollars and pounds sterling 
relative to the U.s. dollar could have a material adverse effect on 
our financial condition and our ability to meet interest and principal 
payments on U.s. dollar-denominated debt.

in addition to currency translation risks, we incur currency 
transaction risk whenever we or one of our subsidiaries enter into 
either a purchase or a sales transaction using a currency other 
than the local currency of the transacting entity. Given the volatil-
ity of exchange rates, we cannot assure you that we will be able 
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to effectively manage our currency transaction and/or translation 
risks. it is possible that volatility in currency exchange rates could 
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results 
of operations. We have experienced and expect to experience 
economic loss and a negative impact on earnings from time to 
time as a result of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. 
see management’s Discussion and analysis of Financial condition 
and results of operations — effects of currency Fluctuations and 
inflation and management’s Discussion and analysis of Financial 
condition and results of operations — market risk.

our overall success as a global business depends, in part, 
upon our ability to succeed in differing economic and political 
conditions. We cannot assure you that we will continue to succeed 
in developing and implementing policies and strategies that are 
effective in each location where we do business.

If we cannot successfully complete acquisitions or integrate 
acquired businesses, our growth may be limited and our  
financial condition adversely affected.
our business strategy includes supplementing internal growth by 
pursuing acquisitions of small complementary businesses. We may 
be unable to complete acquisitions on acceptable terms, identify 
suitable businesses to acquire or successfully integrate acquired 
businesses in the future. We compete with other potential buyers 
for the acquisition of other small complementary businesses. these 
competition and regulatory considerations may result in fewer acqui-
sition opportunities. if we cannot complete acquisitions, our growth 
may be limited and our financial condition may be adversely affected.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition 
and impair our ability to operate our business. Furthermore, 
CMI is a holding company with no operations of its own and  
is dependent on our subsidiaries for cash flows.
as of December 31, 2008, compass minerals had $495.7 million 
of outstanding indebtedness, including $89.8 million of senior 
subordinated discount notes (“subordinated Discount notes”), 
approximately $397.2 million of borrowings under the two senior 
secured term loan facilities, and $8.7 million of borrowings under 
the senior secured revolving credit facility. our indebtedness could 
have important consequences, including the following:

n  it may limit our ability to borrow money or sell stock to fund 
our working capital, capital expenditures and debt service 
requirements;

n  it may limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes 
in our business;

n  we may be more highly leveraged than some of our competi-
tors, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage;

n  it may make us more vulnerable to a downturn in our business 
or the economy;

n  it may require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash 
flow from operations to the repayment of our indebtedness, 
thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow for other 
purposes; and

n  it may materially and adversely affect our business and finan-
cial condition if we are unable to service our indebtedness or 
obtain additional financing, as needed.

although our operations are conducted through our subsidiaries, 
none of our subsidiaries is obligated to make funds available to 
cmi for payment on our Discount notes or to pay dividends on 
our capital stock. accordingly, cmi’s ability to make payments on 
our Discount notes and distribute dividends to our stockholders 
is dependent on the earnings and the distribution of funds to cmi 
from our subsidiaries, and our compliance with the terms of our 
senior secured credit facilities, including the total leverage ratio and 
interest coverage ratio. Furthermore, we must also comply with 
the terms of our indenture which limits the amount of dividends 
we can pay to our stockholders. We cannot assure you that we will 
remain in compliance with these ratios nor can we assure you that 
the agreements governing the current and future indebtedness of 
our subsidiaries will permit our subsidiaries to provide cmi with 
sufficient dividends, distributions or loans to fund scheduled interest 
and principal payments on the Discount notes, when due. if we 
consummate an acquisition, our debt service requirements could 
increase. Furthermore, we may need to refinance all or a portion of 
our indebtedness on or before maturity, however we cannot assure 
you that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on 
commercially reasonable terms or at all.

An increase in interest rates would have an adverse affect on 
our interest expense under our senior secured credit facilities. 
Additionally, the restrictive covenants in the agreements govern- 
ing our indebtedness may limit our ability to pursue our business  
strategies or may require accelerated payments on our debt.
We pay variable interest on our senior secured credit facilities 
based on liBor or aBr. as of December 31, 2008, $200 million 
of our variable rate borrowings totaling $405.9 million has been 
hedged through interest rate swap agreements. consequently, 
increases in interest rates will adversely affect our cost of debt  
for the portion that has not been hedged.

our senior secured credit facilities and indebtedness limit our 
ability and the ability of our subsidiaries, among other things, to:

n incur additional indebtedness or contingent obligations; 

n pay dividends or make distributions to our stockholders; 

n repurchase or redeem our stock; 

n make investments; 

n grant liens; 

n make capital expenditures; 

n enter into transactions with our stockholders and affiliates;

n sell assets; and 

n  acquire the assets of, or merge or consolidate with, other 
companies.

in addition, our senior secured credit facilities require us to 
maintain financial ratios. these financial ratios include an interest 
coverage ratio and a total leverage ratio. although we have histori-
cally been able to maintain these financial ratios, we may not be 
able to maintain these ratios in the future. covenants in our senior 
secured credit facilities may also impair our ability to finance future 
operations or capital needs or to enter into acquisitions or joint 
ventures or engage in other favorable business activities.
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if we default under our senior secured credit facilities, the lend-
ers could require immediate payment of the entire principal amount. 
these circumstances include nonpayment of principal, interest, 
fees or other amounts when due, a change of control, default under 
agreements governing our other indebtedness, material judgments 
in excess of $15,000,000, failure to provide timely audited financial 
statements or inaccuracy of representations and warranties. any 
default under our senior secured credit facilities or agreements 
governing our other indebtedness could lead to an acceleration of 
principal payments under our other debt instruments that contain 
cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions. if the lenders under 
our senior secured credit facilities would require immediate repay-
ment, we would not be able to repay them and also repay our other 
indebtedness in full. our ability to comply with these covenants and 
restrictions contained in our senior secured credit facilities and other 
agreements governing our other indebtedness may be affected by 
changes in the economic or business conditions or other events 
beyond our control.

Volatility in credit and capital markets could impair our ability 
to operate our business and implement our strategies.
the company, our customers and suppliers depend on the avail-
ability of credit to operate. the recent financial crisis affecting the 
banking system and financial markets, as well as concerns that 
banks and other financial institutions may consolidate or go out of 
business have resulted in a tightening in the credit markets and 
has reduced the availability of credit to borrowers worldwide. a 
prolonged financial crisis could adversely affect the availability of 
credit for all parties, including the company. our customers may  
not be able to purchase our products or there may be delays in 
payment or nonpayment for delivered products which would nega-
tively impact our revenues, cash flows and profitability. 

our banks may become insolvent which would jeopardize 
cash deposits in excess of the federally insured amounts as well as 
limit our access to credit. in addition, we are subject to the risk that 
the counterparties to our interest rate swap and natural gas swap 
agreements may not be able to fulfill their obligations which could 
impact our consolidated financial statements adversely.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our common stock price may be volatile.
our common stock price may fluctuate in response to a number  
of events, including, but not limited to:

n our quarterly and annual operating results; 

n  weather conditions that impact our highway and consumer 
deicing product sales or sop production levels; 

n future announcements concerning our business; 

n  changes in financial estimates and recommendations by 
securities analysts;

n  changes and developments affecting internal controls over 
financial reporting;

n actions of competitors; 

n  market and industry perception of our success, or lack thereof, 
in pursuing our growth strategy;

n changes in government and environmental regulation; 

n  changes and developments affecting the salt or potash  
fertilizer industries; 

n general market, economic and political conditions; and 

n natural disasters, terrorist attacks and acts of war. 

We may be restricted from paying cash dividends on our  
common stock in the future.
We currently declare and pay regular quarterly cash dividends on our 
common stock. any payment of cash dividends will depend upon our 
financial condition, earnings, legal requirements, restrictions in our 
debt agreements and other factors deemed relevant by our board of 
directors. the terms of our senior secured credit facilities limit annual 
dividends to $55 million plus 50% of the preceding year net income, 
as defined, and may restrict us from paying cash dividends on our 
common stock if our total leverage ratio exceeds 4.75 (1.5 as of 
December 31, 2008) or if a default or event of default has occurred 
and is continuing under the facilities. the terms of our indenture may 
also restrict us from paying cash dividends on our common stock. 
the payment of a cash dividend on our common stock is considered 
a restricted payment under our indenture and we are restricted from 
paying any cash dividend on our common stock unless we satisfy 
minimum requirements with respect to our cumulative consolidated 
net income (plus any additional cash proceeds received upon the 
issuance of our common stock) and our fixed charge coverage ratio. 
We cannot assure you that the agreements governing our current 
and future indebtedness, including our senior secured credit facili-
ties, will permit us to pay dividends on our common stock.

Shares eligible for future sale may adversely affect our  
common stock price.
sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public 
market, or the perception that these sales may occur, could cause 
the market price of our common stock to decline. this could also 
impair our ability to raise additional capital through the sale of our 
equity securities. We are authorized to issue up to 200,000,000 
shares of common stock, of which 32,341,815 shares of common 
stock were outstanding and 816,374 shares of common stock were 
issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options, issuance 
of earned deferred stock units, and vesting of restricted stock units 
as of December 31, 2007. We cannot predict the size of future issu-
ances of our common stock or the effect, if any, that future sales 
and issuances of shares of our common stock would have  
on the market price of our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

none.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

information regarding our plant and properties is included in item 1, 
“Business,” of this report.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

the company from time to time is involved in various routine legal 
proceedings. these primarily involve commercial claims, product 
liability claims, personal injury claims and workers’ compensation 
claims. We cannot predict the outcome of these lawsuits, legal 
proceedings and claims with certainty. nevertheless, we believe 
that the outcome of these proceedings, even if determined 
adversely, would not have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. in addition, 
mosaic agreed to indemnify us against certain legal matters.

We have become aware of an aboriginal land claim filed by 
the chippewas of nawash and the chippewas of saugeen (the 
“chippewas”) in the ontario superior court against the attorney 
General of canada and Her majesty the Queen in right of ontario. 
the chippewas claim that a large part of the land under lake 
Huron was never conveyed by treaty and therefore belongs to the 
chippewas. the land claimed includes land under which our Goderich 
mine operates and has mining rights granted to it by the government 
of ontario. We are not a party to this court action. similar claims 
are pending with respect to other parts of the Great lakes by other 
aboriginal claimants. We have been informed by the ministry of the 
attorney General of ontario that “canada takes the position that the 
common law does not recognize aboriginal title to the Great lakes 
and its connecting waterways.” We do not believe that this action 
will result in a material adverse financial effect on the company.

ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE  
OF SECURITY HOLDERS

none.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
the following table sets forth the name, age and position of each 
person who is an executive officer as of December 31, 2008.

Name Age Position

Angelo C. Brisimitzakis 50 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Ronald Bryan 56 Vice President and General Manager of Great Salt 
Lake Minerals and Compass Minerals U.K. 

Gerald Bucan 45 Vice President and General Manager,  
Consumer and Industrial

Keith E. Clark 53 Vice President and General Manager,  
North American Highway

David J. Goadby 54 Vice President of Strategic Development

Rodney L. Underdown 42 Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,  
Treasurer and Secretary

Angelo C. Brisimitzakis joined cmp as president and chief 
executive officer in may 2006. prior to joining cmp, Dr. 
Brisimitzakis was employed by Great lakes chemical corporation 
from 1998 to 2005 where he most recently served as executive 
Vice president and General manager of flame retardants and per-
formance products following his position of Vice president, Global 
supply chain. prior to that Dr. Brisimitzakis served 14 years with 
General electric corporation where he held leadership positions  
in sales, technology, business development, supply chain and  
business management functions.

Ronald Bryan has served as Vice president and General manager 
of salt Union ltd., our U.K. subsidiary, since october of 2006 and 
Vice president and General manager of cmp’s sulfate of potash 
business unit since January 2005. mr. Bryan joined cmp in June 
2003 as Vice president — sales and marketing, Highway Deicing. 
prior to his career at cmp, mr. Bryan was employed by Borden 
chemical and plastics, where he most recently served as senior 
Vice president — commercial. 

Gerald Bucan joined cmp as Vice president and General manager, 
consumer and industrial in november 2007. prior to joining cmp, 
mr. Bucan held positions of Vice president and General manager 
of the Deli division of conagra Foods’ refrigerated meats operat-
ing company in 2006, and corporate Vice president of program 
management for Federated Group, inc. from 2003 through 2005.

Keith E. Clark has served as the Vice president and General 
manager, north american Highway for cmp since January 2008. 
prior to this position, he served as General manager, consumer 
and industrial for cmp since august 2004. He served as the Vice 
president and General manager of cmG’s consumer and indus-
trial business unit since august 1997, when north american salt 
company was under the management of Harris chemical Group.

David J. Goadby was named Vice president – strategic 
Development for cmp in october 2006. prior to this position, he 
served as Vice president of cmp since august 2004, Vice president 
of cmG since February 2002 and as the managing Director of salt 
Union ltd., our U.K. subsidiary, since april 1994, under the manage-
ment of Harris chemical Group. 

Rodney L. Underdown was appointed chief Financial officer of 
cmp in December 2002, has served as a Vice president of cmp 
since may 2002. mr. Underdown served as the chief Financial 
officer of cmG since February 2002 and Vice president, Finance  
of cmG since november 2001. mr. Underdown was appointed  
cmp’s secretary in august 2005 and treasurer in may 2006. prior 
to that, mr. Underdown was a Vice president of Finance for the  
salt Division of cmG’s former parent company from June 1998.
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part ii

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON 
EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

our common stock, $0.01 par value, trades on the new York stock 
exchange under the symbol “cmp.” the following table sets forth 
the high and low closing prices per share for the four quarters 
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

First Second Third Fourth

2008
Low $37.11 $62.22 $47.06 $39.89
High  62.60  85.61  80.60  59.96
2007
Low 30.00 31.63 30.54 33.96
High  35.08  36.50  36.79  44.45

HOLDERS

on February 13, 2009, the number of holders of record of our  
common stock was 32.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We intend to pay quarterly cash dividends on our common stock. 
the declaration and payment of future dividends to holders of our 
common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and 
will depend upon many factors, including our financial condition, 
earnings, legal requirements, restrictions in our debt agreements 
and other factors our board of directors deems relevant. see 
item 1a. “risk Factors — We may be restricted from paying cash 
dividends on our common stock in the future.”

the company paid quarterly dividends totaling $1.34 and  
$1.28 per share in 2008 and 2007, respectively. on February 6, 
2009, our board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of 
$0.355 per share on our outstanding common stock. the dividend 
will be paid on march 13, 2009 to stockholders of record as of the 
close of business on February 27, 2009.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

the information included in the following table should be read in conjunction with management’s Discussion and analysis of Financial 
condition and results of operations and the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes thereto included elsewhere in  
this annual report.

 
For the Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in millions, except share data) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Statement of Operations Data(1):
Sales  $ 1,167.7  $  857.3  $  660.7  $  742.3  $  639.9 
Shipping and handling cost 341.1 252.9  194.6  219.5 176.5 
Product cost(2) 429.0 352.4  252.5  283.5 246.1 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization(3) 41.4 40.0  40.5  43.6  41.3 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 82.0 67.7  53.7  56.4  55.1 
Restructuring and other charges(4) — — — —  5.9 
Operating earnings 274.2 144.3  119.4  142.9 118.8 
Interest expense 41.6 54.6  53.7  61.6  59.0 
Net earnings from continuing operations(5) 159.5 80.0  55.0  26.8  47.8 
Net earnings from discontinued operations(1) — — — 4.1  2.0 
Net earnings available for common stock 159.5 80.0  55.0  30.9  49.8 
Share Data:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding (in thousands):
 Basic 33,096 32,811 32,346 31,488 30,605 
 Diluted 33,166 32,932 32,593 32,050 31,816 
Net earnings from continuing operations per share:
 Basic  $  4.82  $  2.44  $  1.70  $  0.85  $  1.56 
 Diluted 4.81 2.43  1.69  0.84  1.50 
Cash dividends declared per share 1.34 1.28  1.22  1.10  0.9375 
Balance Sheet Data (at year end):      
Total cash and cash equivalents  $ 34.6  $  12.1  $  7.4  $  47.1  $  9.7 
Total assets 822.6 820.0  715.5  750.3 723.9 
Total debt 495.7 606.8  585.5  615.9 583.1 
Other Financial Data:
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(6) 5.88x 2.32x  2.18x  1.66x  1.84x 

(1)  on December 30, 2005, we sold our Weston point, england evaporated salt business. the results of those operations are classified as discontinued operations for all periods 
presented prior to the sale. the 2005 earnings from discontinued operations include a gain of $3.7 million ($4.6 million before tax) on the sale of those operations.

(2)  “product cost” is presented exclusive of depreciation, depletion and amortization.
(3)  “Depreciation, depletion and amortization,” for purposes of this table, excludes amortization of deferred financing costs but includes expense related to discontinued operations of 

$3.6 million and $3.8 million for 2005 and 2004, respectively.
(4)  “restructuring and other charges” — in november 2004, a former significant shareholder elected to terminate the amended management consulting agreement resulting in a final 

payment of approximately $4.5 million in that same month. additionally, during 2004, we incurred $1.4 million of costs directly related to the completion of two secondary offerings 
completed in July 2004 and november 2004. 

(5)  net earnings from continuing operations for 2005 includes $32.2 million of pre-tax expenses related to the early retirement of debt and income tax expense of $4.1 million result-
ing from the decision to repatriate $70 million of qualified foreign earnings pursuant to the american Jobs creation act.

(6)  For the purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings consist of earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and fixed charges. Fixed 
charges consist of interest expense excluding amounts allocated to discontinued operations, including the amortization of deferred debt issuance costs and the interest  
component of our operating rents. 
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ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND  
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION  
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

the statements in this discussion regarding the industry outlook, 
our expectations for the future performance of our business, and 
the other non-historical statements in this discussion are forward-
looking statements. these forward-looking statements are subject 
to numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, 
the risks and uncertainties described in item 1a, “risk Factors.” 
You should read the following discussion together with item 1a, 
“risk Factors” and the consolidated financial statements and notes 
thereto included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Based in the Kansas city metropolitan area, compass minerals 
is a leading producer of minerals, including salt, sulfate of potash 
specialty fertilizer and magnesium chloride. We operate 10 produc-
tion and packaging facilities, including the largest rock salt mine in 
the world in Goderich, ontario and the largest salt mine in the United 
Kingdom in Winsford, cheshire. our products include salt and sulfate 
of potash, and we operate a records management business. salt 
consists of sodium chloride and magnesium chloride, which is used 
for highway deicing, dust control, consumer deicing, water condi-
tioning, ingredients used in consumer and commercial foods, and 
other mineral-based products for consumer, agricultural and industrial 
applications. in addition, we are north america’s leading producer 
of sulfate of potash (“sop”), which is used in the production of 
specialty fertilizers for high-value crops and turf. We also provide 
records management services to businesses throughout the U.K. 

salt is indispensable and enormously versatile with more 
than 14,000 uses. in addition, there is an absence of cost-effective 
alternatives. as a result, our cash flows are not materially impacted 
by economic cycles. We are among the lowest cost salt producers 
in our markets because our salt deposits are high grade and among 
the most extensive in the world, and because we use effective 
mining techniques and efficient production processes. Because 
the highway deicing business accounts for nearly half of our annual 
sales, our business is seasonal and results will vary depending on 
the severity of the winter weather in our markets. 

the severity of the winter seasons has varied considerably 
over the last three years. During 2006, the winter weather in our 
markets was considerably milder than normal winter weather 
which was followed by normal weather in 2007 and more severe 
winter weather in 2008. not only does the weather affect our 
highway and consumer and industrial deicing salt sales volumes 
and resulting gross profit, but it also impacts our inventory levels 
which influence production volume, the resulting cost per ton, and 
ultimately our profit margins. 

our sop plant is the largest sop production facility in north 
america and one of only three natural solar sop plants in the 
world. our sop product is used in the production of specialty 
fertilizers for high-value crops and turf. our domestic sales of sop 
are concentrated in the western and southeastern portions of 
the United states where the crops and soil conditions favor the 
use of sop as a source of potassium nutrients. consequently, 
weather patterns and field conditions in these locations can impact 
the amount of specialty fertilizer sales volumes. additionally, the 

demand for and market price of sop is affected by the broader 
potash market which is influenced by many factors such as world 
grain and food supply, changes in consumer diets, general levels 
of economic activity and government food, agriculture and energy 
policies around the world. economic factors may impact the 
amount or type of crop grown in certain locations, or the type of 
fertilizer product used. this is mitigated to a certain extent however, 
because high-value or chloride-sensitive crop yields and quality 
tend to decline when alternative fertilizers are used. Beginning late 
in 2007 and throughout much of 2008, the demand for potassium 
nutrients for crops exceeded the available supply which contributed 
to a substantial increase in the market price for potash, including 
sop. Demand for these products waned in the fourth quarter of 
2008 and that has extended into 2009, as the broad agricultural 
industry has dealt with the onset of a global economic slowdown 
and reduced credit availability. 

 We contract bulk shipping vessels, barge, trucking and rail 
services to move product from our production facilities to the 
distribution outlets and customers. our north american salt mines 
and sop production facility are near either water or rail transport 
systems, which reduces our shipping and handling costs, although 
shipping and handling costs still account for a relatively large  
portion of the total delivered cost of our products. the tightening  
of available transportation services together with higher fuel costs 
has continued to increase our shipping and handling costs on a per 
ton basis over the last three years. However, declining oil-based 
fuel costs late in 2008 began to reverse this trend.

manpower costs, energy costs, packaging, and certain raw 
material costs, particularly potassium chloride (Kcl), a deicing and 
water conditioning agent and feed-stock used in making our sulfate 
of potash fertilizer product, are also significant. the company’s 
production workforce is represented by labor unions with multi-year 
collective bargaining agreements. our energy costs are managed 
with natural gas forward contracts up to 36 months in advance of pur-
chases, helping to reduce the impact of price volatility. We purchase 
Kcl under long-term supply contracts with annual changes in price 
based on previous year changes in the market price for Kcl. the mar-
ket price for Kcl has increased substantially causing significant price 
increases under our contract during the last three years. although 
we cannot predict future changes in market prices for Kcl, we expect 
our per ton costs to modestly increase in 2009. Under the long-term 
supply contracts, our cost for Kcl is below current market prices.

We focus on building intrinsic value by improving our earnings 
before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, or 
“eBitDa,” adjusting for a normalized winter weather season and by 
improving our financing cost structure. We can employ our operating  
cash flow and other sources of liquidity to pay dividends,  
re-invest in our business, pay down debt and make acquisitions. 
in the fourth quarter of 2007, we refinanced our 12¾% senior 
Discount notes with an incremental borrowing under the credit 
agreement. We also made early principal payments on our term 
loan during 2007 and 2006 and redeemed $90.0 million of our 
12% senior subordinated Discount notes in 2008 to strengthen 
our financial condition. operationally, in 2006 we completed the 
expansion of our magnesium chloride facilities and completed 
an additional acquisition of Deepstore, our records management 
business in the U.K. that utilizes previously excavated portions of 
our Winsford mine for secure document storage. in January of 
2007 we acquired london-based interactive records management 
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limited (“irm”) to further develop our records management busi-
ness and completed the replacement of an underground mill in our 
Goderich mine with a larger capacity mill. in 2008, we essentially 
completed the first phase of an expansion project at our Goderich 
rock salt mine which increased our annual capacity by 750,000 
tons for 2009. the second phase of this expansion project, 
scheduled to come partially on-line during 2010 with full availability 
in 2012, is expected to add 1.75 million tons of additional capacity, 
increasing that mine’s annual capacity to 9.0 million tons.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

the following table presents consolidated financial information with 
respect to sales from our salt and specialty fertilizer segments for 
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. as discussed 
in note 13 to the consolidated Financial statements, we acquired 
Deepstore effective november 1, 2006 and irm in January 2007. 
the results of operations of the consolidated records management 
business, including sales of $11.5 million for 2008, $10.5 million 
for 2007 and $0.8 million for 2006, are not material to our consoli-
dated financial results and are not included in the following table. 
the following discussion should be read in conjunction with the 
information contained in our consolidated financial statements and 
the notes thereto included in this annual report on Form 10-K. 

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Salt Sales (in millions)
 Salt sales $  923.3 $  710.7  $  549.6 
 Less: salt shipping and handling 318.3 232.9 179.2 

  Salt product sales  $  605.0  $  477.8  $  370.4 

Salt Sales Volumes (thousands of tons)
 Highway deicing salt 12,237 10,373 8,185 
 Consumer and industrial salt 2,852 2,412 2,313 

  Total tons sold 15,089 12,785 10,498 

Average Salt Sales Price (per ton)
 Highway deicing salt  $  43.57  $  38.97  $  35.63 
 Consumer and industrial salt 136.82 127.04 111.53 
 Combined 61.19 55.59 52.35 

Specialty Fertilizer (SOP) Sales (in millions)
 SOP sales  $ 232.9  $ 136.1  $ 110.3 
 Less: SOP shipping and handling 22.8 20.0 15.4 

  SOP product sales $ 210.1 $ 116.1 $  94.9 

SOP Sales Volumes (thousands of tons) 391 423 377 
SOP Average Price (per ton)  $ 595.75  $ 321.82  $ 292.39 

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to the  
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Sales
sales for the year ended December 31, 2008 of $1,167.7 million 
increased $310.4 million, or 36% compared to $857.3 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2007. sales include revenues from 
the sales of our products, or “product sales,” revenues from our 
records management business, and shipping and handling fees 
incurred to deliver salt and specialty fertilizer products to the 
customer. shipping and handling fees were $341.1 million during 
the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of $88.2 million, or 
35%, compared to $252.9 million for the year ended December 31, 

2007. shipping and handling costs increased primarily as result of 
higher sales volumes of salt products during 2008 when compared 
to 2007, and the impact of higher per-unit transportation costs, 
principally higher fuel surcharges. 

product sales for the year ended December 31, 2008 of 
$815.1 million increased $221.2 million, or 37%, compared to 
$593.9 million for 2007. salt product sales for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 of $605.0 million increased $127.2 million,  
or 27%, compared to $477.8 million for the same period in 2007 
while specialty fertilizer product sales of $210.1 million increased 
$94.0 million, or 81%, compared to $116.1 million in 2007. 

the $127.2 million increase in salt product sales was due 
primarily to sales volume increases and price improvements. the 
severe winter weather in our north american markets during 2008 
compared to the more normal winter weather of 2007 has led to 
higher 2008 sales volumes for highway deicing and consumer and 
industrial products which was supplemented by higher sales 
volumes of non-seasonal consumer and industrial products. salt 
sales volumes in 2008 grew by 2.3 million tons or 18% over 2007 
levels, which, when combined with the improved customer and 
product mix, increased sales by approximately $93 million. price 
improvements, net of higher shipping and handling, contributed 
approximately $39 million in additional product sales and were 
partially offset by the strengthening of the U.s. dollar during the 
latter half of 2008. in the U.K., the 2007-2008 winter weather 
season was the second consecutive milder winter weather season. 
However, we experienced a more severe than normal amount of 
winter weather precipitation in the U.K. in the fourth quarter of 
2008 which resulted in higher U.K. sales volumes for 2008 when 
compared to 2007.

the $94.0 million increase in specialty fertilizer product sales  
in 2008 compared to 2007 resulted from improvements in price 
reflecting the strong demand and limited supply of potash products 
generally, both domestically and abroad. price improvements in 2008 
yielded approximately $105 million of the increase in product sales. 
this increase was partially offset by lower sales volumes in the 
fourth quarter reflecting the ongoing effects of the uncertain 
economy on the agricultural industry. We continue to believe the 
market for fertilizer products has responded to economic factors 
which have increased worldwide demand for crop nutrients, 
including the need for improved yields in locations with growing 
populations and less arable land per capita, and alternative crop uses. 
conditions such as these have affected the agricultural markets and 
the demand for all types of potash fertilizer products, including sop.

Gross Profit 
Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2008 of $356.2 million 
increased $144.2 million, or 68% compared to $212.0 million for 2007. 
as a percent of sales, gross margin was 31% in 2008 compared to 
25% in 2007. these improvements primarily reflect the higher average 
salt and sop product sales prices totaling approximately $144 million, 
and increased salt sales volumes together with improved product and 
customer mix as discussed above totaling approximately $44 million. 
these gross profit improvements were partially offset by higher per 
unit costs at our production facilities, primarily our solar evaporation 
production facility in ogden, Utah. much of the higher per unit costs 
incurred at our ogden facility were a result of higher raw materials, 
royalties and maintenance costs.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 of $82.0 million increased $14.3 million, 
or 21% compared to $67.7 million for the same period in 2007, 
although as a percentage of sales selling, general and admin-
istrative declined 1% to 7%. the increase in expense for 2008 
is primarily due to higher employee compensation and benefits 
primarily due to variable compensation expense resulting from 
improved financial performance and investments in personnel 
to support ongoing growth and productivity initiatives. We also 
incurred higher costs for consumer and industrial promotional 
activities, principally in support of new product development.

Interest Expense 
interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 of 
$41.6 million decreased $13.0 million compared to $54.6 million for 
the same period in 2007. this decrease is primarily due to the refi-
nancing of our 12¾% senior Discount notes in the fourth quarter 
of 2007 with a lower-rate incremental term loan under our senior 
secured credit agreement, the early extinguishment of $90 million 
of our 12% senior subordinated Discount notes in 2008 and lower 
interest rates on our floating-rate debt. 

Other Expense, Net
other expense, net of $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 
2008 includes $6.5 million related to the early extinguishment of 
$90 million of the company’s 12% senior subordinated Discount 
notes, including call premiums of $5.4 million and the write-off of 
$1.1 million in unamortized deferred finance costs as discussed in 
note 8 to the consolidated Financial statements. these costs were 
partially offset by interest income on cash and cash equivalents. For 
2007, other expense, net includes $11.0 million of expense for the 
tender premium and write off of previously deferred financing fees 
associated with the retirement of our 12¾% senior Discount notes 
partially offset by interest income.

Income Tax Expense
income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 of 
$67.5 million increased $67.4 million compared to $0.1 million 
for the same period in 2007. as discussed in note 6 to the 
consolidated Financial statements, the company’s 2007 tax 
provision includes tax benefits totaling approximately $18.1 million 
related to items unique to 2007. in 2007, the company entered into 
a program with a taxing authority to begin the process of resolving 
an uncertain tax position. communications with the taxing 
authority has caused the company to change its measurement of 
uncertain tax positions resulting in the reversal of tax reserves. the 
company also released reserves following the closure of certain 
tax examination years. the company’s 2007 provision also includes 
benefits totaling $1.0 million to reduce net deferred tax liabilities for 
the effects of income tax rate reductions in certain jurisdictions.

in addition to the impact of the items discussed above, the 
2008 income tax expense increased due primarily to higher pre-tax 
income in 2008 when compared to 2007. our income tax provision 
differs from the U.s. statutory federal income tax rate primarily 
due to U.s. statutory depletion, state income taxes (net of federal 
benefit), foreign income, mining and withholding taxes, net of 
U.s. deductions, changes in the expected utilization of previously 
reserved net operating loss carry-forwards and interest expense 
recognition differences for tax and financial reporting purposes.

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to the  
Year Ended December 31, 2006

Sales
sales for the year ended December 31, 2007 of $857.3 million 
increased $196.6 million, or 30% compared to $660.7 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2006. sales include revenues 
from the sales of our products, or “product sales,” revenues from 
our records management business, and shipping and handling 
fees incurred to deliver salt and specialty fertilizer products to 
the customer. shipping and handling fees were $252.9 million 
during the year ended December 31, 2007, an increase of 
$58.3 million, or 30% compared to $194.6 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2006. shipping and handling costs increased 
primarily as result of higher sales volumes during 2007 when 
compared to 2006, although fuel prices and higher costs of trans-
portation services, particularly rail, have also increased over 2006.

product sales for the year ended December 31, 2007 of 
$593.9 million increased $128.6 million, or 28% compared to 
$465.3 million for 2006. salt product sales for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 of $477.8 million increased $107.4 million, 
or 29% compared to $370.4 million for the same period in 2006 
while specialty fertilizer product sales of $116.1 million increased 
$21.2 million, or 22% compared to $94.9 million in 2006. 

the $107.4 million increase in salt product sales was due to 
sales volume increases, price improvements and the effects of the 
strengthening canadian dollar and British pound sterling relative 
to the U.s. dollar. During 2006, the winter weather in the U.K. and 
north america was significantly milder than normal, resulting in 
reduced highway and consumer deicing sales volumes. in 2007, 
north american winter weather was more severe than 2006 and 
north american salt sales volumes increased approximately  
2.6 million tons over 2006 levels, primarily for highway and consumer 
deicing products. these higher north american volumes contributed 
approximately $75.1 million in salt product sales. the winter weather 
in the U.K. remained extremely mild however, with lower sales 
volumes reducing product sales by approximately $8.2 million to par-
tially offset the north american improvement. price improvements 
during 2007 increased salt product sales by approximately  
$29.8 million, and the strengthening of the canadian dollar and 
British pound sterling relative to the U.s. dollar also improved salt 
product sales by approximately $10.2 million. 

the $21.2 million increase in specialty fertilizer product sales in 
2007 compared to 2006 can primarily be attributed to the relatively 
strong market for potash products generally, both domestically and 
abroad. We believe the market for fertilizer products is responding to 
economic factors which are increasing world-wide demand for crop 
nutrients, including the need for improved yields in locations with 
growing populations and less arable land per capita, and alternative 
crop uses. conditions such as these affect the demand for all types 
of potash fertilizer products, including sop. additionally, during 
2006, prolonged wet weather conditions in the western U.s. during 
the spring season, and less favorable agricultural conditions in the 
eastern U.s. reduced demand for specialty fertilizer products in that 
year, causing added disparity between the annual comparisons. 
consequently, sales volumes for 2007 increased by approximately 
46,000 tons, contributing approximately $10.7 million to specialty 
fertilizer product sales. our product sales price improvements also 
increased product sales by $8.3 million.
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Gross Profit 
Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2007 of $212.0 million 
increased $38.9 million, or 22% compared to $173.1 million for 2006. 
as a percent of sales, gross margin was 25% in 2007 compared 
to 26% in 2006. the margin contribution from the increased sales 
volumes and price improvements discussed above were partially 
offset by higher production costs during 2007 due to increased 
costs of labor, energy and raw materials, and higher unit costs 
resulting principally from lower deicing salt production volumes when 
compared to the prior year. the higher raw material costs principally 
reflect the higher cost of Kcl which is used in both specialty fertilizer 
and consumer and industrial salt products. the higher production 
costs in 2007 also reflect the 2006 expense reduction of $5.1 million 
due to business interruption insurance proceeds which were received 
and recorded as a reduction of product costs. this insurance recovery 
was due to a 2004 temporary production interruption at the Goderich 
mine which resulted in unavailable finished goods inventory and our 
inability to meet the incremental demand for deicing salt products in 
certain of the company’s markets in 2005.

the per unit cost of deicing product sold in 2007 also 
increased over 2006 as a result of lower production levels in 2007. 
as a result of the mild winter weather in north america and the 
U.K. during the 2006 - 2007 winter season, 2007 production levels 
were curtailed for inventory management purposes in contrast to 
high production levels in early 2006 following the severe winter 
weather of the 2005 – 2006 winter season. additionally, planned 
maintenance activities and large capital improvement projects at 
our Goderich mine during 2007 hindered production efficiencies 
when compared to historical levels. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 of $67.7 million increased $14.0 million, or 
26% compared to $53.7 million for the same period in 2006, 
although as a percentage of sales it remained constant at 8%.  
the increase in expense for 2007 is primarily due to higher 
compensation costs, including results-based variable compensa-
tion, benefits and training programs, additional expenses from our 
newly consolidated records management business in the U.K., 
increased marketing expenses, and higher depreciation expense. 
additionally, the strengthening of the canadian dollar and British 
pound sterling caused an increase in expense due to the translation 
of those currencies to U.s. dollars.

Interest Expense 
interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2007 of 
$54.6 million increased $0.9 million compared to $53.7 million 
for the same period in 2006. the increase primarily reflects the 
compounding effect of interest accretion on our discount notes. 
However, as discussed in note 8 to the consolidated Financial 
statements, during the fourth quarter of 2007, we redeemed our 
12¾% senior Discount notes ($123.5 million face amount) using 
the proceeds from the issuance of a $127.0 million lower interest-
bearing incremental term loan borrowing and revolver borrowings 
under our senior secured credit agreement.

Other Expense, Net
other expense, net of $9.6 million for the year ended December 
31, 2007 includes $11.0 million of expense for the tender premium 
and write off of previously deferred financing fees associated with 
the retirement of our 12¾% senior Discount notes as discussed in 
note 8 to the consolidated Financial statements. these costs were 
partially offset by interest income on cash and cash equivalents. 
For 2006, other income, net was primarily attributable to foreign 
exchange gains and interest income.

Income Tax Expense
income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2007 of 
$0.1 million decreased $14.7 million compared to $14.8 million 
for the same period in 2006. as discussed in note 6 to the 
consolidated Financial statements, the company’s 2007 tax 
provision includes tax benefits totaling approximately $18.1 million 
related to items unique to 2007. in 2007, the company entered into 
a program with a taxing authority to begin the process of resolving 
an uncertain tax position. communications with the taxing authority 
has caused the company to change its measurement of uncertain 
tax positions resulting in the reversal of tax reserves. the company 
also released reserves following the closure of certain tax examina-
tion years. the company’s 2007 provision also includes benefits 
totaling $1.0 million to reduce net deferred tax liabilities for the 
effects of income tax rate reductions in certain jurisdictions. 

excluding the impact of the specific items discussed above, 
income tax expense increased primarily reflecting higher income 
before income taxes in 2007. our income tax provision differs from 
the U.s. statutory federal income tax rate primarily due to U.s. 
statutory depletion, state income taxes (net of federal benefit), 
foreign income, mining and withholding taxes, net of U.s. deduc-
tions, changes in the expected utilization of previously reserved 
net operating loss carry-forwards and interest expense recognition 
differences for tax and financial reporting purposes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview
over the last three years, the company has undergone significant 
changes in order to strengthen our financial position. We have 
expanded our magnesium chloride production facility in ogden, 
Utah, replaced an existing underground rock salt mill in our 
Goderich, ontario mine with a greater capacity mill, and essen-
tially completed the first in a phased expansion program at the 
Goderich mine, which is expected to increase our annual available 
salt production capacity to 7.25 million tons at the mine, begin-
ning in 2009. the second phase of the Goderich mine expansion 
project, scheduled to partially come on-line during 2010 with full 
availability in 2012, is expected to add 1.75 million tons of additional 
capacity, increasing that mine’s annual capacity to 9.0 million tons. 
the second phase expansion project is expected to cost approxi-
mately $70 million and will include the purchase and installation 
of additional hoisting equipment which will enable us to bring 
more mined, underground rock salt to the surface. in late 2007, we 
began the initial phase of a plan to strengthen our sop production 
through upgrades to our processing plant and expansion of our 
solar evaporation ponds. the initial phase includes modification 
and yield improvements to our existing solar evaporation ponds 
and increases in the processing capacity of our plant. these 
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improvements are expected to increase our solar pond-based 
sop production capacity progressively through 2011, and achieve 
approximately 100,000 additional tons annually by 2011 at a total 
cost of approximately $40 million. management expects to fund 
these capital projects with cash generated from operations, future 
borrowing or through leasing arrangements.

as discussed in note 13 to the consolidated Financial 
statements, in 2006 we acquired 100% of Deepstore, a records 
management business in the U.K. that utilizes excavated portions 
of our rock salt mine, through a non-cash transaction. During 
2007 we acquired 100% of london-based interactive records 
management limited for $7.6 million to further expand our U.K. 
records management business. 

as discussed in note 8 to the consolidated Financial 
statements, in 2005 we entered into a senior secured credit 
agreement providing for term loan and revolving credit facility 
borrowings. During 2007 we amended this agreement to provide 
additional borrowings under an incremental term loan. Using this 
facility, we have been able to refinance higher-rate debt. in the 
fourth quarter of 2007, we completed a tender offer and redeemed 
our 12¾% senior Discount notes, which were to become fully-
accreted in December 2007, with subsequent interest accruals 
payable in cash. our 12% senior subordinated Discounts notes 
became fully-accreted in may 2008 at an aggregate principal 
balance of $179.6 million with subsequent interest accruals to be 
paid in cash. in 2008, we redeemed $90 million of our 12% senior 
subordinated Discount notes with cash generated from opera-
tions. We continue to monitor the credit markets and will evaluate 
the economics of refinancing that debt. However we believe our 
results of operations and borrowing availability under the revolving 
credit agreement will allow us to pay cash interest without materi-
ally adversely affecting our cash flows or financial condition. in 
addition, we plan on funding our 2009 capital expenditures primarily 
from cash on hand at December 31, 2008, cash expected to be 
generated from operations in 2009 and other financing arrange-
ments, including leasing transactions.

Historically, our cash flows from operating activities have gener-
ally been relatively stable. However, during 2008 we achieved our 
highest level of operating cash flows in company history. We have 
used cash generated from operations to meet our working capital 
needs, to fund capital expenditures, to pay dividends and repay our 
debt, including unscheduled principal repayments we have voluntarily 
made early. When we have not been able to meet our short-term 
liquidity or capital needs with cash from operations, which may 
result from the seasonality of our business or other causes, we have 
met those needs with borrowings under our revolving credit facility. 
We expect to meet the ongoing requirements for debt service, any 
declared dividends and capital expenditures from these sources.

For the year ended December 31, 2008
cash generated by operating activities during the year ended 
December 31, 2008 reached a historical high of $254.1 million, an 
increase of $135.6 million over the year ended December 31, 2007. 
receivable balances and current liabilities increased while inventory 
levels decreased due to higher fourth quarter sales, reflecting the 
seasonality and the impact of winter weather variability on our opera-
tions. cash payments for income taxes increased by approximately 
$8.8 million when compared to 2007, due to estimated tax payments 

related to higher pre-tax income in 2008. With the redemption of 
$90 million of our 12% senior subordinated Discount notes in 2008, 
we expect our cash interest payments to decrease during 2009.

net cash used in investing activities during 2008 totaled 
$66.7 million including $67.8 million of capital expenditures. our 
capital expenditures include $5.0 million at our Goderich mine for 
expansion projects to increase that mine’s annual production capac-
ity. expenditures in 2008 also include $3.7 million for engineering 
and permitting activities to support the sop evaporation plant 
expansion project at the Great salt lake. the remaining capital 
expenditures were primarily for routine replacements.

as discussed in note 13 to the consolidated Financial 
statements, in January 2007 we acquired all of the outstanding 
common stock of irm for approximately $7.6 million in cash plus 
approximately $0.2 million subsequently paid in contingent consid-
eration in 2008. 

cash flows used in financing activities of $162.3 million 
during 2008 reflect payments totaling $95.4 million to redeem our 
12% senior subordinated Discount notes, consisting of principal 
payments totaling $90.0 million and call premiums and related fees 
of $5.4 million. We also made payments totaling $4.2 million on 
our two term loans, and paid an additional $23.3 million under our 
revolving credit agreement. also during 2008, we paid dividends  
to our stockholders totaling $44.3 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2007
cash generated by operating activities during the year ended 
December 31, 2007 reached $118.5 million, an increase of 
$22.9 million over the year ended December 31, 2006. relatively 
strong fourth quarter sales in 2007 resulted in a higher level of 
working capital employed when compared to 2006. receivable 
balances and liability accruals increased with the higher fourth 
quarter sales activities while inventory levels decreased, reflecting 
the seasonality and the impact of winter weather variability on our 
operations. cash payments for income taxes decreased by approxi-
mately $11.6 million when compared to 2006, due to the 2007 
deductibility of accumulated accreted interest on our refinanced 
senior Discount notes, as discussed below. 

net cash used in investing activities during 2007 totaled 
$55.9 million including $48.0 million of capital expenditures and 
$7.6 million for the acquisition of a records management business. 
our capital expenditures include $9.5 million at our Goderich mine 
for expenditures on the first phase of an expansion project to 
increase that mine’s annual production capacity by 750,000 tons and 
to complete the replacement of an upgraded underground salt mill. 
expenditures in 2007 also include $1.6 million for engineering and 
permitting activities to support the sop evaporation plant expansion 
project at the Great salt lake. the remaining capital expenditures 
were primarily for routine replacements.

as discussed in note 13 to the consolidated Financial 
statements, in January 2007 we acquired all of the outstanding 
common stock of irm for approximately $7.6 million in cash. 
the agreement includes a contingent purchase price adjustment 
of up to approximately $2.0 million of additional consideration 
over two years depending on the level of revenues, as defined, 
generated by the business. as of December 31, 2007, $0.2 million 
of consideration was accrued for payment in 2008 related to this 
contingent obligation. 



compass minerals international, inc. 2008 Form 10-K

 27  

cash flows used in financing activities during 2007 reflect 
payments totaling $130.9 million to redeem our 12¾% senior 
Discount notes, consisting of principal payments totaling 
$121.5 million (accreted value) and tender premium and related 
fees of $9.4 million. to facilitate this redemption, we amended our 
senior secured credit agreement and borrowed $127.0 million on 
an incremental term loan, incurring related fees of $1.6 million. 
We also made payments totaling $32.4 million on our two term 
loans, including approximately $29.3 million of payments made 
in advance of scheduled maturities, and borrowed an additional 
$18.6 million under our revolving credit agreement to meet our 
short-term cash requirements. also during 2007, we paid divi-
dends to our stockholders totaling $42.0 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2006
net cash flow generated by operating activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2006 was $95.6 million, an increase of $7.7 million 
from the year ended December 31, 2005. a portion of these cash 
flows resulted from the collection of accounts receivable balances 
generated from the robust sales due to the severe winter weather 
experienced during the fourth quarter of 2005. this contributed 
to the overall decrease in accounts receivable of $71.2 million. 
Because the fourth quarter of 2006 was relatively mild in terms of 
winter weather precipitation, our inventory levels still reflect the 
off-season build-up. consequently, the cash flow generated from 
the collection of accounts receivable was partially offset by the 
higher inventory levels, which, together with the higher unit cost, 
resulted in the $64.4 million increase in inventory. During 2006, we 
adopted statement of Financial accounting standard (sFas) no. 
123(r) — “share-based payment” and changed the classification 
of excess tax benefits realized upon the exercise of stock options 
from operating activities to financing activities. 

net cash used by investing activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2006 was $40.8 million, primarily reflecting capital 
expenditures of $36.4 million, including $11.9 million of expen-
ditures to replace an existing underground rock salt mill at our 
Goderich mine and complete the expansion of our magnesium 
chloride facilities. We also began a project to expand our rock salt 
production capacity at our Goderich mine by approximately 750,000 
tons. this expansion, consisting primarily of new equipment, began 
during the third quarter with expenditures through 2006 totaling 
$2.7 million. the remaining expenditures were primarily for routine 
replacements and cost reduction projects. 

During 2006, in addition to the $3.4 million of scheduled 
payments on our term loan, we voluntarily made $40.0 million of 
early payments, reduced our revolver balance by $13.9 million and 
redeemed the remaining $2.0 million of our senior subordinated 
notes. additionally during 2006, we made $39.5 million of dividend 
payments. as discussed above, in accordance with sFas 123(r), 
we have classified the excess tax benefits realized from option 
exercises as a financing activity beginning in 2006.

Capital Resources 
We believe our primary sources of liquidity will continue to be cash 
flow from operations and borrowings under our revolving credit 
facility. We believe that our banking syndicate is secure and believe 
we will have access to our entire revolving credit Facility during 
2009 if it is needed.

We expect that ongoing requirements for debt service and 
capital expenditures will primarily be funded from these sources.

our debt service obligations could, under certain circum-
stances, materially affect our financial condition and prevent us 
from fulfilling our debt obligations. see item 1a, “our indebtedness 
could adversely affect our financial condition and impair our ability 
to operate our business. Furthermore, cmi is a holding company 
with no operations of its own and is dependent on our subsidiar-
ies for cash.” as discussed in note 8 to the consolidated Financial 
statements, at December 31, 2008, we had $495.7 million of 
outstanding indebtedness consisting of $89.8 million face amount  
of 12% senior subordinated Discount notes due 2013 and 
$405.9 million of borrowings outstanding under our senior 
secured credit agreement. Borrowings under the senior secured 
credit agreement include $271.8 million of term loan borrowings, 
$125.4 million of incremental term loan borrowings and $8.7 mil-
lion of borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit Facility. 
letters of credit totaling $9.1 million reduced available borrowing 
capacity to $107.2 million. in the future, we may borrow additional 
amounts under the revolving credit Facility to fund our work-
ing capital requirements and capital expenditures, and for other 
general corporate purposes.

We have various federal, state and foreign net operating loss 
(“nol”) carry-forwards that may be used to offset a portion of 
future taxable income to reduce our cash income taxes that would 
otherwise be payable. However, ownership changes, as defined in 
internal revenue code section 382, limit the amount of U.s. nol 
carry-forwards that we can utilize annually to offset future taxable 
income and resulting tax liabilities. We cannot assure you that we 
will be able to use all of our nol carry-forwards to offset future 
taxable income, or that the nol carryforwards will not become 
subject to additional limitations due to future ownership changes. 

as of December 31, 2008, we had U.s. and canadian federal 
nol carry-forwards of approximately $27.9 million, which expire 
at various dates through 2028. We also have tax-affected state 
and canadian provincial nol carry-forwards of approximately 
$1.9 million which will expire in various years through 2028. We 
have reserved approximately $1.4 million with a valuation allow-
ance for the federal and state loss carry-forwards that we do not 
believe we will be able to utilize prior to expiration. additionally, in 
connection with our 2007 acquisition of irm, we acquired approxi-
mately $3.6 million of foreign nol carry-forwards that we do not 
believe we will be able to utilize. accordingly, we also established 
a $1.0 million valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets 
related to these nol carry-forwards. in 2008, we established a 
$1.3 million valuation allowance for foreign interest deductions  
that we do not believe we will be able to utilize.

We have a defined benefit pension plan for certain of our 
current and former U.K. employees. Beginning December 1, 2008, 
future benefits ceased to accrue for the remaining active employee 
participants in the plan concurrent with the establishment of a 
defined contribution plan for these employees. Generally, our 
cash funding policy is to make the minimum annual contributions 
required by applicable regulations. since the plan’s accumulated 
benefit obligations are in excess of the fair value of the plan’s 
assets (by approximately $2.2 million as of December 31, 2008), 
we may be required to use cash from operations above our histori-
cal levels to further fund the plan in the future.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
at December 31, 2008, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are likely to have a material current or future effect  

on our financial statements.
our contractual cash obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2008 are as follows (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Cash Obligations Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter

Long-term Debt $   495.7  $  4.1  $ 12.8  $   4.1  $ 384.9  $   89.8  $  — 
Interest(a) 116.0 28.1 27.9 27.4 27.2 5.4 — 
Operating Leases(b) 48.4 9.0 7.6 5.7 4.8 3.4 17.9 
Unconditional Purchase Obligations(c) 11.2 10.4 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 — 
Estimated Future Pension Benefit Obligations(d) 56.1 3.8 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.4 43.0 

 Total Contractual Cash Obligations  $   727.4  $ 55.4  $ 50.7  $ 39.7  $ 419.5  $ 101.2  $   60.9 

Other Commitments Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter

Letters of Credit $     9.1  $   9.1  $  —  $  —  $    —  $  —  $  — 
Performance Bonds(e) 37.1 37.1 — — — — — 

 Total Other Commitments $  46.2  $ 46.2 $  —  $  —  $    —  $  —  $  — 

(a)  Based on maintaining existing debt balances to maturity. interest on the credit agreement varies with liBor. the December 31, 2008 blended rate of 4.3%, including the 
applicable spread, was used for this calculation.

(b)  We lease property and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases for varying periods. 
(c)  We have long-term contracts to purchase certain amounts of electricity, and a minimum tonnage of salt under a purchase contract with a supplier. the price of the salt is  

dependent on the product purchased and has been estimated based on an average of the prices in effect for the various products at December 31, 2008.
(d)  note 7 to our consolidated financial statements provides additional information.
(e)  note 10 to our consolidated financial statements provides additional information under sales contracts.

our ability to make scheduled payments of principal, to pay the 
interest on, or to refinance our indebtedness, or to fund planned 
capital expenditures will depend on our ability to generate cash in 
the future. this, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, 
financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that 
are beyond our control. Based on our current level of operations, we 
believe that cash flow from operations and available cash, together 
with available borrowings under our revolving credit Facility, will be 
adequate to meet our liquidity needs over the next 12 months.

as a holding company, cmi’s investments in its operating 
subsidiaries constitute substantially all of its assets. consequently, 
our subsidiaries conduct all of our consolidated operations and own 
substantially all of our operating assets. the principal source of the 
cash needed to pay our obligations is the cash generated from our 
subsidiaries’ operations and their borrowings. our subsidiaries are 
not obligated to make funds available to cmi. Furthermore, we 
must remain in compliance with the terms of our senior secured 
credit facilities, including the total leverage ratio and interest cover-
age ratio, in order to make payments on our senior subordinated 
Discount notes or pay dividends to our stockholders. We must also 
comply with the terms of our indenture which limits the amount 
of dividends we can pay to our stockholders. although we are in 
compliance with our debt covenants as of December 31, 2008, we 
cannot assure you that we will remain in compliance with these 
ratios nor can we assure you that the agreements governing the 
current and future indebtedness of our subsidiaries will permit our 
subsidiaries to provide us with sufficient dividends, distributions or 
loans to fund scheduled interest and principal payments on the 

senior subordinated Discount notes, when due. if we consum-
mate an acquisition, our debt service requirements could increase. 
Furthermore, we may need to refinance all or a portion of our 
indebtedness on or before maturity, however we cannot assure 
you that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on 
commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Sensitivity Analysis Related to EBITDA
management uses a variety of measures to evaluate the 
performance of cmp. While the consolidated financial statements, 
taken as a whole, provide an understanding of our overall results 
of operations, financial condition and cash flows, we analyze 
components of the consolidated financial statements to identify 
certain trends and evaluate specific performance areas. in 
addition to using Gaap financial measures, such as gross profit, 
net earnings and cash flows generated by operating activities, 
management uses eBitDa, a non-Gaap financial measure to 
evaluate the operating performance of our core business  
operations because our resource allocation, financing methods 
and cost of capital, and income tax positions are managed 
at a corporate level, apart from the activities of the operating 
segments, and the operating facilities are located in different 
taxing jurisdictions which can cause considerable variation in  
net income. We also use eBitDa to assess our operating  
performance and return on capital against other companies,  
and to evaluate expected returns on potential acquisitions or 
other capital projects. eBitDa is not calculated under Gaap  
and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute 
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for net income, cash flows or other financial data prepared in 
accordance with Gaap or as a measure of our overall profit-
ability or liquidity. eBitDa excludes interest expense, income 
taxes and depreciation and amortization, each of which is an 
essential element of our cost structure and cannot be elimi-
nated. our borrowings are a significant component of our capital 
structure and interest expense is a continuing cost of debt. We 
are also required to pay income taxes, a required and on-going 
consequence of our operations. We have a significant invest-
ment in capital assets and depreciation and amortization reflect 
the utilization of those assets in order to generate revenues. 
consequently, any measure that excludes these elements 
has material limitations. While eBitDa is frequently used as a 
measure of operating performance, this term is not necessarily 
comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies due 
to the potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation. the 
calculation of eBitDa as used by management is set forth in the 
table below (in millions).

 
Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Net earnings  $ 159.5  $  80.0  $ 55.0 
Interest expense 41.6 54.6 53.7 
Income tax expense 67.5  0.1 14.8 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 41.4 40.0 40.5

EBITDA  $ 310.0  $ 174.7  $ 164.0 

eBitDa does however include other items, both cash and 
non-cash in nature, which management believes are not indicative 
of the ongoing operating performance of our core business opera-
tions; these items are included in the following table (in millions). 

 
Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Other non-operating (income) expense:    
Tender and call premiums and fees paid  
to redeem debt $ 5.4 $ 9.4 $ 0.1
Write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees  1.1  1.6 — 
Other, net (0.9) (1.4) (4.2)

Other non-operating (income) expense  $ 5.6  $ 9.6  $ (4.1) 

During 2008, we redeemed $90 million of our 12% senior 
subordinated Discount notes. During 2007, we completed a 
tender offer and redeemed our 12¾% senior Discount notes. We 
expensed $1.1 million in 2008 and $1.6 million in 2007 of deferred 
financing costs and expensed $5.4 million in 2008 and $9.4 million 
in 2007 of call or tender premiums and related fees. eBitDa also 
includes other non-operating income, primarily foreign exchange 
gains (losses) resulting from the translation of intercompany obliga-
tions, interest income and investment income (loss) relating to our 
nonqualified retirement plan totaling $0.9 million, $1.4 million and 
$4.2 million for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Management’s Discussion of Critical Accounting  
Policies and Estimates
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principals requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the reporting date 
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. actual results could vary from these estimates. 
We have identified the critical accounting policies and estimates 
that are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition 
and results of operations. the policies set forth below require 
management’s most subjective or complex judgments, often as a 
result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters 
that are inherently uncertain.

Mineral Interests — as of December 31, 2008, we maintained 
$132.8 million of net mineral properties as a part of property, 
plant and equipment. mineral interests include probable mineral 
reserves. We lease mineral reserves at several of our extraction 
facilities. these leases have varying terms and many provide for a 
royalty payment to the lessor based on a specific amount per ton  
of mineral extracted or as a percentage of revenue.

mineral interests are primarily amortized on a units-of-produc-
tion method based on third-party estimates of recoverable reserves. 
our rights to extract minerals are generally contractually limited by 
time or lease boundaries. if we are not able to continue to extend 
lease agreements, as we have in the past, at commercially 
reasonable terms, without incurring substantial costs or incurring 
material modifications to the existing lease terms and conditions, 
the assigned lives may be less than those projected by manage-
ment, or if the actual size, quality or recoverability of the minerals  
is less than the estimated probable reserves, then the rate of 
amortization could be increased or the value of the reserves could 
be reduced by a material amount.

Income Taxes — Developing our provision for income taxes and 
analyzing our potential tax exposure items requires significant 
judgment and assumptions as well as a thorough knowledge of 
the tax laws in various jurisdictions. these estimates and judg-
ments occur in the calculation of certain tax liabilities and in the 
assessment of the likelihood that we will be able to realize our 
deferred tax assets, which arise from temporary differences 
between the tax and financial statement recognition of revenue 
and expense, carry-forwards and other items. Based on all 
available evidence, both positive and negative, the weight of that 
evidence and the extent such evidence can be objectively verified, 
we determine whether it is more likely than not that all, or a por-
tion of, the deferred tax assets will be realized.

in evaluating our ability to realize our deferred tax assets, we 
consider the sources and timing of taxable income, our ability to 
carry back tax attributes to prior periods, qualifying tax planning, 
and estimates of future taxable income exclusive of reversing 
temporary differences. in determining future taxable income, our 
assumptions include the amount of pre-tax operating income 
according to different federal, international and state taxing 
jurisdictions, the origination of future temporary differences, and 
the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning. these 
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assumptions require significant judgment about material estimates, 
assumptions and uncertainties in connection with the forecasts 
of future taxable income, the merits in tax law and assessments 
regarding previous taxing authorities’ proceedings or written rul-
ings, and, while they are consistent with the plans and estimates 
we use to manage the underlying businesses, differences in our 
actual operating results or changes in our tax planning, tax credits 
or our assessment of the tax merits of our positions could affect 
our future assessments.

as of December 31, 2008 we had $11.0 million of deferred 
tax assets relating to U.s. and foreign nol carry-forwards and 
$19.3 million of alternative minimum tax credit carry-forwards  
that can be used to reduce our future tax liabilities. However, after  
our analysis of the potential realization of our deferred tax assets  
at December 31, 2008, we concluded that a valuation allowance  
of $2.4 million was required related to our U.s. and foreign nol  
carry-forwards because management believes they will not be  
realized. in the future, if we determine, based on the existence  
of sufficient evidence, that more or less of our deferred tax assets 
are more-likely-than-not to be realized, an adjustment to the valua-
tion allowance will be made in the period such a determination is 
made. the actual amount of the deferred tax assets realized could 
ultimately be materially different from those recorded, as impacted 
by changes in income tax laws and actual operating results that 
differ from forecasted amounts.

in addition, the calculation of our tax liabilities involves un-
certainties in the application of complex tax regulations in multiple 
jurisdictions. We recognize potential liabilities in accordance 
with Fin 48 for anticipated tax issues in the U.s. and other tax 
jurisdictions based on our estimate of whether, and the extent to 
which, additional taxes will be due. if payment of these amounts 
ultimately proves to be unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities 
would result in tax benefits being recognized in the period when 
we determine the liabilities are no longer necessary. if our estimate 
of tax liabilities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, a 
further charge to expense would result.

Taxes on Foreign Earnings — our effective tax rate reflects the 
impact of certain undistributed foreign earnings for which no U.s. 
taxes have been provided because such earnings are planned to 
be reinvested indefinitely outside the U.s. most of the amounts 
held outside the U.s. could be repatriated to the U.s., but would be 
subject to U.s. federal income taxes and foreign withholding taxes, 
less applicable foreign tax credits or deductions.

U.K. Pension Plan — We have a defined benefit pension plan 
covering some of our current and former employees in the United 
Kingdom. the U.K. plan was closed to new participants in 1992. as 
we elected to freeze the plan, we ceased to accrue future benefits 
under the plan beginning December 1, 2008. We select our actu-
arial assumptions for our pension plan after consultation with our 
actuaries and consideration of market conditions. these assump-
tions include the discount rate, expected long-term rates of return 
on plan assets and rate of compensation increase which are used 
in the calculation of the actuarial valuation of our defined benefit 
pension plans. if actual conditions or results vary from those 

projected by management, adjustments may be required in future 
periods to meet minimum pension funding, or to increase pension 
expense or our pension liability. an adverse change of 25 basis 
points in our discount rate and return on plan assets assumptions, 
collectively, would cause an increase in our projected benefit obli-
gation as of December 31, 2008 and net periodic pension cost for 
2008 of approximately $2.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

We set our discount rate for the U.K. plan based on a forward  
yield curve for a portfolio of high credit quality bonds with 
expected cash flows and an average duration closely matching 
the expected benefit payments under our plan. the assumption 
for the return on plan assets is determined based on expected 
returns applicable to each type of investment within the portfo-
lio. assumed salary increases are set considering the statutory 
provisions that are used to calculate the actual pension benefits 
in the U.K. our funding policy has been to make the minimum 
annual contributions required by applicable regulations although a 
special payment of $4.0 million was made during the first quarter 
of 2006 to fund the plan for expected benefits payable to former 
employees of the discontinued evaporated salt business that 
was sold December 30, 2005. contributions totaled $2.3 million, 
$1.4 million and $5.5 million during the years ended December 31, 
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. if supplemental benefits were 
approved and granted under the provisions of the plan or if peri-
odic statutory valuations cause a change in funding requirements, 
our contributions could increase to fund all or a portion of those 
benefits. see note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for 
additional discussion of our pension plan.

Other Significant Accounting Policies — other significant 
accounting policies not involving the same level of measurement 
uncertainties as those discussed above are nevertheless important 
to an understanding of our financial statements. policies related to 
revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of 
equity compensation instruments, derivative instruments and envi-
ronmental accruals require difficult judgments on complex matters. 
certain of these matters are among topics frequently discussed by 
accounting standards setters and regulators. 

Effects of Currency Fluctuations and Inflation
in addition to the United states, we conduct operations in canada 
and the United Kingdom. therefore, our results of operations are 
subject to both currency transaction risk and currency translation 
risk. We incur currency transaction risk whenever we or one of our 
subsidiaries enter into either a purchase or sales transaction using 
a currency other than the local currency of the transacting entity. 
With respect to currency translation risk, our financial condition and 
results of operations are measured and recorded in the relevant 
local currency and then translated into U.s. dollars for inclusion in 
our historical consolidated financial statements. exchange rates 
between these currencies and the U.s. dollar have fluctuated 
significantly from time to time and may do so in the future. the 
majority of our revenues and costs are denominated in U.s. dollars, 
with pounds sterling and canadian dollars also being significant. 
We generated 28% of our 2008 sales in foreign currencies, and 
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we incurred 28% of our 2008 total operating expenses in foreign 
currencies. additionally, we have $200.0 million of net assets 
denominated in foreign currencies. the U.s. dollar weakened 
against these currencies from 2004 through the first part of 2008 
which has had a positive impact on our total assets, sales and 
operating earnings. During the latter half of 2008, the U.s. dollar 
strengthened which negatively impacted total assets, sales and 
operating earnings during that period. significant changes in the 
value of the canadian dollar or pound sterling relative to the U.s. 
dollar could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition 
and our ability to meet interest and principal payments on U.s. 
dollar denominated debt, including borrowings under our senior 
secured credit facilities.

although inflation has not had a significant impact on the 
company’s operations, our efforts to recover cost increases due  
to inflation may be hampered as a result of the competitive industry 
in which we operate.

Seasonality
We experience a substantial amount of seasonality in our sales, 
primarily with respect to our deicing products. consequently, sales 
and operating income are generally higher in the first and fourth 
quarters and lower during the second and third quarters of each 
year. in particular, sales of highway and consumer deicing salt and 
magnesium chloride products vary based on the severity of the 
winter conditions in areas where the product is used. Following 
industry practice in north america, we stockpile sufficient quanti-
ties of deicing salt in the second, third and fourth quarters to meet 
the estimated requirements for the winter season.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
During the first quarter of 2008, the FasB issued FasB statement 
no. 161 – “Disclosures about Derivative instruments and Hedging 
activities”. this statement will require holders of derivative instru-
ments to provide qualitative disclosures about objectives and 
strategies for using derivatives, quantitative disclosures about fair 
value amounts of gains and losses from derivative instruments,  
and disclosures about credit-risk-related contingent features in  
derivative agreements. this statement is effective for interim and 
annual periods beginning after november 15, 2008. the adoption  
of this statement will not have any effect on the company’s results 
of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

During the second quarter of 2008, the FasB issued FasB 
staff position eitF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether instruments 
Granted in share-Based payment transactions are participating 
securities” (“Fsp 03-6-1”). Fsp 03-6-1 addresses whether instru-
ments granted in share-based payment transactions are participat-
ing securities prior to vesting, and therefore need to be included in 
the computation of earning per share under the two-class method 
per FasB statement no. 128, “earnings per share.” Fsp 03-6-1 is 
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning 
on or after December 15, 2008 and earlier adoption is prohibited. 
the adoption of this statement will not have a material effect on 
the company’s results of operations.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE  
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

our business is subject to various types of market risks that include, 
but are not limited to, interest rate risk, foreign currency translation 
risk and commodity pricing risk. management may take actions 
to mitigate our exposure to these types of risks including entering 
into forward purchase contracts and other financial instruments. 
However, there can be no assurance that our hedging activities will 
eliminate or substantially reduce these risks. We do not enter into 
any financial instrument arrangements for speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk
as of December 31, 2008 we had $397.2 million of debt outstanding 
under our term loans and $8.7 million outstanding under our 
revolving credit Facility, each bearing interest at variable rates. as 
described in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, we 
are a party to interest rate swap agreements to hedge the variability 
in interest rates relative to $200 million notional amount of our 
term loans and incremental term loan, declining by $50 million in 
2009, $100 million in 2010 with the remaining $50 million maturing 
in 2011. accordingly, our earnings and cash flows will be affected 
by changes in interest rates to the extent the principal balance is 
unhedged. assuming no change in the amount of term loan or 
revolver outstanding, a one hundred basis point increase in the 
average interest rate under these borrowings would increase the 
interest expense related to the unhedged portion of our variable  
rate debt by approximately $2.1 million. actual results may vary due 
to changes in the amount of variable rate debt outstanding.

as of December 31, 2008, substantially all of the investments 
in the U.K. pension plan are in debt securities. changes in interest 
rates could impact the value of the investments in the pension plan.

Foreign Currency Risk
in addition to the United states, we conduct our business in 
canada and the United Kingdom. our operations may, therefore, 
be subject to volatility because of currency fluctuations, inflation 
changes and changes in political and economic conditions in these 
countries. sales and expenses are frequently denominated in local 
currencies and results of operations may be affected adversely as 
currency fluctuations affect our product prices and operating costs 
or those of our competitors. We may engage in hedging operations, 
including forward foreign currency exchange contracts, to reduce 
the exposure of our cash flows to fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates. We will not engage in hedging for speculative 
investment purposes. our historical results do not reflect any 
foreign currency exchange hedging activity. there can be no assur-
ance that any hedging operations will eliminate or substantially 
reduce risks associated with fluctuating currencies. see item 1a, 
“risk Factors — economic and other risks associated with inter-
national sales and operations could adversely affect our business, 
including economic loss and a negative impact on earnings.”

considering our foreign earnings, a hypothetical 10% unfavor-
able change in the exchange rates compared to the U.s. dollar 
would have an estimated $2.2 million impact on operating earnings 
for the year ended December 31, 2008. actual changes in market 
prices or rates will differ from hypothetical changes.
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Commodity Pricing Risk: Commodity Derivative Instruments 
and Hedging Activities
We have a hedging policy to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in 
the price of natural gas. the notional amounts of volumes hedged 
are determined based on a combination of factors including 
estimated natural gas usage, current market prices and historical 
market prices. We enter into contractual natural gas price swaps 
which effectively fix the purchase price of our natural gas require-
ments up to 36 months in advance of the physical purchase of 
the natural gas, and we hedge up to approximately 90% of our 
expected natural gas usage. Because of the varying locations of  
our production facilities, we also enter into basis swap agreements  
to eliminate any further price variation due to local market differ-
ences. We have determined that these financial instruments 
qualify as cash flow hedges under sFas no. 133, “accounting for 
Derivative instruments and Hedging activity,” as amended. as of 
December 31, 2008, the amount of natural gas hedged with deriva-
tive contracts totaled 4.7 million British thermal units, of which 
2.7 million expire within one year and 2.0 million expire in years 
two and three.

excluding natural gas hedged with derivative instruments, a 
hypothetical 10% adverse change in our natural gas prices during 
the year ended December 31, 2008 would have increased our cost 
of sales by approximately $0.8 million. actual results will vary due 
to actual changes in market prices and consumption.

We are subject to increases and decreases in the cost of 
transporting our products due to variations in our contracted  
carriers’ cost of fuel, which is typically diesel fuel. We may engage 
in hedging operations, including forward contracts, to reduce our 
exposure to changes in our transportation cost due to changes 
in the cost of fuel. We will not engage in hedging for speculative 
investment purposes. our historical results do not reflect any fuel 
hedging activity. there can be no assurance that any hedging opera-
tions will eliminate or substantially reduce the risks associated with 
changes in our transportation costs.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
the Board of Directors and stockholders of compass minerals international, inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of compass minerals international, inc. as of December 31, 2008 and 
2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in  
the period ended December 31, 2008. our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed at item 15(a)(2). these financial 
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the company’s management. our responsibility is to express an opinion on these  
financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the public company accounting oversight Board (United states). those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. an audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. an audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

in our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
compass minerals international, inc. at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.s. generally accepted accounting principles. also, 
in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, 
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

as discussed in notes 6 and 7, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements, the company adopted FasB interpretation 
no. 48 “accounting for Uncertain taxes”, effective January 1, 2007, and the recognition and disclosure provisions of Fas 158, “employers’ 
accounting for Defined Benefit pension and other postretirement plans“, effective December 31, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the public company accounting oversight Board (United states), compass 
minerals international, inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in internal 
control—integrated Framework issued by the committee of sponsoring organizations of the treadway commission and our report dated 
February 18, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

ernst & Young llp
Kansas city, missouri
February 18, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
the Board of Directors and stockholders of compass minerals international, inc.

We have audited compass minerals international, inc’s. internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria 
established in internal control — integrated Framework issued by the committee of sponsoring organizations of the treadway commission 
(the coso criteria). compass minerals international, inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying 
management’s report on internal control over Financial reporting. our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the public company accounting oversight Board (United states). those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

a company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. a company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authoriza-
tions of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

in our opinion, compass minerals international, inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the coso criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the public company accounting oversight Board (United states), the 
consolidated balance sheets of compass minerals international, inc. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated 
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 
of compass minerals international, inc. and our report dated February 18, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

ernst & Young llp
Kansas city, missouri
February 18, 2009



compass minerals international, inc. 2008 Form 10-K

 35  

Consolidated Balance Sheets

    December 31,

2008        2007(In millions, except share data)

Assets
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents  $  34.6  $  12.1 

 Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $2.5 in 2008 and $1.8 in 2007 210.4 206.6 
 Inventories 123.3 128.4 
 Deferred income taxes, net 12.5 11.3 
 Other 9.7 7.3 

Total current assets 390.5 365.7 
Property, plant and equipment, net 383.1 396.8 
Intangible assets, net 20.4 22.2 
Other 28.6 35.3 

Total assets  $ 822.6  $ 820.0 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)   
Current liabilities:   
 Current portion of long-term debt  $  4.1  $  4.1 
 Accounts payable 115.4 104.9 
 Accrued expenses 41.0 29.0 
 Accrued salaries and wages 23.1 17.0 
 Income taxes payable 29.8 8.9 
 Accrued interest 2.1 1.2

Total current liabilities 215.5 165.1 
Long-term debt, net of current portion 491.6 602.7 
Deferred income taxes, net 21.6 12.6 
Other noncurrent liabilities 29.4 44.2 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)   
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):   
 Common Stock: $0.01 par value, authorized shares — 200,000,000; issued shares — 35,367,264 0.4 0.4 
 Additional paid-in capital 2.2 1.7 
 Treasury stock, at cost — 2,929,654 shares at December 31, 2008 and 3,025,449 shares at December 31, 2007 (5.6) (5.7 )
 Retained earnings (Accumulated deficit) 68.3 (54.5)
 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (0.8) 53.5 

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 64.5 (4.6)

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)  $ 822.6  $ 820.0 

the accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

  For the Year Ended December 31,

2008       2007       2006(In millions, except share data)

Sales  $ 1,167.7  $ 857.3  $   660.7 
Shipping and handling cost 341.1 252.9 194.6 
Product cost 470.4 392.4 293.0 

 Gross profit 356.2 212.0 173.1 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 82.0  67.7 53.7 

 Operating earnings 274.2 144.3 119.4 
Other expense:   
 Interest expense 41.6  54.6 53.7 
 Other (income) expense, net 5.6  9.6 (4.1)

 Earnings before income taxes 227.0  80.1 69.8 
Income tax expense 67.5  0.1 14.8 

 Net earnings  $  159.5  $ 80.0  $ 55.0 

Basic net earnings per share  $  4.82  $ 2.44  $ 1.70 
Diluted net earnings per share $  4.81 $ 2.43 $ 1.69 

Weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands):
 Basic  33,096  32,811  32,346 
 Diluted 33,166 32,932 32,593 

Cash dividends per share  $  1.34  $ 1.28  $ 1.22 

the accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(In millions)
Common

Stock

Additional
Paid In
Capital

Treasury
Stock

Retained  
Earnings

(Accumulated 
Deficit)

Accumulated  
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss) Total

Balance, December 31, 2005  $ 0.4  $ 1.0  $ (6.7)  $ (115.5)  $  41.7  $ (79.1)
Comprehensive income:
 Net earnings    55.0  55.0 
 Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax of $0.9     (2.0) (2.0 )
 Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges, net of tax of $2.9     (5.2) (5.2 )
 Cumulative translation adjustment     5.6 5.6

Comprehensive income      53.4 
Adjustment for initial adoption of SFAS 158, net of tax of $1.8   (4.3)  (4.3)
Dividends on common stock  (4.6)    (34.9)   (39.5)
Stock options exercised  2.2 0.5   2.7 
Stock-based compensation  1.7    1.7 

Balance, December 31, 2006   0.4 0.3  (6.2)   (95.4) 35.8  (65.1)
Comprehensive income:       
 Net earnings    80.0  80.0 
 Change in unrealized pension costs, net of tax of ($1.8)     4.4 4.4
 Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges, net of tax of $0.1     (0.2)  (0.2)
 Cumulative translation adjustment     13.5 13.5

Comprehensive income      97.7 
Dividends on common stock   (2.9)    (39.1)   (42.0)
Stock options exercised  1.7  0.5   2.2 
Stock-based compensation  2.6    2.6 

Balance, December 31, 2007   0.4 1.7  (5.7)   (54.5) 53.5  (4.6)
Comprehensive income:       
 Net earnings    159.5  159.5
 Change in unrealized pension costs, net of tax of ($0.6)     1.5 1.5
 Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges, net of tax of $4.4     (7.1)  (7.1)
 Cumulative translation adjustment     (48.7) (48.7)

Comprehensive income      105.2
Dividends on common stock   (7.6)  (36.7)   (44.3)
Stock options exercised  4.8  0.1   4.9
Stock-based compensation  3.3    3.3 

Balance, December 31, 2008  $ 0.4  $ 2.2  $ (5.6)  $  68.3  $  (0.8)  $ 64.5

the accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

  For the Year Ended December 31,

2008       2007       2006(In millions)

Cash flows from operating activities: 
 Net earnings  $ 159.5  $ 80.0  $ 55.0
 Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash flows provided by operating activities:
  Depreciation, depletion and amortization 41.4  40.0 40.5 
  Finance fee amortization 1.2 1.3 1.4 
  Loss on early extinguishment of long-term debt 6.5 11.0 0.1 
  Stock-based compensation 3.3 2.6 1.7 
  Accreted interest 8.5 30.4 29.5 
  Deferred income taxes 16.2 (0.3)  (23.2)
  Other, net (0.4) 1.2 0.7 
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:  
  Receivables (11.5)  (89.2) 71.2 
  Inventories (5.7) 22.7  (64.4)
  Other assets (2.8) 0.4 (0.4)
  Accounts payable, income taxes payable and accrued expenses 48.1 37.4  (21.2)
  Other noncurrent liabilities (10.2)  (19.0) 4.7 

Net cash provided by operating activities 254.1  118.5 95.6 

Cash flows from investing activities:   
 Capital expenditures (67.8)  (48.0)  (36.4)
 Acquisition of a business — (7.6) — 
 Other, net 1.1 (0.3) (4.4)

Net cash used in investing activities  (66.7)  (55.9)  (40.8)

Cash flows from financing activities:   
 Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt —  127.0 — 
 Principal payments on long-term debt (94.2)  (153.9)  (45.4)
 Revolver activity, net (23.3) 18.6  (13.9)
 Tender and call premiums and fees paid to redeem debt (5.4) (9.4) (0.1)
 Dividends paid (44.3)  (42.0)  (39.5)
 Proceeds received from stock option exercises 1.8 0.4 0.4 
 Excess tax benefits from stock option exercises 3.1 1.8 2.3 
 Deferred financing costs — (1.6) — 

Net cash used in financing activities  (162.3)  (59.1)  (96.2)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2.6) 1.2 1.7 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 22.5 4.7  (39.7)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 12.1 7.4 47.1 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $   34.6  $ 12.1  $  7.4 

Supplemental cash flow information:   
 Interest paid  $   31.9  $ 28.0  $ 19.9 
 Income taxes paid, net of refunds 26.5 17.7 29.3 

the accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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notes to consolidated Financial statements
 

1. ORGANIZATION AND FORMATION

compass minerals international, inc., through its subsidiaries (“cmp”, 
“compass minerals”, or the “company”), is a producer and 
marketer of inorganic mineral products with manufacturing sites 
in north america and the United Kingdom. its principal products 
are salt, consisting of sodium chloride and magnesium chloride, 
and sulfate of potash (“sop”), a specialty fertilizer. the company 
provides highway deicing products to customers in north america 
and the United Kingdom, and specialty fertilizer to growers world-
wide. the company also produces and markets consumer deicing 
and water conditioning products, ingredients used in consumer and 
commercial foods, and other mineral-based products for consumer, 
agricultural and industrial applications. effective november 2006, 
cmp acquired 100% of Deepstore and in January 2007 cmp 
acquired 100% of interactive records management limited, both 
of which are records management businesses located in the U.K.

compass minerals international, inc. is a holding company with 
no operations other than those of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Until 
December 2007, cmp owned 100% of compass minerals Group, inc. 
(“cmG”), a holding company through which cmp owned its operat-
ing subsidiaries. through December 2007, cmG was also the party to 
the company’s senior secured credit agreement. in December 2007, 
cmG was merged with and into compass minerals international, inc. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Management Estimates — the preparation of financial state- 
ments in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, 
or “Gaap,” requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes. actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

b. Basis of Consolidation — the company’s consolidated 
financial statements include the accounts of compass minerals 
international, inc. and its wholly-owned domestic and foreign 
subsidiaries. all significant intercompany balances and transactions 
have been eliminated in consolidation.

c. Foreign Currency Translation — assets and liabilities are 
translated into U.s. dollars at end of period exchange rates. 
revenues and expenses are translated using the average rates 
of exchange for the year. adjustments resulting from the transla-
tion of foreign-currency financial statements into the reporting 
currency, U.s. dollars, are included in accumulated other compre-
hensive income (loss). aggregate exchange gains (losses) from 
transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional 
currency, which are included in other expense for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, were $0.5 million, $0.1 mil-
lion and $2.3 million, respectively.

d. Revenue Recognition — the company recognizes revenue 
at the time of shipment to the customer, which coincides with the 
transfer of title and risk of ownership to the customer. sales repre-
sent billings to customers net of sales taxes charged for the sale 
of the product. sales include amounts charged to customers for 

shipping and handling costs which are expensed when the related 
product is sold.

e. Cash and Cash Equivalents — the company considers all 
investments with original maturities of three months or less to 
be cash equivalents. the company maintains the majority of its 
cash in bank deposit accounts with several commercial banks with 
high credit ratings in the U.s., canada and europe. typically, the 
company has bank deposits in excess of federally insured limits. 
currently, the company does not believe it is exposed to significant 
credit risk on its cash and cash equivalents.

f. Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful  
Accounts — receivables consist almost entirely of trade accounts 
receivable. trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced 
amount and do not bear interest. the allowance for doubtful 
accounts is our best estimate of the amount of probable credit 
losses in our existing accounts receivable. We determine the allow-
ance based on historical write-off experience by business line. We 
review our past due account balances for collectibility and adjust our 
allowance for doubtful accounts accordingly. account balances are 
charged off against the allowance when the company believes it is 
probable that the receivable will not be recovered. 

g. Inventories — inventories are stated at the lower of cost 
or market. Finished goods and raw material and supply costs are 
valued using the average cost method. raw materials and sup-
plies primarily consist of raw materials purchased to aid in the 
production of our mineral products, maintenance materials and 
packaging materials. Finished goods are comprised of salt, potas-
sium chloride, magnesium chloride and specialty fertilizer products 
readily available for sale. all costs associated with the production of 
finished goods at our producing locations are captured as inventory 
costs. additionally, since our products are often stored at third-party 
warehousing locations, we include in the cost of inventory the 
freight and handling costs necessary to move the product to stor-
age until the product is sold to a customer.

h. Property, Plant and Equipment — property, plant and equip-
ment is stated at cost and includes capitalized interest. the costs 
of replacements or renewals which improve or extend the life 
of existing property are capitalized. maintenance and repairs are 
expensed as incurred. Upon retirement or disposition of an asset, 
any resulting gain or loss is included in operations.

property, plant and equipment also includes mineral interests. 
the company leases probable mineral reserves at several of its 
extraction facilities. these leases have varying terms, and many 
provide for a royalty payment to the lessor based on a specific 
amount per ton of mineral extracted or as a percentage of revenue. 
the company’s rights to extract minerals are contractually limited 
by time. However, the company believes it will be able to continue 
to extend lease agreements as it has in the past, at commercially 
reasonable terms, without incurring substantial costs or mate-
rial modifications to the existing lease terms and conditions, and 
therefore, management believes that assigned lives are appropri-
ate. the company’s leased mineral interests are primarily amortized 
on a units-of-production basis over the respective estimated lives 
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of mineral deposits not to exceed 99 years. the weighted average 
amortization period for these probable mineral reserves is 88 years 
as of December 31, 2008. the company also owns other mineral 
properties. the weighted average life for these probable owned 
mineral reserves is 54 years as of December 31, 2008.

Buildings and structures are depreciated on a straight line 
basis over lives generally ranging from 20 to 40 years. portable 
buildings generally have shorter lives than permanent structures. 
leasehold and building improvements have shorter estimated lives 
of 10 to 40 years or lower based on the life of the lease to which 
the improvement relates.

the company’s other fixed assets are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their respective lives. the following table 
summarizes the estimated useful lives of our property, plant and 
equipment:

Years

Land improvements 10 to 20
Buildings and structures 20 to 40
Leasehold and building improvements 10 to 40
Machinery and equipment — vehicles 3 to 10
Machinery and equipment — other mining and production 10 to 15
Office furniture and equipment 3 to 10
Mineral interests 20 to 99

the company recognizes and measures obligations related 
to the retirement of tangible long-lived assets in accordance with 
statement of Financial accounting standards (sFas) no. 143, 
“accounting for obligations associated with the retirement of 
long-lived assets.” retirement obligations are not material to the 
company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

to review for possible impairments, the company uses 
methodology prescribed in sFas no. 144, “accounting for the 
impairment or Disposal of long-lived assets.” the company 
reviews long-lived assets and the related mineral reserves for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the carrying amounts of such assets may not be recoverable. if 
an indication of a potential impairment exists, recoverability of 
the respective assets is determined by comparing the forecasted 
undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to which the assets 
relate, to the carrying amount, including associated intangible 
assets, of such operation. if the operation is determined to be 
unable to recover the carrying amount of its assets, then intangible 
assets are written down first, followed by the other long-lived 
assets of the operation, to fair value. Fair value is determined based 
on discounted cash flows or appraised values, depending upon the 
nature of the assets.

i. Intangible Assets — the company follows the accounting 
rules for intangible assets as set forth in sFas no. 142. Under  
these rules, intangible assets deemed to have finite lives are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives which, for cmp, range 
from 3 to 25 years. the company reviews its intangible assets for 
impairment when an event or change in circumstances indicates 
the carrying amounts of such assets may not be recoverable.

j. Other Noncurrent Assets — other noncurrent assets include 
deferred financing costs of $7.2 million and $9.5 million as of 
December 31, 2008 and 2007 and accumulated amortization of 

$3.4 million and $3.3 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. in connection with the partial redemption of its 12% 
senior subordinated Discount notes due 2013, the company 
wrote off $1.1 million of its net unamortized deferred financing fees 
which have been included in other (income) expense, net in the 
consolidated statements of operations for 2008. Deferred financing 
costs are being amortized to interest expense over the terms of the 
debt to which the costs relate.

certain inventories of spare parts and related inventory 
of approximately $7.3 million and $6.4 million at December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively, which will be utilized with respect to 
long-lived assets, have been classified in the consolidated Balance 
sheets as other noncurrent assets.

the company sponsors a non-qualified defined contribution 
plan for certain of its executive officers and key employees as 
described in note 7. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, invest-
ments in marketable securities representing amounts deferred by 
employees and company contributions totaling $3.7 million and 
$4.9 million, respectively, were included in other noncurrent assets 
on the consolidated Balance sheets. the marketable securities are 
classified as trading securities and accordingly, gains and losses 
are recorded as a component of other (income) expense, net in the 
consolidated statements of operations.

k. Income Taxes — the company accounts for income taxes 
using the liability method in accordance with the provisions of sFas 
no. 109, “accounting for income taxes.” Under the liability method, 
deferred taxes are determined based on the differences between the 
financial statement and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using 
enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which the differences are 
expected to reverse. the company’s foreign subsidiaries file separate 
company returns in their respective jurisdictions. 

effective January 1, 2007, the company adopted FasB 
interpretation no. 48, “accounting for Uncertainty in income taxes” 
(Fin 48) which requires uncertain tax positions to be recognized 
only if they are more-likely-than-not to be upheld based on their 
technical merits, with measurement based on the largest benefit 
amount that is more-likely-than-not (determined on a cumulative 
probability basis) to be realized upon settlement. the adoption 
of this interpretation had no effect on the company’s results of 
operations or financial condition. any penalties and interest that are 
accrued on the company’s uncertain tax positions are included as a 
component of income tax expense.

the company recognizes potential liabilities in accordance 
with Fin 48 for anticipated tax issues in the U.s. and other tax 
jurisdictions based on its estimate of whether, and the extent to 
which, additional taxes will be due. if payment of these amounts 
ultimately proves to be unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities 
would result in tax benefits being recognized in the period when 
the company determines the liabilities are no longer necessary. if 
the company’s estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less than the 
ultimate assessment, a further charge to expense would result.

in evaluating the company’s ability to realize deferred tax 
assets, the company considers the sources and timing of taxable 
income, including the reversal of existing temporary differences, 
the ability to carryback tax attributes to prior periods, qualifying 
tax-planning strategies, and estimates of future taxable income 
exclusive of reversing temporary differences. in determining future 
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taxable income, the company’s assumptions include the amount  
of pre-tax operating income according to different state, federal and 
international taxing jurisdictions, the origination of future temporary 
differences, and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax-
planning strategies.

if the company determines that a portion of its deferred tax 
assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is recorded in 
the period that such determination is made. in the future, if the 
company determines, based on the existence of sufficient evi-
dence, that more or less of the deferred tax assets are more-likely-
than-not to be realized, an adjustment to the valuation allowance 
will be made in the period such a determination is made.

l. Environmental Costs — environmental costs, other than 
those of a capital nature, are accrued at the time the exposure 
becomes known and costs can be reasonably estimated. costs 
are accrued based upon management’s estimates of all direct 
costs. the company’s environmental accrual was $1.8 million and 
$2.1 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

m. Equity Compensation Plans — the company has equity  
compensation plans under the oversight of the board of directors  
of cmp, whereby stock options and restricted stock units are avail-
able for grant to employees of, consultants to, or directors of cmp. 
effective January 1, 2006 the company adopted Financial accounting 
standards Board (FasB) statement no. 123(r) – “share-Based 
payment” to account for its equity compensation awards using the 
modified prospective transition method. Because the company had 
previously recognized compensation expense for the fair value of its 
stock-based compensation in accordance with sFas 123, the adop-
tion of sFas 123(r) had no impact on the amount of compensation 
expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. 
see note 11 for additional discussion.

n. Earnings per Share — Basic earnings per share is computed 
by dividing net earnings by the weighted-average number of out-
standing common shares during the period including participating 
securities with distribution rights equal to common stockholders. 
Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could 
occur under the treasury stock method of calculating the weighted-
average number of outstanding common shares (i.e. assuming 
unrecognized compensation expense, income tax benefits and 
proceeds from the potential exercise of employee stock options  
are used to repurchase common stock).

o. Derivatives — the company is exposed to the impact of 
fluctuations in the purchase price of natural gas consumed in 
operations. the company hedges portions of its risk of changes 
in natural gas prices through the use of derivative agreements. 
the company also uses interest rate swap agreements to hedge 
the variability of a portion of its future interest payments on its 
variable rate debt. the company accounts for derivative financial 
instruments in accordance with sFas no. 133, “accounting for 
Derivative instruments and Hedging activities,” as amended, 
which requires companies to record derivative financial instru-
ments as assets or liabilities measured at fair value. accounting 
for the changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on its 
designation and effectiveness. Derivatives qualify for treatment as 
hedges when there is a high correlation between the change in fair 
value of the derivative instrument and the related change in value 

of the underlying hedged item. For qualifying hedges, the effective 
portion of the change in fair value is recognized through earnings 
when the underlying transaction being hedged affects earnings, 
allowing a derivative’s gains and losses to offset related results 
from the hedged item on the income statement. For derivative 
instruments that are not accounted for as hedges, or for the 
ineffective portions of qualifying hedges, the change in fair value 
is recorded through earnings in the period of change. companies 
must formally document, designate, and assess the effectiveness 
of transactions that receive hedge accounting initially and on an 
on-going basis. the company does not engage in trading activities 
with its financial instruments.

all of the derivative instruments held by the company as of 
December 31, 2008 and 2007 qualify as cash flow hedges and 
accordingly, the change in fair value of the swaps, net of applicable 
taxes, is recorded to other comprehensive income until the under-
lying transaction affects earnings.

p. Business Acquisitions — prior to november 1, 2006, the 
company owned 50% of minosus, a records management 
and inert waste disposal business located in the U.K. effective 
november 1, 2006, compass acquired 100% of the records 
management business (“Deepstore”), consisting primarily of 
property and equipment with an estimated fair value of $7.3 million 
and a net working capital liability of $0.3 million, in exchange for 
its ownership interest in minosus, which had a carrying value of 
approximately $7.0 million. the results of operations for Deepstore 
have been included in the consolidated statements of operations 
since the date of acquisition.

in January 2007, through Deepstore, we acquired all of the 
outstanding common stock of london-based interactive records 
management limited (irm) for approximately $7.6 million in 
cash with a contingent purchase price adjustment providing up 
to approximately $2.0 million of additional consideration over 
two years. as of December 31, 2007, $0.2 million was accrued 
which was subsequently paid in 2008 related to the contingency 
agreement. the net assets acquired consist of assets valued at 
$9.4 million and assumed liabilities of $1.6 million.

q. Concentration of Credit Risk — the company sells its 
salt and magnesium chloride products to various governmental 
agencies, manufacturers, distributors and retailers primarily in the 
midwestern United states, and throughout canada and the United 
Kingdom. the company’s specialty fertilizer products are sold 
across north america and internationally. no single customer or 
group of affiliated customers accounted for more than 10% of the 
company’s sales in any year during the three year period ended 
December 31, 2008, or more than 10% of accounts receivable at 
December 31, 2008 or 2007.

r. Recent Accounting Pronouncements — During the first 
quarter of 2008, the FasB issued FasB statement no. 161 – 
“Disclosures about Derivative instruments and Hedging activities”. 
this statement will require holders of derivative instruments to 
provide qualitative disclosures about objectives and strategies for 
using derivatives, quantitative disclosures about fair value amounts 
of gains and losses from derivative instruments, and disclosures 
about credit-risk-related contingent features in derivative agree-
ments. this statement is effective for interim and annual periods 
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beginning after november 15, 2008. the adoption of this state-
ment will not have any effect on the company’s results of opera-
tions, financial condition or cash flows.

During the second quarter of 2008, the FasB issued FasB 
staff position eitF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether instruments 
Granted in share-Based payment transactions are participating 
securities” (“Fsp 03-6-1”). Fsp 03-6-1 addresses whether instru-
ments granted in share-based payment transactions are participat-
ing securities prior to vesting, and therefore need to be included in 
the computation of earning per share under the two-class method 
per FasB statement no. 128, “earnings per share.” Fsp 03-6-1 is 
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning 
on or after December 15, 2008 and earlier adoption is prohibited. 
the adoption of this statement will not have a material effect on 
the company’s results of operations.

3. INVENTORIES

inventories consist of the following at December 31 (in millions):

2008 2007

Finished goods $   94.1 $ 105.1 
Raw materials and supplies 29.2 23.3 

 Total inventories $ 123.3 $ 128.4

4. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

property, plant and equipment consists of the following at  
December 31 (in millions):

  2008  2007

Land and buildings $ 190.2 $ 197.7 
Machinery and equipment 381.6 407.2 
Office furniture and equipment 17.7 19.3 
Mineral interests 164.3 181.0 
Construction in progress 36.5 21.6 

 790.3 826.8
Less accumulated depreciation and depletion (407.2) (430.0)

 Property, plant and equipment, net $ 383.1 $ 396.8

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

intangible assets consist primarily of purchased rights to produce 
sop and customer relationships acquired in connection with the 
2007 purchase of irm. the sop production rights and customer 
relationships are being amortized over 25 years and 7 years, 
respectively. the weighted average amortization period for all intan-
gibles is approximately 24 years. none of the intangible assets has 
a residual value. aggregate amortization expense was $1.3 million 
during 2008 and $1.1 million in 2007 and 2006 and is projected 
to be approximately $1.2 million per year over the next five years. 

the intangible asset value and accumulated amortization as of 
December 31, 2008 are as follows (in millions): 

SOP Production 
Rights

Customer 
Relationships Total

Intangible assets $ 24.3 $ 1.8 $ 26.1
Accumulated amortization (5.0) (0.7) (5.7)

 Intangible assets, net $ 19.3 $ 1.1 $ 20.4

as of December 31, 2007, intangible assets included sop 
production rights and a related customer list valued at $24.3 million 
and $2.3 million, respectively, with accumulated amortization of 
$4.0 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

6. INCOME TAXES

the company files U.s., canadian and U.K. tax returns at the 
federal and local taxing jurisdictional levels. the company’s U.s. 
federal tax returns for tax years 2006 forward remain open and 
subject to examination. Generally, the company’s state, local and 
foreign tax returns for years as early as 2002 forward remain open 
and subject to examination, depending on the jurisdiction.

the following table summarizes the company’s income tax 
provision related to earnings for the years ended December 31  
(in millions):

 2008 2007 2006

Current:    
 Federal $ 25.3 $ (6.5) $ 22.2 
 State 5.8 — 1.3 
 Foreign 20.2 6.9 14.5 

  Total current 51.3 0.4 38.0 

Deferred:    
 Federal 10.1 5.3 (19.5)
 State 2.6 1.0 (1.6)
 Foreign 3.5 (6.6) (2.1)

  Total deferred 16.2 (0.3) (23.2)

Total provision for income taxes  $ 67.5  $ 0.1  $ 14.8 

the company’s 2007 tax provision includes tax benefits 
totaling approximately $18.1 million related to items unique to 
2007. in 2007, the company entered into a program with a tax-
ing authority to begin the process of resolving an uncertain tax 
position. communications with the taxing authority have caused 
the company to change its assessment of the measurement of 
uncertain tax positions resulting in the reversal of tax reserves. the 
company also released reserves following the closure of certain 
tax examination years. the company’s 2007 provision also includes 
benefits totaling $1.0 million to reduce net deferred tax liabilities for 
the effects of income tax rate reductions in certain jurisdictions. 
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the following table summarizes components of earnings 
before taxes and shows the tax effects of significant adjustments 
from the expected tax expense computed at the federal statutory 
rate for the years ended December 31 (in millions): 

 2008 2007 2006

Domestic income  $ 169.5  $ 50.8  $ 45.5 
Foreign income 57.5 29.3 24.3 

Earnings before tax 227.0 80.1 69.8 

Computed tax at the federal statutory  
 rate of 35% 79.4 28.0 24.4 
Foreign income, mining, and withholding  
 taxes, net of U.S. federal deduction 1.5 3.5 3.9 
Percentage depletion in excess of basis (12.5) (7.2) (6.9)
Release of previously established  
 foreign tax reserves — (13.0) — 
Domestic tax reserves, net of reversals (2.4) (4.9) 4.1 
State income taxes, net of federal  
 income tax benefit 6.2 0.5 0.1 
Change in valuation allowance on  
 deferred tax assets 0.4 0.2 (7.5)
Interest expense recognition differences (6.3) (4.5) (2.9)
Other 1.2 (2.5) (0.4)

Provision for income taxes  $ 67.5  $ 0.1  $  14.8 

Effective tax rate 30% 0% 21%

Under sFas no. 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized for the estimated future tax effects, based on enacted 
tax law, of temporary differences between the values of assets 
and liabilities recorded for financial reporting and tax purposes, and 
of net operating losses and other carry-forwards. the significant 
components of the company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities 
were as follows at December 31 (in millions):

2008 2007

Current deferred tax assets: 
 Net operating loss carryforwards  $  —  $  2.7 
 Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 2.4 — 
 Accrued expenses 1.7 1.9 
 Other, net 8.4 6.7 

Current deferred tax assets  $ 12.5  $ 11.3 

Non-current deferred taxes:   
 Property, plant and equipment  $ 66.6  $ 71.8 

Total deferred tax liabilities 66.6 71.8 

Deferred tax assets:   
 Net operating loss carryforwards 11.0 16.9 
 Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 16.9 19.9 
 Interest on discount notes 13.5 23.9 
 Other, net 7.3 3.1 

 Subtotal 48.7 63.8 
 Valuation allowance (3.7) (4.6)

Total non-current deferred tax assets 45.0 59.2 

Net non-current deferred tax liabilities  $ 21.6  $ 12.6 

at December 31, 2008, the company had U.s. and canadian 
federal net operating loss (“nol”) carry-forwards of approximately 
$27.9 million which expire at various dates through 2028. ownership 
changes, as defined in internal revenue code section 382, limit 
the amount of U.s. nols that can be utilized annually to offset 
future taxable income and reduce the tax liability. the company 
has previously incurred three ownership changes which has placed 
annual limitations on the amount of utilization of each U.s. nol. the 
company also has tax-affected state and canadian provincial nol 
carry-forwards of approximately $1.9 million which will expire in vari-
ous years through 2028, and, in connection with its 2007 acquisition 
of irm, the company acquired approximately $3.6 million of foreign 
nol carryforwards with no expiration date. the company also 
has a U.s. federal alternative minimum tax credit carry-forward at 
December 31, 2008 of approximately $19.3 million. this credit carry-
forward may be carried forward indefinitely to offset any excess of 
regular tax liability over alternative minimum tax liability.

the company has recorded a valuation allowance for a portion 
of its deferred tax asset relating to net operating loss carryforwards 
that it does not believe will, more-likely-than-not, be realized. as of 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, the company’s valuation allowance 
was $3.7 million and $4.6 million, respectively. the $0.9 million 
decrease in the valuation allowance in 2008 was primarily due to the 
realization of additional nols offset by management’s assessment 
that the company will not be able to realize all of its foreign interest 
deductions. in the future, if the company determines, based on 
existence of sufficient evidence, that it should realize more or less 
of its deferred tax assets, an adjustment to the valuation allowance 
will be made in the period such a determination is made.

the calculation of the company’s tax liabilities involves dealing 
with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations 
in multiple jurisdictions. effective January 1, 2007, the company 
adopted FasB interpretation no. 48, “accounting for Uncertain 
taxes.” the company recognizes potential liabilities for unrecog-
nized tax benefits in the U.s. and other tax jurisdictions in accor-
dance with Fin 48, which requires uncertain tax positions to be 
recognized only if they are more-likely-than-not to be upheld based 
on their technical merits. the measurement of the uncertain tax 
position is based on the largest benefit amount that is more-likely-
than-not (determined on a cumulative probability basis) to be real-
ized upon settlement of the matter. if payment of these amounts 
ultimately proves to be unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities 
would result in tax benefits being recognized in the period when 
the company determines the liabilities are no longer necessary. if 
the company’s estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less than the 
ultimate assessment, a further charge to expense would result. 
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the company’s uncertain tax positions primarily relate to trans-
actions and deductions involving U.s. and canadian operations. if 
favorably resolved, these unrecognized tax benefits would decrease 
the company’s effective tax rate. management expects that there 
will be no uncertain tax positions resolved during the next twelve 
months. the following table shows a reconciliation of the beginning 
and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits (in millions). 

2008 2007

Unrecognized tax benefits:   
 Balance at January 1  $ 25.7  $ 36.4 
 Additions resulting from current year tax positions 0.7 2.4 
 Additions relating to tax positions taken in prior years 2.4 3.2 
 Reductions due to cash payments (2.2) (4.0)
 Reductions relating to tax positions taken in prior years (4.1) (5.8)
 Reductions due to expiration of tax years (4.4) (6.5)

Balance at December 31  $ 18.1  $ 25.7 

the company accrues interest and penalties related to its 
uncertain tax positions within its tax provision. During the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the company accrued 
interest and penalties, net of reversals, of $1.0 million, ($4.8) million 
and $2.7 million, respectively. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
accrued interest and penalties included in the consolidated Balance 
sheets totaled $4.0 million and $4.7 million, respectively.

 the company does not provide U.s. federal income taxes on 
undistributed earnings of foreign companies that are not currently 
taxable in the United states. no undistributed earnings of foreign 
companies were subject to U.s. income tax in the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. total undistributed earnings 
on which no U.s. federal income tax has been provided were 
$147.0 million at December 31, 2008. if these earnings are distrib-
uted, foreign tax credits may become available under current law to 
reduce or possibly eliminate the resulting U.s. income tax liability.

7. PENSION PLANS AND OTHER BENEFITS

the company has a defined benefit pension plan for certain of its 
U.K. employees. Benefits of this plan are based on a combination 
of years of service and compensation levels. this plan was closed 
to new participants in 1992. Beginning December 1, 2008, future 
benefits ceased to accrue for the remaining active employee 
participants in the plan concurrent with the establishment of a 
defined contribution plan for these employees. through may 31, 
2007, the company also had a defined benefit pension plan avail-
able to a limited number of its U.s. employees. the U.s. plan was 
not material in relation to the U.K. plan. effective may 31, 2007, the 
company terminated the U.s. plan and by December 31, 2007 this 
U.s. plan was substantially settled. 

the company’s U.K. investment strategy is to maximize return 
on investments while minimizing risk. this is accomplished by 
investing in high-grade equity and debt securities. the company’s 
portfolio guidelines recommend that equity securities comprise 
approximately 75% of the total portfolio, and that approximately 
25% be invested in debt securities. in early september 2008, the 
company elected to temporarily move the plan’s investments into 
debt securities while it evaluated the investment climate. 

the company expects to return to a greater percentage of equity 
securities in the future as, in management’s judgment, conditions 
warrant. the weighted-average asset allocations by asset category 
are as follows (in millions):

Plan Assets at December 31,

Asset Category 2008 2007

Cash and cash equivalents —  5 %
Equity Securities — 70
Debt Securities 100% 25

Total 100% 100%

the company adopted the recognition and disclosure provi-
sions of sFas 158 for its 2006 annual pension valuation and the 
measurement date provision for its 2008 annual pension valuation. 
the measurement date provision requires that plan assets and  
benefit obligations be measured as of the company’s fiscal year 
end date. the company had previously measured its plan assets 
and benefit obligation as of november 30 of each year. the adop-
tion of the measurement provisions of sFas 158 was not material 
to the company’s consolidated Financial statements. 

as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, amounts recognized in 
accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, consisted  
of actuarial net losses of $3.7 million and $5.2 million, respectively.

the assumptions used in determining pension information for 
the plans for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Discount rate 5.80% 5.80% 5.00%
Expected return on plan assets 6.00 7.00 6.60
Rate of compensation increase N/A 3.30 2.75

the overall expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 
is a weighted-average expectation based on the targeted and 
expected portfolio composition. the company considers historical 
performance and current benchmarks to arrive at expected  
long-term rates of return in each asset category. the company 
determines its discount rate based on a forward yield curve for  
a portfolio of high credit quality bonds with expected cash flows 
and an average duration closely matching the expected benefit 
payments under our plan. 

the company’s funding policy is to make the minimum 
annual contributions required by applicable regulations. 
management expects total contributions during 2009 will be 
approximately $3.8 million, unless a supplemental funding is 
assessed as discussed below. 

the U.K. pension plan includes a provision whereby supple-
mental benefits may be available to participants under certain 
circumstances after case review and approval by the plan trustees. 
Because instances of this type of benefit have historically been  
infrequent, the development of the projected benefit obligation 
and net periodic pension cost has not provided for any future 
supplemental benefits. if additional benefits are approved by the 
trustees, it is likely that an additional contribution would be required 
and the amount of incremental benefits would be expensed by  
the company. 
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the following benefit payments, which reflect expected future 
service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid (in millions):

Calendar Year
Future Expected 

Benefit Payments

2009 $ 3.8
2010 2.2
2011 2.3
2012 2.4
2013 2.4
2014-2018 13.4

the following table sets forth pension obligations and plan 
assets for the company’s defined benefit plans, based on a 
november 30 and December 31 measurement date in 2007 and 
2008, respectively, as of December 31 (in millions):

2008 2007

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation as of January 1 $ 80.5 $ 86.4
Service cost 0.5 0.8
Interest cost 4.4 4.3
Termination benefits — 0.6
Actuarial (gain) or loss (5.4) (6.0)
Benefits paid (3.5) (7.0)
Currency fluctuation adjustment (20.6) 1.2
Employee contributions 0.2 0.2

Benefit obligation as of December 31 56.1 80.5

Change in plan assets:
Fair value as of January 1 75.0 74.9
Actual return (0.5) 4.6
Company contributions 2.3 1.4
Currency fluctuation adjustment (19.6) 0.9
Benefits paid (3.5) (7.0)
Employee contributions 0.2 0.2

Fair value as of December 31 53.9 75.0

Funded status of the plans $  (2.2) $  (5.5)

the underfunded status of the plan for the defined pension plan 
which was recorded in the consolidated Balance sheets included 
$2.2 million in accrued expenses for 2008 and $1.5 million in accrued 
expenses and $4.0 million in noncurrent liabilities in 2007. the 
accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan 
was $56.0 million and $77.7 million as of December 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively. the accumulated benefit obligation is in excess of 
the plan’s assets. the components of net pension expense were as 
follows for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2008 2007 2006

Service cost for benefits earned during the year $  0.5 $  0.8 $  0.9
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 4.4 4.3 3.8
Termination benefits — 0.6 —
Return on plan assets (4.8) (4.9) (4.4)
Net amortization — 0.5 0.3
Other — 0.1 —

Net pension expense $  0.1 $  1.4 $  0.6

the company has defined contribution and pre-tax savings 
plans (savings plans) for certain of its employees. Under each of 
the savings plans, participants are permitted to defer a portion of 
their compensation. company contributions to the savings plans 
are based on a percentage of employee contributions. additionally, 

certain of the company’s savings plans have a profit sharing 
feature for salaried and non-union hourly employees. the company 
contribution to the profit-sharing feature is based on the employee’s 
age and pay and the company’s financial performance. expense 
attributable to all savings plans was $10.1 million, $5.9 million and 
$5.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.

the savings plans include a non-qualified plan for certain of 
its executive officers and key employees who are limited in their 
ability to participate in qualified plans due to existing regulations. 
these employees are allowed to defer a portion of their compensa-
tion, upon which they will be entitled to receive company matching 
contributions based on a percentage of their deferred salary, profit 
sharing contributions and any investment income (loss) that would 
have been credited to their account had the contributions been 
made according to employee-designated investment specifica-
tions. although not required to do so, the company actually invests 
amounts equal to the salary deferrals, the corresponding company 
match and profit sharing amounts according to the employee-desig-
nated investment specifications. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
investments in marketable securities totaling $3.7 million and $4.9 
million, respectively, were included in other noncurrent assets with a 
corresponding deferred compensation liability included in other non-
current liabilities on the consolidated Balance sheets. compensation 
expense (reduction) recorded for this plan totaled $(1.3) million, 
$0.7 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 
2007 and 2006, respectively, including amounts attributable  
to investment income (loss) of $(1.5) million, $0.3 million and 
$0.5 million, respectively, which is included in other (income) 
expense, net on the consolidated statements of operations.

8. LONG TERM DEBT

During 2005, the company entered into a $475 million senior 
secured credit agreement (“credit agreement”) with a syndicate 
of financial institutions, amending and restating previously existing 
credit facilities. the credit agreement included a $350 million 
term loan (“term loan”) and a $125 million revolving credit facility 
(“revolving credit Facility” or “revolver”). During 2007, the 
company amended the credit agreement and borrowed an addi-
tional $127.0 million under an incremental term loan (“incremental 
term loan”).

the term loan and incremental term loan are due in 
quarterly installments of principal and interest and mature 
in December 2012. the scheduled principal payments total 
$4.1 million annually but the loans may be prepaid proportion-
ately at any time without penalty. the $125 million revolving 
credit Facility matures in December 2010. Under the revolving 
credit Facility, $40 million may be drawn in canadian dollars 
and $10 million may be drawn in British pounds sterling. 
additionally, the revolver includes a sub-limit for short-term 
letters of credit in an amount not to exceed $50 million. as of 
December 31, 2008, after deducting outstanding letters of credit 
totaling $9.1 million, the company’s borrowing availability was 
$107.2 million. the company incurs participation fees related 
to its outstanding letters of credit and commitment fees on its 
available borrowing capacity. the rates vary depending on the 
company’s leverage ratio. Bank fees are not material.



compass minerals international, inc. 2008 Form 10-K

  46

interest on the credit agreement is variable, based on 
either the eurodollar rate (liBor) or a Base rate (defined as the 
greater of a specified U.s. or canadian prime lending rate or the 
federal funds effective rate, increased by 0.5%) plus a margin 
which is dependent on upon the company’s leverage ratio. as 
of December 31, 2008, the weighted average interest rate on all 
borrowings outstanding under the credit agreement was 4.30%. 

the company has interest rate swap agreements to effectively 
fix the interest rate on a combined $200 million of its term loan 
and incremental term loan at a weighted average rate of 6.4%. 
these swaps are discussed further in note 9.

in october 2007, the company used the proceeds of its 
incremental term loan and completed a tender offer to redeem 
$120.0 million face amount of its 12¾% senior Discount notes 
due 2012 with an accreted value of $118.0 million for $126.9 million, 
including a consent payment. in December 2007, the company 
called the remaining $3.5 million of these notes for $3.7 million. 
the $9.4 million premium paid for these redemptions and the 
write-off of $1.6 million of remaining unamortized deferred 
financing fees is included in other (income) expense, net in  
the consolidated statements of operations for 2007.

the company’s senior subordinated discount notes due 2013 
(“subordinated Discount notes”) accreted non-cash interest at an 
annual rate of 12% through June 1, 2008, thereby increasing the 
aggregate principal balance of the notes to $179.6 million by June 1, 
2008. in 2008, the company called $90.0 million of its senior 
subordinated Discount notes due 2013. in connection with the 
transactions, the company recorded a loss on the extinguishment 
of debt of $6.5 million, which included call premiums of $5.4 million 
and the write-off of deferred financing fees of $1.1 million.

the credit agreement and the indenture governing the 
subordinated Discount notes limit the company’s ability, among 
other things, to: incur additional indebtedness or contingent 
obligations; pay dividends or make distributions to stockholders; 
repurchase or redeem stock; make investments; grant liens; make 
capital expenditures; enter into transactions with stockholders and 
affiliates; sell assets; and acquire the assets of, or merge or con-
solidate with, other companies. the credit agreement is secured 
by all existing and future assets of the company’s subsidiaries. 
additionally, it requires the company to maintain certain financial 
ratios including a minimum interest coverage ratio and a maximum 
total leverage ratio. as of December 31, 2008, the company was in 
compliance with each of its covenants.

the notes in the table below are listed in order of subordina-
tion with all notes subordinate to the credit agreement borrowings. 
third-party long-term debt consists of the following at December 31 
(in millions):

2008  2007

12% Subordinated Discount Notes due 2013  $  89.8  $ 171.4 
Term Loan due 2012 271.8 274.6 
Incremental Term Loan due 2012 125.4 126.7 
Revolving Credit Facility due 2010 8.7 34.1 

 495.7 606.8
Less current portion (4.1) (4.1)

 Long-term debt $ 491.6 $ 602.7

Future maturities of long-term debt for the years ending 
December 31, are as follows (in millions):

 Debt Maturity

2009 $ 4.1 
2010 12.8 
2011 4.1 
2012 384.9 
2013 89.8 
Thereafter — 

 Total  $ 495.7

9.  DERIVATIVES AND FAIR VALUES OF  
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

natural gas is used at several of the company’s evaporated salt 
production facilities. the company enters into natural gas swap 
agreements to hedge its risk of natural gas commodity price 
changes. the company also has interest rate swap agreements to 
hedge its risk of changing interest rates relative to its variable rate 
debt under the credit agreement. all derivative instruments held by 
the company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 qualified as cash 
flow hedges and any ineffectiveness related to these hedges was 
not material for any of the years presented. the company does not 
engage in trading activities with these financial instruments.

as of December 31, 2008, the company had natural gas swap 
agreements outstanding to hedge a portion of its natural gas pur-
chase requirements through november 2011. as of December 31, 
2008 and 2007, the company had agreements in place to hedge 
natural gas purchases of 4.7 and 2.7 million British thermal units, 
respectively. Unrealized losses related to these contracts totaled 
$7.8 million and $1.0 million for 2008 and 2007, respectively. the 
derivative liabilities are included in other current liabilities on the 
consolidated Balance sheets with the corresponding unrealized 
loss included in other comprehensive income, net of tax. During 
2008, 2007 and 2006, $1.9 million, $5.6 million and $4.7 million, 
respectively, of losses were recognized through cost of sales 
related to natural gas and basis swap agreements. as of December 
31, 2008, approximately $6.1 million of unrealized losses relate to 
contracts scheduled to settle during 2009.

to hedge the variability of future interest payments on credit 
agreement borrowings (discussed in note 8), the company has 
interest rate swap agreements to effectively fix the liBor-based 
portion of its interest rate on $200 million of debt at 4.79%. the 
notional amount of the swap decreases by $50 million in march 
2009, $100 million in march 2010, with the final $50 million 
expiring in march 2011. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, a 
derivative liability of $8.9 million and $4.2 million, respectively, was 
included in accrued expenses on the consolidated Balance sheets 
with the corresponding unrealized gain or loss included in other 
comprehensive income, net of tax. the company recognized net 
losses from these swaps totaling $2.6 million as additional interest 
expense in 2008 and net gains of $1.0 million as a reduction to 
interest expense in 2007. as of December 31, 2008, approximately 
$5.8 million of unrealized losses relate to interest payments sched-
uled to occur during 2009.

cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable (net of reserve  
for bad debts) and payables are carried at cost, which approximates  
fair value due to the liquid and short-term nature of the 



compass minerals international, inc. 2008 Form 10-K

 47  

instruments. the company’s investments related to its nonqualified 
retirement plan of $3.7 million and $4.9 million as of December 31, 
2008 and 2007 are stated at fair value based on quoted market 
prices. as of December 31, 2008, the estimated fair value of the 
fixed-rate notes payable, based on available trading information, 
totaled $87.1 million compared with the aggregate principal amount 
at maturity of $89.8 million. the fair value at December 31, 2008 
of amounts outstanding under the credit agreement, based 
upon available information, totaled approximately $320.7 million 
compared with the aggregate principal amount at maturity of 
$405.9 million. the fair values of our interest rate swap and natural 
gas contracts are based on forward yield curves and rates for 
notional amounts maturing in each respective time-frame.

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Contingent Obligations
the company is involved in legal and administrative proceedings 
and claims of various types from normal company activities.

the company is aware of an aboriginal land claim filed by 
the chippewas of nawash and the chippewas of saugeen (the 
“chippewas”) in the ontario superior court against the attorney 
General of canada and Her majesty the Queen in right of ontario. 
the chippewas claim that a large part of the land under lake 
Huron was never conveyed by treaty and therefore belongs to 
the chippewas. the land claimed includes land under which the 
company’s Goderich mine operates and has mining rights granted 
to it by the government of ontario. the company is not a party to 
this court action. 

similar claims are pending with respect to other parts of the 
Great lakes by other aboriginal claimants. the company has been 
informed by the ministry of the attorney General of ontario that 
“canada takes the position that the common law does not recognize 
aboriginal title to the Great lakes and its connecting waterways.”

the Wisconsin Department of agriculture, trade and 
consumer protection (“Datcp”) has information indicating that 
agricultural chemicals are present in the groundwater in the vicinity 
of the Kenosha, Wisconsin plant. Datcp directed us to conduct an 
investigation into the possible presence of agricultural chemicals in 
soil and groundwater at the Kenosha plant. We have completed the 
investigation of the soils and groundwater at the Kenosha site and 
remitted the findings to Datcp. Datcp has reviewed those findings 
and deferred our liability exemption request to the Wisconsin 
Department of natural resource (“Dnr”). We expect the Dnr 
to make a determination in 2009. if required, we would conduct 
all phases of any investigation and any required remediation work 
under the Wisconsin agricultural chemical cleanup program, which 
would provide for reimbursement of some of the costs. none of 
the identified contaminants have been used in association with 
compass minerals site operations. We would expect to seek par-
ticipation by, or cost reimbursement from, other parties responsible 
for the presence of any agricultural chemicals found in soils at this 
site if we do not receive the liability exemption and are required to 
conduct further investigation or remedial actions.

the company does not believe that these actions will have 
a material adverse financial effect on the company. Furthermore, 
while any litigation contains an element of uncertainty, manage-
ment presently believes that the outcome of each such proceeding 

or claim which is pending or known to be threatened, or all of them 
combined, will not have a material adverse effect on the company’s 
results of operations, cash flows or financial position. 

approximately 30% of our U.s. workforce and 70% of our 
global workforce is represented by labor unions. of our nine material 
collective bargaining agreements, four will expire in 2009, three will 
expire in 2010 and two will expire in 2011. additionally, approximately 
9% of our workforce is employed in europe where trade union mem-
bership is common. We consider our labor relations to be good.

Commitments
Leases — the company leases certain property and equipment 
under non-cancelable operating leases for varying periods. the 
aggregate future minimum annual rentals under lease arrange-
ments as of December 31, 2008 are as follows (in millions):

 Operating Leases

2009  $ 9.0 
2010 7.6 
2011 5.7 
2012 4.8 
2013 3.4 
Thereafter 17.9 

Total  $ 48.4 

rental expense, net of sublease income, was $11.8 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2008 and $10.0 million for 2007 and 
$9.3 million for 2006, respectively.

Royalties — the company has various private, state and canadian 
provincial leases associated with the salt and specialty potash 
businesses, most of which are renewable by the company. many 
of these leases provide for a royalty payment to the lessor based 
on a specific amount per ton of mineral extracted or as a percent-
age of revenue. royalty expense related to these leases was 
$11.3 million, $7.5 million and $6.4 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Sales Contracts —  the company has various salt and other 
deicing-product sales contracts that include performance provisions 
governing delivery and product quality. these sales contracts either 
require the company to maintain performance bonds for stipulated 
amounts or contain contractual penalty provisions in the event of 
non-performance. For the three years ended December 31, 2008, 
the company has had no material penalties related to these sales 
contracts. at December 31, 2008, the company had approximately 
$37.1 million of outstanding performance bonds.

Purchase Commitments —  in connection with the operations of 
the company’s facilities, the company purchases electricity, other 
raw materials and services from third parties under contracts, 
extending, in some cases, for multiple years. purchases under 
these contracts are generally based on prevailing market prices. 
the company’s future minimum long-term purchase commitments 
are approximately $0.2 million annually through 2013.

Purchase Agreement —  as of December 31, 2008, the company 
had approximately $0.9 million of deferred gain remaining from 
an amendment to an agreement with a supplier related to the 
purchase of salt from the supplier’s chemical production facility in 
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tennessee. During 2002 the company received a one-time cash 
payment of $8.0 million related to the amendment. the gain is 
being amortized ratably through December 2009, as certain condi-
tions are met by the company and supplier. During 2008, 2007  
and 2006, the company recorded a reduction to cost of sales  
of approximately $0.9 million each year as the ratable portions  
of the gain were realized. if the company were to elect to resume 
purchasing salt from the supplier’s facility, the company would 
repay a ratable portion of the cash received.

11. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

the company paid dividends of $1.34 per share in 2008 and intends 
to continue paying quarterly cash dividends. the declaration and 
payment of future dividends to holders of the company’s common 
stock will be at the discretion of its board of directors and will 
depend upon many factors, including the company’s financial condi-
tion, earnings, legal requirements, restrictions in its debt agreements 
(see note 8) and other factors its board of directors deems relevant.

Under the compass minerals international, inc. Directors’ 
Deferred compensation plan as amended, adopted effective 
october 1, 2004, non-employee directors may defer all or a portion 
of the fees payable for their service, which deferred fees are con-
verted into units equivalent to the value of the company’s common 
stock. additionally, as dividends are declared on the company’s 
common stock, these units are entitled to accrete dividends in the 
form of additional units based on the stock price on the dividend 
payment date. accumulated deferred units are distributed in the 
form of company common stock following resignation from the 
Board. During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 
2006, members of the board were credited with 12,965, 16,573 
and 18,518 deferred stock units, respectively. During those same 
years, 631, 4,076 and 2,820 shares of common stock respectively, 
were issued from treasury shares to retiring directors.

Stock Options
through December 31, 2004, non-qualified stock options were 
granted under the company’s 2001 stock option plan. these 
options were issued to eligible persons as determined by the 
company’s board of directors and included employees and direc-
tors. these options vest ratably, in tranches over three to four 
years, depending on the individual option agreement. options 
granted to members of the board of directors vested at the time 
of grant. these options expire on the thirtieth day immediately 
following the eighth anniversary of issuance. no further option 
grants can be made under this plan. 

in 2005, compass adopted a new equity compensation plan 
(“2005 plan”) for executive officers, other key employees and 
directors allowing grants of equity instruments, including restricted 
stock units (“rsUs”) and stock options, with respect to 3,240,000 
shares of cmp common stock. the right to make awards expires 
in 2015. the grants occur following formal approval by the board of 
directors or on the date of hire if granted to a new employee, with 
the amount and terms communicated to employees shortly there-
after. the company does not back-date awards. the exercise price 
of options is equal to the closing stock price on the day of grant. 

the grants of rsUs vest after three years of service entitling 
the holders to one share of common stock for each vested rsU. 
the unvested rsUs do not have voting rights but are entitled to 
receive non-forfeitable dividends or other distributions that may 
be declared on the company’s common stock equal to, and at the 
same time as, the per share dividend declared.

stock options granted under the 2005 plan generally vest 
ratably, in tranches, over a four-year service period. Unexercised 
options expire after seven years. Upon vesting, each option can be 
exercised to purchase one share of the company’s common stock. 
While the option holders are not entitled to vote, each option 
holder is entitled to receive non-forfeitable dividends or other 
distributions declared on the company’s common stock equal  
to, and at the same time as, the per share dividend declared.

the following is a summary of cmp’s stock option and  
rsU activity and related information for the following periods:

 
Number  

of options

Weighted- 
average  

exercise price
Number  
of RSUs

Weighted- 
average  

fair value

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 757,901 $   7.60 14,000 $ 23.47 
 Granted 248,800 26.08 58,900 26.11 
 Exercised(a)  (259,979) 1.44 — — 
 Cancelled/Expired (540) 5.17 — — 

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 746,182 15.91 72,900 25.60 
 Granted 146,475 33.58 48,625 33.58 
 Exercised(a)  (240,616) 1.65 — — 
 Cancelled/Expired — — — — 

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 652,041 25.15 121,525 28.80 
 Granted 105,550 55.65 33,400 55.67 
 Exercised(a) (83,119) 20.38 — — 
 Released from restriction —  — (14,000) 23.47 
 Cancelled/Expired (5,722) 4.07 (232) 45.78 

Outstanding at December 31, 2008 668,750  $ 30.66 140,693  $ 35.68 

(a) common stock issued for exercised options were all issued from treasury stock.

the company expenses the fair value of its options over the 
vesting period using the straight line method. to estimate the fair 
value of options on the day of grant, the company uses the Black 
scholes option valuation model. award recipients are grouped 
according to expected exercise behavior. Unless better informa-
tion is available to estimate the expected term of the options, the 
estimate is based on historical exercise experience. the risk-free 
rate, using U.s. treasury yield curves in effect at the time of 
grant, is selected based on the expected term of each group. 
cmp’s historical stock price is used to estimate expected volatil-
ity. the weighted average assumptions and fair values for options 
granted for each of the years ended December 31 is included in 
the following table. 

 2008 2007 2006

Fair value of options granted  $  16.54  $  10.72  $  8.51 
Expected term (years) 5.2 5.3 5.5 
Expected volatility 27.9% 24.3% 24.2%
Dividend yield(a) 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rates 2.4% 4.5% 4.6%

(a)  the assumed yield reflects the non-forfeiting dividend feature for awards under the  
2005 plan.
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the following table summarizes information about options 
outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2008. as of 
December 31, 2007, there were 652,041 options outstanding  
of which 297,516 were exercisable.

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of  
exercise prices

Options 
Outstanding

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual  
life (years)

Weighted 
average 
exercise  
price of  
options 

outstanding
Options 

exercisable

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 
life (years)

Weighted 
average 
exercise  
price of 

exercisable 
options

$1.40 - $16.47 17,755 1.8 $ 3.23 17,755 1.8 $ 3.23 
$16.48 - $28.31 402,217 4.0 24.29 268,342 3.9 23.54
$28.32 - $36.00 143,650 5.2 33.58 34,018 5.2 33.59
$36.01 - $55.12 100,853 6.3 55.08 — — —
$55.13 - $78.53 4,275 9.6 69.23 — — — 

Totals 668,750 4.6 $ 30.66 320,115 3.9 $ 23.48 

During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
the company recorded compensation expense of $3.0 million, 
$2.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively, related to its stock-based 
compensation awards that are expected to vest. no amounts have 
been capitalized. as of December 31, 2008, unrecorded compensa-
tion cost related to non-vested awards of $4.9 million is expected 
to be recognized from 2009 through 2012, with a weighted average 
period of 1.1 years.

the intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2008 totaled approximately 
$3.3 million. as of December 31, 2008, the intrinsic value of 
options outstanding aggregated approximately $18.8 million, of 
which 320,115 options with an intrinsic value of $11.3 million were 
exercisable. the number of shares held in treasury is sufficient to 
cover all outstanding equity awards as of December 31, 2008.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
the components of accumulated other comprehensive income,  
net of related taxes, are summarized as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2008 2007 2006

Unrealized net pension costs  $ (3.7)  $ (5.2)  $  (9.6)
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges (10.3) (3.2) (3.0)
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments 13.2 61.9 48.4 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  $  (0.8)  $  53.5  $ 35.8 

see note 9 for a discussion of the company’s cash flow 
hedges and note 7 for a discussion of the company’s defined 
benefit pension plans.

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

the company adopted FasB statement no. 157 — “Fair Value 
measurements” effective January 1, 2008 for its financial instru-
ments that are measured and reported at estimated fair value and 
applied on a prospective basis. Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction. this statement did not have a material effect on the 
company’s financial statements. When available, the company 
uses quoted prices in active markets to determine the fair values 
for its financial instruments (“level one” inputs), or absent quoted 
market prices, observable market-corroborated inputs over the 
term of the financial instruments (“level two” inputs).

the company holds marketable securities associated with 
its non-qualified savings plan which are valued based on readily 
available quoted market prices. additionally, the company utilizes 
derivative instruments to manage its risk of changes in natural gas 
prices and interest rates. the fair values of the derivative instru-
ments are determined primarily using observable yield curves or 
other market-corroborated data matching the terms of the deriva-
tives (level two inputs). the estimated fair values for each type of 
instrument are presented below (in millions).

December 31, 2008 Level One Level Two

Assets:
 Marketable securities $    3.7 $ 3.7 $  —  

 Total Assets $    3.7  $  3.7 $  —  

Liabilities:
 Liabilities related to non-qualified  
  savings plan $   (3.7) $ (3.7) $  — 
 Derivatives — natural gas swaps (7.8) — (7.8)
 Derivatives — interest rate swaps (8.9) — (8.9)

 Total Liabilities $ (20.4) $ (3.7) $ (16.7)

13. OPERATING SEGMENTS

the company’s reportable segments are strategic business units 
that offer different products and services. they are managed 
separately because each business requires different technology 
and marketing strategies. the company has two reportable 
segments: salt and specialty fertilizer. the salt segment produces 
salt and magnesium chloride for use in road deicing and dust 
control, food processing, water softeners, pool salt and agricul-
tural and industrial applications. We also purchase potassium 
chloride to sell as a finished product. sulfate of potash crop 
nutrients and industrial grade sop are produced and marketed 
through the specialty fertilizer segment.

the accounting policies of the segments are the same 
as those described in the summary of significant accounting 
policies. all intersegment sales prices are market-based. the 
company evaluates performance based on operating earnings  
of the respective segments.
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as discussed in note 2, prior to november 1, 2006, the 
company owned 50% of a document storage and inert waste 
disposal business in the U.K. known as minosus. effective 
november 1, 2006, the company acquired 100% of the document 
storage business (“Deepstore”) in exchange for its 50% ownership 
interest in minosus, which continues to operate an inert waste 
disposal business. Deepstore conducts document storage and 
retrieval services utilizing certain excavated portions of our salt 
mine in Winsford, cheshire. the Deepstore business was valued 
at approximately $7.0 million. in January 2007, Deepstore acquired 
all of the outstanding common stock of london-based interactive 
records management limited (irm) for approximately $7.6 million 
in cash. Deepstore’s assets and results of operations appear in 
“corporate and other” in the tables below. 

During 2006, the company recognized $5.1 million of 
proceeds from a business interruption insurance recovery. the 
“business interruption claim was due to a temporary production 
interruption at the Goderich mine in late 2004 that resulted in 
reduced sales during the first quarter of 2005. the proceeds were 
recorded as a reduction to product costs of the salt segment.

segment information as of and for the years ended 
December 31, is as follows (in millions):

2008 Salt
Specialty  
Fertilizer

Corporate  
& Other (a) Total

Sales to external customers  $ 923.3  $ 232.9  $ 11.5  $ 1,167.7 
Intersegment sales  0.4 22.4 (22.8)   — 
Shipping and handling cost 318.3 22.8  — 341.1 
Operating earnings (loss) 191.7 117.7 (35.2) 274.2 
Depreciation, depletion  
 and amortization 28.9  10.2  2.3 41.4 
Total assets 592.5 183.0 47.1 822.6 
Capital expenditures 43.7  19.4  4.7 67.8 

2007 Salt
Specialty  
Fertilizer

Corporate  
& Other (a) Total

Sales to external customers  $ 710.7  $ 136.1  $ 10.5  $ 857.3 
Intersegment sales  0.4 15.4 (15.8)   — 
Shipping and handling cost 232.9 20.0  — 252.9 
Operating earnings (loss) 138.7 35.6 (30.0) 144.3 
Depreciation, depletion  
 and amortization 29.6  9.5  0.9 40.0 
Total assets 600.5 152.2 67.3 820.0 
Capital expenditures 33.7  9.9  4.4 48.0 

2006 Salt
Specialty   
Fertilizer

Corporate  
& Other (a) Total

Sales to external customers  $ 549.6  $ 110.3  $ 0.8  $ 660.7 
Intersegment sales  — 13.1 (13.1)  — 
Shipping and handling cost 179.2 15.4  — 194.6 
Operating earnings (loss) 114.4 30.5 (25.5) 119.4 
Depreciation, depletion  
 and amortization 31.5  8.9  0.1 40.5 
Total assets 512.3 145.2 58.0 715.5 
Capital expenditures 24.1 11.4  0.9 36.4 

(a)  other includes corporate entities, Deepstore and eliminations. corporate assets 
include deferred tax assets, deferred financing fees, investments related to the non-
qualified retirement plan and other assets not allocated to the operating segments.

Financial information relating to the company’s operations  
by geographic area for the years ended December 31 is as follows 
(in millions):

Sales 2008 2007 2006

United States  $    844.5  $ 616.7  $ 470.9 
Canada 245.5 193.4 149.0 
United Kingdom 56.0 42.4 40.8 
Other 21.7  4.8  — 

 Total sales  $ 1,167.7  $ 857.3  $ 660.7 

Financial information relating to the company’s long-lived 
assets, including deferred financing costs and other long-lived 
assets but excluding the investments related to the nonqualified 
retirement plan, by geographic area as of December 31 (in millions):

Long-Lived Assets 2008 2007

United States  $ 250.9  $ 246.0 
Canada 128.2 140.8 
United Kingdom 49.3 62.6 

 Total long-lived assets  $ 428.4  $ 449.4 

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

as discussed in note 11, as of December 31, 2008, the company 
has 533,628 stock options and 140,693 restricted stock units 
outstanding which are entitled to receive non-forfeitable dividends. 
Because these securities have dividend and/or distribution rights 
equal to those of our common stockholders, the securities have 
been included in the calculation of basic earnings per share.
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the following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share (in millions, except for share and  
per share data):

Year ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006

Numerator:    
Net earnings  $ 159.5  $ 80.0  $ 55.0 

Denominator:    
Weighted average common shares outstanding, shares for basic earnings per share (in thousands) 33,096 32,811 32,346 
Weighted average stock options outstanding (in thousands) 70 121 247 

Shares for diluted earnings per share (in thousands) 33,166 32,932 32,593 

Net earnings per share, basic  $ 4.82  $ 2.44  $ 1.70 
Net earnings per share, diluted  $ 4.81  $ 2.43  $ 1.69 

15. QUARTERLY RESULTS (Unaudited) (In millions, except share data)

Quarter First Second Third Fourth

2008     
Sales  $ 380.0 $ 162.0 $ 237.4 $ 388.3 
Gross profit 97.0 37.1 76.8 145.3 
Net earnings 49.1 1.6 28.7 80.1 

Net earnings per share, basic $ 1.49 $ 0.05  $ 0.87 $  2.42 
Net earnings per share, diluted 1.48 0.05 0.87 2.41 
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands) 32,992 33,117 33,135 33,141
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands) 33,068 33,192 33,201 33,201

2007     
Sales  $ 264.2 $ 127.5 $ 139.5 $ 326.1 
Gross profit 64.6 25.4 32.5 89.5 
Net earnings (loss)(a) 26.1 (3.2) 6.7 50.4 

Net earnings (loss) per share, basic $ 0.80 $ (0.10)  $ 0.20 $  1.53 
Net earnings (loss) per share, diluted 0.80 (0.10) 0.20 1.53 
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands) 32,579 32,257 32,903 32,942
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands) 32,768 32,257 32,988 33,015

(a)  the company’s tax provisions for the third and fourth quarters of 2007 included $4.1 million and $14.0 million, respectively, of tax benefit items unique to 2007 as further 
discussed in note 6.
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16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Dividend declared — on February 6, 2009, the board declared 
a quarterly cash dividend of $0.355 per share on its outstanding 
common stock. the dividend will be paid on march 13, 2009  
to stockholders of record as of the close of business on 
February 27, 2009.

ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH 
ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

none.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
the company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that 
are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed 
in the company’s reports under the securities exchange act of 
1934, as amended (the “exchange act”), is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
sec’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated 
and communicated to management, including the company’s 
chief executive officer (ceo) and chief Financial officer (cFo), 
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure. in designing and evaluating the disclosure controls 
and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and 
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can 
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control 
objectives and management necessarily was required to apply its 
judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible 
controls and procedures.

in connection with the preparation of the annual report on 
Form 10-K, an evaluation is performed under the supervision and 
with the participation of the company’s management, including the 
ceo and cFo, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of 
the company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
rule 13a-15(e) under the exchange act). Based on that evaluation, 
the company’s ceo and cFo conclude whether the company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the reporting 
date at the reasonable assurance level. 

in connection with this annual report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2008, an evaluation was performed of 
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2008. 
Based on that evaluation, the company’s ceo and cFo concluded 
that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of 
December 31, 2008 at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over  
Financial Reporting 
management of the company is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as 
defined in rule 13a-15(f) under the exchange act. the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with  
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

management conducts an evaluation and assesses the effec-
tiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of the reporting date. in making its assessment of internal con-
trol over financial reporting, management uses the criteria set forth 
by the committee of sponsoring organizations of the treadway 
commission (coso) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. 

a material weakness is a control deficiency, or combina-
tion of control deficiencies, that result in more than a remote 
likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected. as of 
December 31, 2008, management conducted an evaluation and 
assessed the effectiveness of the company’s internal control 
over financial reporting. Based on its evaluation, management 
concluded that the company’s internal control over financial 
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008. ernst & Young 
llp, our independent registered public accounting firm, has 
audited the consolidated financial statements of the company 
for the year ended December 31, 2008, and has also issued 
an audit report dated February 18, 2009, on the effectiveness 
of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2008, which is included in this annual report on 
Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
there have been no changes in the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting during the most recently completed fiscal quarter 
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

none.
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ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS  
AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

information regarding executive officers is included in part i to this 
Form 10-K under the caption “executive officers of registrant”. 

the information required by item 10 of Form 10-K is incorpo-
rated herein by reference to sections (a) “proposal 1 – election 
of Directors”, (b) “information regarding Board of Directors and 
committees” and (c) “corporate Governance Guidelines” of the 
definitive proxy statement filed pursuant to regulation 14a for the 
2009 annual meeting of stockholders (“2009 proxy statement”). 
additionally, “section 16(a) Beneficial ownership reporting 
compliance” is also incorporated herein by reference to the 2009 
proxy statement.

Code of Ethics
We have adopted a code of ethics for our executive and senior 
financial officers, violations of which are required to be reported  
to the audit committee. the code of ethics is included as  
exhibit 14 to this Form 10-K and posted on our website at  
www.compassminerals.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

the information required by item 11 of Form 10-K is incorporated 
herein by reference to the “executive compensation tables” and 
“compensation Discussion and analysis” included in the 2009 
proxy statement.

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP AND CERTAIN  
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT  
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

the information required by item 12 of Form 10-K is incorporated 
herein by reference to “stock ownership” included in the 2009 
proxy statement.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

the following table sets forth information at December 31, 2008 
concerning our common stock authorized for issuance under our 
equity compensation plan:

Plan category 

Number of 
shares to be 
issued upon 

exercise

Weighted-
average 

exercise price 
of outstanding 

securities

Number of 
securities  
available  

for issuance 
under plan

Equity compensation plans  
 approved by stockholders    
 Stock options 668,750 $ 30.66  
 Restricted stock units 140,693 N/A  
 Deferred stock units 9,793 N/A  

Total securities under approved plans 819,236  2,516,557 
Equity compensation plans not  
 approved by stockholders(1)    
 Deferred stock units 45,353 N/A 6,970 

Total 864,589  2,523,527 

(1)  Under the compass minerals international, inc. Directors’ Deferred compensation  
plan, adopted effective october 1, 2004, non-employee directors may defer all or a  
portion of the fees payable for their service, which deferred fees are converted into  
units equivalent to the value of the company’s common stock. accumulated deferred 
fees are distributed in the form of company common stock.

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED 
TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

information required by item 13 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein 
by reference to the disclosure under “information regarding Board of 
Directors and committees” included in the 2009 proxy statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

the information required by item 14 of Form 10-K is incorporated 
herein by reference to “proposal 2 – ratification of appointment of 
independent auditors” included in the 2009 proxy statement.

part iii
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part iV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a)(1) Financial statements and supplementary data required by this item 15 are set forth below:

Description page

management’s report on internal controls over Financial reporting 52

reports of independent registered public accounting Firm 33

consolidated Balance sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 35

consolidated statements of operations for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 36

consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity (Deficit) for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 37

consolidated statements of cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 38

notes to consolidated Financial statements 39

schedule ii — Valuation reserves 54

(a)(2) Financial statement schedule: 

Schedule II — Valuation Reserves 

compass minerals international, inc. December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 

Description 
(in millions)

Balance at  
the Beginning  

of the Year

Additions  
Charged  

to Expense Deductions(1) (3)
Acquisition or 

Disposition (2)

Balance  
at the End  

of the Year

Deducted from Receivables — Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 2008 $ 1.8 $ 1.2 $ (0.5) $ — $ 2.5
 2007 1.6 0.7 (0.5) — 1.8
 2006 1.7 — (0.2) 0.1 1.6
Deducted from Deferred Income Taxes — Valuation Allowance
 2008 $ 4.6 $ 1.2 $ (2.0) $ (0.1) $ 3.7
 2007 2.9 0.2 — 1.5 4.6
 2006 10.4 — (7.5) — 2.9

(1) Deduction for purposes for which reserve was created.  
(2) increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts balance results from the acquisition of a business. 
(3)  Deductions from the deferred income tax valuation allowance in 2008 include a foreign currency adjustment of $0.4 million.
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(b) exhibits 

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit  
No. Description of Exhibit

2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 13, 2001, among IMC Global 
Inc., Compass Minerals International, Inc. (formerly known as Salt Holdings 
Corporation), YBR Holdings LLC and YBR Acquisition Corp (incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Compass Minerals’ Registration 
Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-104603).

2.2  Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 
28, 2001, among IMC Global Inc., Compass Minerals International, 
Inc. (formerly known as Salt Holdings Corporation), YBR Holdings LLC 
and YBR Acquisition Corp (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
2.2 to Compass Minerals Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 
333-104603).

3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Compass Minerals 
International, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to 
Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, 
File No. 333-111953).

3.2  Amended and Restated By-laws of Compass Minerals International, Inc. 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Compass Minerals 
International, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 2, 2006).

10.1  Indenture, dated May 22, 2003, governing the 12% Senior Subordinated 
Discount Notes Due 2013 of Compass Minerals International, Inc. (formerly 
known as Salt Holdings Corporation), between Compass Minerals 
International, Inc., as issuer, and The Bank of New York, as trustee (incorpo-
rated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to Compass Minerals’ Registration 
Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-104603).

10.2  Form of 12% Senior Subordinated Discount Note (included as Exhibit A to 
Exhibit 10.1).

10.3  Salt mining lease, dated November 9, 2001, between the Province of 
Ontario, as lessor, and Sifto Canada Inc. as lessee (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Compass Minerals’ Registration Statement on 
Form S-4, File No. 333-104603).

10.4  Salt and Surface Agreement, dated June 21, 1961, by and between John 
Taylor Caffery, as agent for Marcie Caffery Gillis, Marcel A. Gillis, Bethia 
Caffery McCay, Percey McCay, Mary Louise Caffery Ellis, Emma Caffery 
Jackson, Edward Jackson, Liddell Caffery, Marion Caffery Campbell, 
Martha Gillis Restarick, Katherine Baker Senter, Caroline Baker, Bethia 
McCay Brown, Donelson Caffery McCay, Lucius Howard McCurdy Jr., John 
Andersen McCurdy, Edward Rader Jackson III, individually and as trustee 
for Donelson Caffery Jackson, and the J.M. Burguieres Company, LTD., and 
Carey Salt Company as amended by Act of Amendment to Salt Lease, dated 
May 30, 1973, as further amended by Agreement, dated November 21, 1990, 
and as further amended by Amendment to Salt and Surface lease, dated 
July 1, 1997 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Compass 
Minerals’ Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-104603).

10.5  Royalty Agreement, dated September 1, 1962, between Great Salt Lake 
Minerals Corporation (formerly known as IMC Kalium Ogden Corp.) and the 
Utah State Land Board (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to 
Compass Minerals’ Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-104603).

10.6  Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated December 22, 2005, among 
Compass Minerals International, Inc. (formerly known as Salt Holdings 
Corporation), Compass Minerals Group, Inc., as U.S. borrower, Sifto Canada 
Corp., as Canadian borrower, Salt Union Limited, as U.K. borrower, JPMorgan 
Chase Bank N.A., as administrative agent, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as 
co-lead arranger and joint bookrunner, Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P., as 
co-lead arranger and joint bookrunner, Calyon New York Branch, as syndica-
tion agent, Bank of America, N.A., as co-documentation agent, and The Bank 
of Nova Scotia, as co-documentation agent (incorporated herein by reference 
to Exhibit 10.10 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005).

Exhibit  
No. Description of Exhibit

10.7  Amended and Restated U.S. Collateral and Guaranty Agreement,  
dated December 22, 2005, among Compass Minerals International, Inc. 
(formerly known as Salt Holdings Corporation), Compass Minerals Group, 
Inc., Compass Resources, Inc., Great Salt Lake Holdings, LLC, Carey 
Salt Company, Great Salt Lake Minerals Corporation, GSL Corporation, 
NAMSCO Inc., North American Salt Company and JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
N.A., as collateral agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 
to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2005).

10.8  Amended and Restated U.S. Collateral Assignment, dated December 22, 
2005, among Compass Minerals International, Inc., Compass Minerals 
Group, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005).

10.9  Amended and Restated Foreign Guaranty, dated December 22, 2005, 
among Sifto Canada Corp., Salt Union Limited, Compass Minerals 
(Europe) Limited, Compass Minerals (UK) Limited, DeepStore Limited 
(formerly known as London Salt Limited), Compass Minerals (No. 1) 
Limited (formerly known as Direct Salt Supplies Limited), J.T. Lunt & Co. 
(Nantwich) Limited, NASC Nova Scotia Company, Compass Minerals 
Canada Inc., Compass Canada Limited Partnership, Compass Minerals 
Nova Scotia Company, Compass Resources Canada Company and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as collateral agent (incorporated herein 
by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005).

10.10  Incremental Term Loan Amendment to the Amended and Restated 
Credit Agreement, dated December 22, 2005 among Compass Minerals 
International, Inc., Compass Minerals Group, Inc., as U.S. Borrower, Sifto 
Canada Corp., as Canadian borrower, Salt Union Limited, as U.K. borrower, 
JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. as administrative agent, J.P. Morgan 
Securities Inc., as co-lead arranger and joint bookrunner, Goldman Sachs 
Credit Partners L.P., as co-lead arranger and joint bookrunner, Calyon New 
York Branch, as syndication agent, Bank of America, N.A., as co-documen-
tation agent, and The Bank of Nova Scotia, as co-documentation agent 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Compass Minerals 
International, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 19, 2007).

10.11  Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, 
dated as December 22, 2005, among Compass Minerals International, Inc., 
Compass Minerals Group, Inc., Sifto Canada Corp., Salt Union Limited, 
the lenders from time to time party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 
as administrative agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Toronto Branch, as 
Canadian agent, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as U.K.. agent, Calyon New 
York Branch, as syndication agent, and Bank of America, N.A. and the 
Bank of Nova Scotia, as co-documentation agents (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Compass Minerals International, Inc’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007).

10.12  Certificate of Designation for the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, 
par value $0.01 per share (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 10.13).

10.13  Rights Plan, dated as of December 11, 2003, between Compass Minerals 
International, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as rights 
agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Compass 
Minerals International, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, File  
No. 333-111953).

10.14  Amendment Number Two to Rights Plan dated December 11, 2003  
among Compass Minerals International, Inc. and U.M.B. Bank, n.a.,  
as successor rights agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated 
January 8, 2007).
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Exhibit  
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10.15  Letter agreement appointing Computershare Trust Company, N.A. as successor 
Rights Agent under the Rights Agreement dated December 11, 2003 (incorpo-
rated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Compass Minerals International, 
Inc.’s Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2007).

10.16  Compass Minerals International, Inc. Directors’ Deferred Compensation 
Plan, Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2005 (incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Compass Minerals International, 
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006).

10.17  First Amendment to the Compass Minerals International, Inc. Director 
Deferred Compensation Plan effective January 1, 2007 (incorporated herein 
by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006).

10.18  Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation Program (incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s 
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2007). 

10.19  Compass Minerals International, Inc. 2008 Independent Directors’ Deferred 
Stock Unit Award Agreement effective as of January 1, 2008 (incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007).

10.20  Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Option Plan of Compass Minerals 
International, Inc., as adopted by the Board of Directors of Compass 
Minerals International, Inc. on December 11, 2003 (incorporated herein 
by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-111953).

10.21  Compass Minerals International, Inc. 2005 Incentive Award Plan as 
approved by stockholders on August 4, 2005 (incorporated herein by  
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s  
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005).

10.22  First Amendment to the Compass Minerals International, Inc. 2005 
Incentive Award Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5  
to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q  
for the quarter ended March 31, 2007).

10.23  Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Award Agreement (incorporated herein 
by reference to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K dated January 23, 2006).

10.24  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007). 

10.25*  Amendment to Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement.

10.26  Form of Dividend Equivalents Agreement (incorporated herein by reference 
to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended June 30, 2008).

10.27  Compass Minerals International, Inc. Restoration Plan (incorporated herein 
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007).

10.28  First Amendment to the Compass Minerals International, Inc. Restoration 
Plan dated as of December 5, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.27 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Annual Report for 
the year ended December 31, 2007).

10.29  Form of Change in Control Severance Agreement (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007).

10.30  Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement (incorporated herein by reference 
to Exhibit 10.4 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed dated January 23, 2006).

Exhibit  
No. Description of Exhibit

10.31*  Listing of certain executive officers as parties to the Change in Control 
Severance Agreement and Restrictive Covenant Agreement as listed in 
Exhibits 10.29 and 10.30 herein.

10.32  Employment Agreement dated May 11, 2006 between Compass Minerals 
International, Inc. and Angelo C. Brisimitzakis (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K dated May 11, 2006).

10.33*  409A Amendment to Existing Employment Agreement dated  
December 19, 2008 between Compass Minerals International, Inc.  
and Angelo C. Brisimitzakis.

10.34  Change in Control Severance Agreement dated May 11, 2006 between 
Compass Minerals International, Inc. and Angelo C. Brisimitzakis 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Compass Minerals 
International, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 11, 2006).

10.35*  409A Amendment to Existing Change in Control Severance Agreement 
dated December 19, 2008 between Compass Minerals International, Inc. 
and Angelo C. Brisimitzakis.

10.36  Restrictive Covenant Agreement dated May 11, 2006 between Compass 
Minerals International, Inc. and Angelo C. Brisimitzakis (incorporated herein 
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 11, 2006).

10.37  Employment Service Agreement, dated October 27, 2006 between Compass 
Minerals International, Inc. and David J. Goadby (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K dated October 27, 2006).

10.38  Employment Offer Letter dated August 8, 2007 between Compass Minerals 
International, Inc. and John Fallis (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007).

10.39  Employment Offer Letter dated August 8, 2007 between Compass Minerals 
International, Inc. and Keith Clark (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007).

10.40  Employment Offer Letter dated November 16, 2007 between Compass 
Minerals International, Inc. and Gerald Bucan (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.37 to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Annual 
Report for the year ended December 31, 2007).

10.41  Summary of Executive Compensation and Annual Incentive Plan Award 
Targets (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Compass 
Minerals International, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2008).

10.42  Annual Incentive Plan Summary (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 
to Compass Minerals International, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended March 31, 2008).

12.1* Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

21.1* Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1*  Section 302 Certifications of Angelo C. Brisimitzakis, President and Chief 
Executive Officer.

31.2*  Section 302 Certifications of Rodney L. Underdown, Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer.

32*  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.§1350 of Angelo C. Brisimitzakis, 
President and Chief Executive Officer and Rodney L. Underdown,  
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.

* Filed herewith. 
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SIGNATURES

pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 15(d) of the securities exchange act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to 
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

compass minerals international, inc.

/s/ angelo c. Brisimitzakis
angelo c. Brisimitzakis

president and chief executive officer
Date: February 20, 2009

/s/ rodney l. Underdown
rodney l. Underdown

Vice president and chief Financial officer 
Date: February 20, 2009

pursuant to the requirements of the securities exchange act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 20, 2009.

signature capacity

/s/ angelo c. Brisimitzakis
angelo c. Brisimitzakis

president, chief executive officer 
and Director (principal executive officer)

/s/ rodney l. Underdown
rodney l. Underdown

Vice president and chief Financial officer 
(principal Financial and accounting officer)

/s/ Bradley J. Bell
Bradley J. Bell

Director

/s/ David J. D’antoni
David J. D’antoni

Director

/s/ richard s. Grant
richard s. Grant

Director

/s/ perry W. premdas
perry W. premdas

Director

/s/ allan r. rothwell
allan r. rothwell

Director

/s/ timothy r. snider
timothy r. snider

Director
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Reconciliation for eBitda and adjusted eBitda from continuing operations
 For the year ended December 31,

(in millions)  2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Net earnings from continuing operations  $159.5  $ 80.0  $ 55.0  $ 26.8  $ 47.8  $ 30.9 
Income tax expense  67.5  0.1  14.8  15.8  4.2  2.9 
Interest expense  41.6  54.6  53.7  61.6  59.0  53.7 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization(1)  41.4  40.0  40.5  40.0  37.5  38.6 

EBITDA  $310.0  $174.7  $164.0  $144.2  $148.5  $126.1 

Adjustments to EBITDA:
 Recapitalization and other charges(2)  — — — — 5.9  2.4 
 Other (income) expense, net (3)  5.6  9.6  (4.1) 38.7  7.8  3.7 

Adjusted EBITDA  $315.6  $184.3  $159.9  $182.9 $162.2 $132.2

(1)  Excludes expenses related to discontinued operations of $3.6 million in 2005, $3.8 million in 2004, and $3.5 million in 2003.

(2)  In 2004, reflects costs for secondary offerings of our common stock and for Apollo Management LP’s termination of a management consulting agreement. In 2003, reflects costs related  

to the completion of the company’s initial public offering. The shares sold in the offerings were previously held by stockholders and the company received no proceeds from the sale.

(3)  Primarily includes interest income and non-cash foreign exchange gains and losses in all periods, except as noted: In 2008, includes $6.5 million to call $90 million of our 12% senior 

subordinated discount notes. In 2007, includes $11.0 million to refinance our 12.75% senior discount notes. In 2005, includes $33.2 million for the tender for our 10% senior subordinated 

notes. In 2003, includes costs related to amending our senior credit facilities and gain related to early extinguishment of debt. 

Reconciliation for net earnings from continuing operations, excluding Special items
 For the year ended December 31,

(in millions)  2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Net earnings from continuing operations  $159.5  $ 80.0  $ 55.0  $ 26.8  $  47.8  $ 30.9 
 Note redemption costs, net of tax(1)  4.0  6.8  — 20.5  — —
 Release of tax reserves, net of other tax adjustments(2)  — (18.1) — (4.8) (11.1) (5.1)
 Charge to income tax expense for repatriation of funds(3)  — — — 9.5  — —
 Termination of management consulting agreement, net of tax(4)  — — — — 2.8  —
 Stock offering costs, net of tax(5)   — — — — 1.4  2.4 

Net earnings from continuing operations, excluding special items  $163.5  $ 68.7  $ 55.0  $ 52.0  $ 40.9  $ 28.2 

(1)  In 2008, includes pre-tax costs of $6.5 million for call premiums related to the redemption of $90 million of our 12% senior subordinated discount notes. In 2007, includes pre-tax costs  

of $11.0 million to refinance our 12.75% senior discount notes. In 2005, includes pre-tax costs of $33.2 million associated with the tender for our 10% senior subordinated notes.

(2)  In 2007, reflects a reduction in accrued liabilities and tax expense that resulted from entering into a program with a taxing authority to resolve uncertain tax positions, which changed  

our assessment of previously established tax reserves and the close of tax examination years. In 2005, taxing authorities developed a framework to treat cross-border transactions between  

the U.S. and Canada more consistently, so we reversed previously recorded income tax reserves of $4.8 million, net of other income tax adjustments. In 2004 and 2003, the company 

recorded non-cash charges to the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets due to the timing of future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences.

(3)  In 2005, reflects a $4.1 million charge to income tax expense for a planned repatriation of foreign funds in accordance with the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and a $5.4 million 

charge to income tax expense due to a one-time repatriation of funds from the U.K.

(4)  In 2004, reflects pre-tax costs of $4.5 million incurred when Apollo Management LP terminated its management consulting agreement with the company.

(5)  In 2004, reflects costs incurred for secondary offerings of our common. In 2003, reflects costs incurred for the company’s initial public offering. The shares sold in the offerings  

were previously held by stockholders and the company received no proceeds from the sales.

For management’s discussion of EBITDA, see page 28. Adjusted EBITDA excludes cash and non-cash items which management believes are not indicative 
of the ongoing operating performance of our core business operations. While EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are frequently used as measures of operating 
performance, they exclude certain costs that are required for the conduct of business. These terms are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled 
measures of other companies due to potential inconsistencies in the methods of calculation.

Management believes that excluding special items from net earnings from continuing operations and diluted earnings per share from continuing 
operations is meaningful to investors because it provides insight with respect to the ongoing operating results of the company. 

This annual report may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements  
are based on the company’s current expectations and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause the company’s actual results to differ materially.  
The differences could be caused by a number of factors including those factors identified in Compass Minerals International’s annual report on Form 
10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 20, 2009. The company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking 
statements made in this annual report to reflect future events or developments. 

In 2008, the company submitted a chief executive officer certification to the New York Stock Exchange in which the company’s chief executive officer certified 
that he was not aware of any violation by the company of New York Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards. In addition, the company filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission in its annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, the chief executive 
officer/chief financial officer certifications required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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CUMULATIVE TOTAL STOCK RETURN
Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2003, 
with dividends reinvested. 

Compass Minerals uses a market capitalization 

index because the company does not believe 

it has a reasonable line-of-business peer group.

 Compass Minerals 
 Russell 2000 Index
  Former Peer Group Index: companies with market 

capitalization from $750 million to $1.5 billion
  New Peer Group Index: companies with market 

capitalization from $1 billion to $3 billion

Balanced, Strong and Growing

         2007–2008
From continuing operations; dollars in millions, except share amounts 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 % change

OPERATING RESULTS
Sales  $ 553.5 $ 639.9 $ 742.3 $ 660.7 $ 857.3 $1,167.7 36%
Gross profi t  139.3 179.8 199.3 173.1 212.0 356.2 68%
Operating earnings 91.2 118.8 142.9 119.4 144.3 274.2 90%
Net earnings from continuing operations  30.9 47.8 26.8 55.0 80.0 159.5 99%
Net earnings from continuing operations — 
 excluding special items (1)  28.2 40.9 52.0 55.0 68.7 163.5 138%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations  1.12 1.50 0.84 1.69 2.43 4.81 98%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations — 
 excluding special items (1)  0.83 1.28 1.62 1.69 2.09 4.93 136%
EBITDA (1)  126.1 148.5 144.2 164.0 174.7 310.0 77%
Adjusted EBITDA (1)  132.2 162.2 182.9 159.9 184.3 315.6 71%

OTHER SELECTED ITEMS
Cash fl ow from operations $   69.1 $   99.7 $  87.9 $   95.6 $ 118.5 $   254.1 114%
Capital expenditures 20.6 26.9 31.8 36.4 48.0 67.8 41%
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization (2)  42.1 41.3 43.6 40.5 40.0 41.4 4%
Cash dividends per share 2.85 0.94 1.10 1.22 1.28 1.34 5%
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands) 33,984 31,816 32,050 32,593 32,932 33,166 1%

(1) For a reconciliation to GAAP measures of performance, please see page 59. 

(2) Excludes amortization of fi nancing costs and includes expenses related to discontinued operations of $3.6 million in 2005, $3.8 million in 2004, and $3.5 million in 2003.

MORE BALANCED, LESS SEASONAL
Over its five years as a public company, 
persistent execution of Compass Minerals’ 
profitable growth and operating strategies 
has increased the balance between the 
company’s two primary operating segments 
while reducing seasonality.

 *Excluding Corporate and Other segment

Salt and Specialty Fertilizer Percentages of Operating Earnings*

Winter and Non-Winter Percentages of Total Operating Earnings 

 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08

   $100.00 $177.88 $188.61 $253.70 $341.97 $499.64

  $100.00  $118.33 $123.72 $146.44 $144.15 $ 95.44

 $100.00 $118.05 $126.73 $148.00 $145.15 $ 80.04

 $100.00  $116.02  $124.08  $146.03  $150.42  $ 81.19

$500

$400

$300

$200

$100

93% Salt

2003 2008

7% Specialty Fertilizer

62% Salt

38% Specialty Fertilizer

85% Winter (1Q + 4Q)

2003 2008

15% Non-Winter (2Q + 3Q)

73% Winter (1Q + 4Q)

27% Non-Winter (2Q + 3Q)
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(4)  Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee member
(5) Audit Committee fi nancial expert
(6) Lead Independent Director
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 DIRECTORS

OUR VISION

On December 11, 2008, 
members of the Compass 
Minerals leadership team 
celebrated the company’s five 
years as a public company by 
ringing the NYSE closing bell. 
Pictured from left to right: 
Keith Clark, David Goadby, 
Jerry Bucan, Dennis Bergeson, 
Noreen Culhane (NYSE 
Representative), Jerry Smith, 
Angelo Brisimitzakis, Ronald 
Bryan, Victoria Heider, Robert 
Marsh, Peggy Landon, James 
Wolf, Rodney Underdown, 
Jack Leunig.

 FIVE YEARS AS A PUBLIC COMPANY

A PROFITABLY GROWING MINERALS COMPANY 
LEADING OUR ATTRACTIVE MARKETS AND ENHANCING LIVES.

COMPASS MINERALS AT FIVE YEARS:
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